
 

 
 
 

 
Wednesday, 16 February 2022 

 
TO: COUNCILLORS 
 

A OWENS, N FUREY, C COUGHLAN, S GREGSON, T DEVINE, 
E POPE, I RIGBY, A SUTTON, D WESTLEY, D WHITTINGTON 
AND VACANCY 
 

 
Dear Councillor, 
 
A meeting of the EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, 52 DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK L39 2DF on THURSDAY, 24 
FEBRUARY 2022 at 7.00 PM at which your attendance is requested. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 

 
 
Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey 
Chief Operating Officer 
 

AGENDA 
(Open to the Public) 

 
 
1.   APOLOGIES   

 
 

2.   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  
To be apprised of any changes to the membership of the Committee in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4.  
 

 

3.   URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY, INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
Note:  No other business is permitted unless, by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified at the meeting, the Chairman 
is of the opinion that the item(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.  

 

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey  
Chief Operating Officer 
 

52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire 
L39 2DF 
 



 

 
4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

If a member requires advice on Declarations of Interest, he/she is 
advised to contact the Legal and Democratic Services Manager in 
advance of the meeting.  (For the assistance of members a checklist 
for use in considering their position on any particular item is included at 
the end of this agenda sheet.) 
 

1477 - 
1478 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
In accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rule 
16, Members must declare the existence of any Party Whip, and the 
nature of it, when considering any matter in the following categories: 
 

- The review of any decision of the Cabinet or 
- The performance of any Member of the Cabinet 

 
N.B. The Secretary of State believes whipping is incompatible with 
Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 

6.   MINUTES  
To receive as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 
January 2022. 
 

1479 - 
1486 

7.   PUBLIC SPEAKING  
Residents of West Lancashire on giving notice, may address the 
meeting to make representations on any item on the agenda except 
where the public and press are to be excluded during consideration of 
the item.  The deadline for submissions is 10.00am on Friday 18 
February 2022.  A copy of the public speaking protocol and form to be 
completed is attached.  
 

1487 - 
1492 

8.   RELEVANT MINUTES OF CABINET  
To scrutinise the Minutes of Cabinet held on 25 January 2022. 
 

1493 - 
1500 

9.   LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME UPDATE  
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Place and 
Community. 
 

1501 - 
1532 

10.   REVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
CHARGING SCHEDULE  
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Place and 
Community. 
 

1533 - 
1538 

11.   RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK & KEY RISK REGISTER  
To consider the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement & 
Commercial Services. 
 

1539 - 
1606 

12.   CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORTING 2022/23  
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Resources. 
 
 

1607 - 
1620 



 

13.   EQUALITY, DIVERSITY & INCLUSION STRATEGY AND EQUALITY 
OBJECTIVES 2022-2026  
To consider the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation and 
Resources. 
 

1621 - 
1652 

14.   QUEEN'S PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS  
To consider the report of the Head of Leisure and Wellbeing. 
 

1653 - 
1658 

 
We can provide this document, upon request, on audiotape, in large print, in Braille 
and in other languages.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE: Please see attached sheet. 
MOBILE PHONES: These should be switched off or to ‘silent’ at all meetings. 
 
For further information, please contact:- 
Julia Brown on 01695 585065 
Or email julia.brown@westlancs.gov.uk 



 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE FOR: 
COUNCIL MEETINGS WHERE OFFICERS ARE PRESENT  

(52 DERBY STREET, ORMSKIRK) 
 

PERSON IN CHARGE:  Most Senior Officer Present 
ZONE WARDEN:   Member Services Officer / Lawyer 
DOOR WARDEN(S)  Usher / Caretaker 

 
IF YOU DISCOVER A FIRE 

 
1.  Operate the nearest FIRE CALL POINT by breaking the glass. 
2.  Attack the fire with the extinguishers provided only if you have been trained and it is 

safe to do so. Do not take risks. 
 

ON HEARING THE FIRE ALARM 
 

1.  Leave the building via the NEAREST SAFE EXIT. Do not stop to collect personal 
belongings. 

2.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT on the car park and report your presence to the 
PERSON IN CHARGE. 

3.  Do NOT return to the premises until authorised to do so by the PERSON IN 
CHARGE. 

 
NOTES: 
Officers are required to direct all visitors regarding these procedures i.e. exit routes and 
place of assembly. 
The only persons not required to report to the Assembly Point are the Door Wardens. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR PERSON IN CHARGE 
 

1.  Advise other interested parties present that you are the person in charge in the event 
of an evacuation. 

2. Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire escape routes and informed any 
interested parties of the escape routes. 

3.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the assembly point and informed any 
interested parties of that location. 

4.  Make yourself familiar with the location of the fire alarm and detection control panel. 
5.  Ensure that the zone warden and door wardens are aware of their roles and 

responsibilities. 
6.  Arrange for a register of attendance to be completed (if considered appropriate / 

practicable). 
 

IN THE EVENT OF A FIRE, OR THE FIRE ALARM BEING SOUNDED 
 

1.  Ensure that the room in which the meeting is being held is cleared of all persons. 
2.  Evacuate via the nearest safe Fire Exit and proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT in the 

car park. 
3.  Delegate a person at the ASSEMBLY POINT who will proceed to HOME CARE LINK 

in order to ensure that a back-up call is made to the FIRE BRIGADE. 
4.  Delegate another person to ensure that DOOR WARDENS have been posted outside 

the relevant Fire Exit Doors. 



 

5.  Ensure that the ZONE WARDEN has reported to you on the results of his checks, i.e. 
that the rooms in use have been cleared of all persons. 

6.  If an Attendance Register has been taken, take a ROLL CALL. 
7.  Report the results of these checks to the Fire and Rescue Service on arrival and 

inform them of the location of the FIRE ALARM CONTROL PANEL. 
8.  Authorise return to the building only when it is cleared to do so by the FIRE AND 

RESCUE SERVICE OFFICER IN CHARGE. Inform the DOOR WARDENS to allow 
re-entry to the building. 

 
NOTE: 
The Fire Alarm system will automatically call the Fire Brigade. The purpose of the 999 
back-up call is to meet a requirement of the Fire Precautions Act to supplement the 
automatic call. 
 

CHECKLIST FOR ZONE WARDEN 
 

1.  Carry out a physical check of the rooms being used for the meeting, including 
adjacent toilets, kitchen. 

2.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS, both officers and members of the public are made 
aware of the FIRE ALERT. 

3.  Ensure that ALL PERSONS evacuate IMMEDIATELY, in accordance with the FIRE 
EVACUATION PROCEDURE. 

4.  Proceed to the ASSEMBLY POINT and report to the PERSON IN CHARGE that the 
rooms within your control have been cleared. 

5.  Assist the PERSON IN CHARGE to discharge their duties. 
 
It is desirable that the ZONE WARDEN should be an OFFICER who is normally based in 
this building and is familiar with the layout of the rooms to be checked. 
 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR DOOR WARDENS 
 

1.  Stand outside the FIRE EXIT DOOR(S) 
2.  Keep the FIRE EXIT DOOR SHUT. 
3.  Ensure that NO PERSON, whether staff or public enters the building until YOU are 

told by the PERSON IN CHARGE that it is safe to do so. 
4.  If anyone attempts to enter the premises, report this to the PERSON IN CHARGE. 
5.  Do not leave the door UNATTENDED. 
 
 





MEMBERS INTERESTS 2012 

A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter considered at a meeting must disclose the interest to 
the meeting at which they are present, except where it has been entered on the Register. 
A Member with a non pecuniary or pecuniary interest in any business of the Council must disclose the existence and 
nature of that interest at commencement of consideration or when the interest becomes apparent. 
Where sensitive information relating to an interest is not registered in the register, you must indicate that you have an 
interest, but need not disclose the sensitive information. 

Please tick relevant boxes         Notes 

 General    

1. I have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 below 

2. I have a non-pecuniary interest.  You may speak and vote 

3. I have a pecuniary interest because 

it affects my financial position or the financial position of a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

or 

it relates to the determining of any approval consent, 
licence, permission or registration in relation to me or a 
connected person or, a body described in 10.1(1)(i) and (ii) 
and the interest is one which a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard as 
so significant that it is likely to prejudice my judgement of the 
public interest 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

 

 

 

You cannot speak or vote and must 
withdraw unless you have also 
ticked 5 or 6 below 

4. 

 

I have a disclosable pecuniary interest (Dispensation 
20/09/16) or a pecuniary interest but it relates to the 
functions of my Council in respect of: 

  

(i) Housing where I am a tenant of the Council, and those 
functions do not relate particularly to my tenancy or lease. 

 You may speak and vote 

(ii) school meals, or school transport and travelling expenses 
where I am a parent or guardian of a child in full time 
education, or are a parent governor of a school, and it does 
not relate particularly to the school which the child attends. 

 

 

 

You may speak and vote 

(iii) Statutory sick pay where I am in receipt or entitled to receipt 
of such pay.  

 You may speak and vote 

(iv) An allowance, payment or indemnity given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(v) Any ceremonial honour given to Members  You may speak and vote 

(vi) Setting Council tax or a precept under the LGFA 1992  You may speak and vote 

5. A Standards Committee dispensation applies (relevant lines 
in the budget – Dispensation 15/09/20 – 14/09/24) 

 See the terms of the dispensation 

6. I have a pecuniary interest in the business but I can attend 
to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
as the public are also allowed to attend the meeting for the 
same purpose 

 You may speak but must leave the 
room once you have finished and 
cannot vote 

‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (DPI) means an interest of a description specified below which is your 
interest, your spouse’s or civil partner’s or the interest of somebody who you are living with as a husband 
or wife, or as if you were civil partners and you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

Interest Prescribed description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant 
authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by M in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of 
M. Page 1477

Agenda Item 4



 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority— 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M's knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to M's knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner or a body 

corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for the relevant 

person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income; “M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; “relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives notice to the Monitoring Officer of a DPI; 

“relevant person” means M or M’s spouse or civil partner, a person with whom M is living as husband or wife or a person with 

whom M is living as if they were civil partners;  

 “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the 

meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited 

with a building society. 

‘non pecuniary interest’ means interests falling within the following descriptions: 
10.1(1)(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management and 

to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority; 
 (ii) Any body (a) exercising functions of a public nature; (b) directed to charitable purposes; or (c) 

one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union), of which you are a member or in a position of 
general control or management; 

 (iii) Any easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry with it a right 
for you (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to receive income. 

10.2(2) A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting your well-
being or financial position or the well-being or financial position of a connected person to a 
greater extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the 
ward, as the case may be, affected by the decision. 

‘a connected person’ means  
(a) a member of your family or any person with whom you have a close association, or 
(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner, or any company of which they are directors; 
(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 

exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 
(d) any body of a type described in sub-paragraph 10.1(1)(i) or (ii). 
‘body exercising functions of a public nature’ means 
Regional and local development agencies, other government agencies, other Councils, public health 
bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms length management organisations 
carrying out housing functions on behalf of your authority, school governing bodies. 
A Member with a personal interest who has made an executive decision in relation to that matter must 
ensure any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of that interest. 
NB  Section 21(13) of the LGA 2000 overrides any Code provisions to oblige an executive member to 
attend an overview and scrutiny meeting to answer questions. 

Page 1478



 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 Start: 7.00 pm 
 Finish: 9.07 pm 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor: A Owens (Chairman)  
   
Councillors: C Coughlan S Gregson 
 T Devine P O`Neill 
 E Pope I Rigby 
 A Sutton D Westley 
 D Whittington J Finch 
 
In attendance: Councillor A Yates, Portfolio Holder for Resources and 

Transformation (Agenda Item 13) 
 

Officers: Heidi McDougall, Corporate Director of Place and Community 
Jacky Denning, Democratic Services Manager 
Tom Dickinson, Principal Solicitor 
Helen Hatch, Senior Planner and S106/CIL Officer 
Derek Jackson, Interim Corporate Finance Manager (Deputy s151) 
Julia Brown, Member Services Officer 
 

63   APOLOGIES  
 

 There were no apologies for absence received. 
 

64   MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE  
 

 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 4, the Committee noted the termination 
of Councillor N Furey and the appointment of Councillor J Finch for this meeting 
only, thereby giving effect to the wishes of the Political Groups. 
 

65   URGENT BUSINESS, IF ANY, INTRODUCED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 There were no urgent items of business. 
 

66   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 Councillors Devine (Tenant of a Council flat/house) Coughlan and Gregson (Tenants 
of a Council garage) declared disclosable pecuniary interests in relation to item 14 
‘Draft Revenue & Capital Programme Budget' and item 15 Housing Account – 
Revenue and Capital Programme Budget’ for the reasons indicated but were entitled 
to speak and vote by virtue of an exemption (nothing in these reports relates 
particularly to their respective interests arising from the tenancy or lease). 
 
Councillors Gregson and Sutton declared non-pecuniary interests in relation to item 
14 ‘Draft Revenue & Capital Programme Budget' and item 15 ‘Housing Account – 
Revenue and Capital Programme Budget’ as they have a connected person who is a 
tenant of rented Council accommodation. Insofar as that interest becomes a 
pecuniary interest (as it would affect the financial position of their relative and a 

Page 1479

Agenda Item 6



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard 
this as so significant that it is likely to prejudice their judgement of the public interest) 
they declared that interest but considered that they were entitled to speak and vote 
by virtue of an exemption as nothing in these reports relates particularly to the 
relevant tenancy or lease. 
 

67   DECLARATIONS OF PARTY WHIP  
 

 There were no declarations of Party Whip. 
 

68   MINUTES  
 

 RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2021 be received 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 
69   PUBLIC SPEAKING  

 
 There were no items under this heading. 

 
70   MEMBER DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION - MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 

ON 7 OCTOBER 2021  
 

 RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Member Development Commission held 7 
October 2021 be noted. 

 
71   RELEVANT MINUTES OF CABINET  

 
 Consideration was given to the Minutes of Cabinet held on 2 November 2021 as 

contained on pages 1303 to 1314 of the Book of Reports. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of Cabinet held on 2 November 2021 be noted. 
 
(Note:  Councillor Devine arrived at the meeting during the consideration of this item) 
 

72   CIL FUNDING PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and 
Community as contained on pages 1315 to 1372 which reported on the consultation 
of the draft CIL Funding Programme for 2022/23, and to propose final 
recommendations for the CIL Funding Programme in 2022/23. 
 
The Senior Planning & CIL / S106 Officer outlined the report and informed Members 
that following public consultation, approximately 60 comments had been received as 
detailed at Appendix A.   
She informed that the recommendations for CIL funding in 22/23 remain as the 
proposals in the draft programme. In addition, whilst no schemes in Ormskirk had 
been originally shortlisted through the draft CIL Funding Programme, it has since 
come to the attention of officers that the Whittle Drive changing facilities project, 
approved previously (2018), needs to be reconsidered owing to earlier difficulties in 

Page 1480



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

delivering the project and the resultant expiry of the awarded monies. As the scheme 
remains supported by Leisure and is now deliverable, the recommendation is to 
award £60,000 of NCIL alongside £100,000 of match funding. 
Members were also recommended that the underspend (c.£6835) from the 
previously approved Burscough towpath improvement scheme should be transferred 
to the previously approved Parbold – Appley Bridge towpath scheme to increase the 
available funding for that project. 
She informed Members, that to ensure the projects presented throughout this report 
can be delivered, it is recommended, at paragraph 3.6, that delegated authority is 
granted to the Director of Place and Community, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Planning, to approve any reasonable changes to the details of the Cabinet 
approved schemes within this report. 
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of: 
 

 What is the percentage CIL given to Burscough Town Council – 25% as they 
have an adopted Neighbourhood Plan. (Usually 15%) 

 Delegated Authority – Agree, but to be mindful of the budget – Should there 
be a limit / that officers bring any major changes back for approval 

 Support for the Schemes 
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee note the content and final recommendations of the 

CIL Funding Programme 2022/23 report and that the report be passed 
to Cabinet for their consideration. 

 
73   PLANNING SERVICE REVIEW - UPDATE  

 
 Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Place and 

Community as contained on pages 1373 to 1386 of the Book of Reports, which 
outlined the proposed actions and updated Members on progress with implementing 
the recommendations of the Planning Services Review. 
 
The Corporate Director of Place and Community outlined the report and explained 
that Red Quadrant had been involved in taking forward the Planning Service 
Review. The Working Group reviewed 81 approved recommendations which were 
grouped into 'themes'. These were organised into a Project Plan, covering 58 main 
actions and further sub-divided into 210 individual tasks.   
 
She explained that the target dates require some flexibility in delivery, due to the 
constraints on resources currently being experienced.  She informed that despite 
this, good progress has been made, with 31% of the actions in progress or 
completed.  Some of these, included reviewing information currently on the Council 
website; developing a new appointment booking system for Members who wish to 
speak directly with Planning Officers; review of the Enforcement and Pre-App 
process; reviewing the Enforcement Charter, a final version of which will be brought 
to the appropriate Committee.  
 
In discussion questions and comments were raised in respect of: 
 

Page 1481



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

 Planning restructure - request to possibly have an input at Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee /  Members have input through budget process / delay to 
the process could be damaging 

 Loss of Senior Posts / will Members see breakdown of Senior post job 
description and remit 

 Restructure is same capacity as previously with two additional posts within 
existing budget through delegated authority 

 Booking system for Members – Members to agree a suitable date/time with 
Case Officer. 

 It was noted that there are 58 main actions and not 56 as stated in paragraph 
6.1 of the report 
 

The Chairman and Members of the Committee expressed their thanks for the update 
and all that has been achieved. 
 
RESOLVED:  

A. That the Committee considered and noted the report on the Planning 
Services Review and that the Report be forwarded to Cabinet for their 
consideration. 

 
B. That a progress update report be presented to Executive Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee in Autumn 2022. 
 

74   OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY FUNCTION REVIEW - MEMBER DEVELOPMENT 
COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation 
and Resources as contained on pages 1387 to 1398 of the Book of Reports, which 
was to consider recommendations of the Member Development Commission, 
following a review of Scrutiny Arrangements of West Lancashire Borough Council, 
and to authorise next steps.   
 
The report had previously been considered by Corporate & Environmental Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee held on 9 December 2021. 
 
The Chairman gave an overview of the details contained within the report. 
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of the following: 
 

 Structure of Task & Finish Groups - Membership/Chairing of Groups/ Terms 
of Reference / Reporting arrangement 

 Resources allocated 

 Welcome of Task and Finish Groups – Involvement at all levels 
 
The Democratic Services Manager Informed Members that the report would be 
presented to Extraordinary Council on 27 January 2022 in order to give extra 
capacity to the February Council Agenda. 
 

Page 1482



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

RESOLVED: That the recommendations arising from the Scrutiny Review 
undertaken by the Member Development Commission on behalf of the 
Council, previously adopted and implemented set out in paragraph 6 of 
the report, be noted, and the following recommendations of the 
Member Development Commission set out in paragraph 7.2 C be 
endorsed, as follows: 

 
"(i) That the Council continue with 2 scrutiny committees (Corporate 

& Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Executive 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee)  

 
(ii) That Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee establish Task and finish Groups to undertake in 
depth scrutiny work rather than that work being undertaken by 
the main Committee. 

 
(iii) That a permanent role of Member Services Officer at Grade 

SO1 at 10 hours per week be created to facilitate this work. 
 
(iv) That the Members Update to remain in its current format." 

 
75   DRAFT REVENUE & CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET  

 
 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and 

Financial Services as contained on pages 1415 to 1470 of the Book of Reports as 
set out at Appendix A of this report, the Medium -Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
the 3 years ending 31st March 2025, together with the Revenue Budget for 2022/23 
and the Capital Programme for the 3 years ending 31st March 2025. 
 
The Interim Corporate Finance Manager provided an overview of the report referring 
to details set down within it. 
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of the following: 
 

 Growth bids 

 Cost pressures 

 Anticipated favourable events 

 Return from re-development of Skelmersdale Town Centre  

 2% pay award - estimate using Government forecast 

 "Economic scaring" to Brexit (4% GDP) and Covid (2% GDP) 

 Returns from TVD £250,000 from medium term forecast – the report does not 
state we are putting in £400,000 in share capital. TVD making a loss - would 
like to have seen a comment as a footnote in report (The Interim Corporate 
Finance Manager Informed Members that the classic measure is the yield - 
which shows a very good return for TVD and STC.  He made an undertaking 
to consult with the Head of Finance, Procurement and Commercial Services 
in respect of details to be included for information and transparency in future 
reports) 

Page 1483



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

 'Holiday' on Reserves 

 Sales, Fees and Charges policy - contradiction in respect of Planning Service 
Review report which states no intention to increase planning fees, perhaps 
reconsider, as this report suggests otherwise. 
 

The Portfolio Holder for Resources and Transformation informed that a "great deal of 
effort had been put into the budget by Officers, including a 'deep dive' over the last 
ten years to look at assumptions as well as figures.  He also explained that getting 
rid of the budget gap was due to SORP primarily. He also informed that we are 
awaiting the Government Fair Funding Review, and although we are in a much 
better position, we still have difficult times ahead". 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be considered and noted and be presented to Cabinet 

on 25 January 2022 and Council on 23 February 2022 for their 
consideration. 

 
(Note 1: The Chairman thanked Councillor Yates, Portfolio Holder for Resources and 
Transformation for his attendance) 
 
(Note 2: Councillor Yates, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Transformation 
thanked the Chairman for the invite and left the meeting at the conclusion of this 
item) 
 

76   HOUSING ACCOUNT - REVENUE AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET 
SETTING  
 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and 
Commercial Services, which was to enable the Council to set its Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) budget and capital investment programme for the next financial year 
2022/23. 
 
The Interim Corporate Finance Manager provided an overview of the report referring 
to details set down within it. 
 
Comments and questions were raised in respect of the following: 

 Rental income level 

 Void repairs and response Repairs - Wates business cases - significant 
concerns were expressed about the significant adverse financial variance and 
the lack of information that could be provided to Councillors.  It was explained 
that there were sensitive legal matters under dispute and that the Group 
Leaders would be provided with further information on a confidential basis in 
the near future 

 Concern of Programmed Work 'rolled-on' due to Covid – uncertainty of 
expenditure and how it will affect this 

 
RESOLVED: That the budget position be noted and that the report be submitted to 

Cabinet 25 January 2022 for their consideration. 
 

Page 1484



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

77   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 Discussion took place to ascertain if the following agenda item 16 – Land Disposal 
met the test of the public interest in maintaining the exemption under Section 
100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 
A vote was moved and seconded, that the following item of business be held in part 
1 open to the press and public. This vote was CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED: That the following item of business be held in Part 1 open to the press 

and public. 
 
(Note: Councillor C Coughlin wished for it to be recorded that he participated in the 
following Agenda Item 16 – Land Disposal in Part 1 open to the press and public 
against his better judgement) 
 

78   LAND DISPOSAL  
 

 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and 
Commercial Services as contained on pages 1471 to 1476 of the Book of Reports, 
which was to consider the disposal of Council owned land to Tawd Valley 
Developments Limited. 
 
The Interim Corporate Finance Manager was present to provide an overview of the 
report.  He responded to comments and questions raised by Members. 
 
In discussion the following comments and questions were raised: 

 Discrepancy and concerns in respect of two separate differing independent 
valuations both dated 3 August 2021 

 Building costs increased since August figure and should be updated 

 Report is not independent and should not proceed on this basis 

 What other efforts/methods have been made to market the land / what other 
options have been considered for the land 

 Not valued site on plot value basis but of opinion higher value if sold on plot-
by-plot basis. 

 Legality of selling land through this process 

 Garage tenants affected/ no consultation/ rental income of £3,485 per year 
 
RESOLVED: That the content of the report be noted and that the following agreed 

comments of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee be submitted 
to the Cabinet meeting to be held on 25 January 2022 for their 
consideration. 
1. That this Committee calls on Cabinet to defer a decision on this 

report pending clarification of the different valuations and 
recommends it be deferred and considered at the same time as the 
new Business Plan at Council in February 2022. 

2. That if the above recommendation is accepted by Cabinet, that a 
fresh report be requested, and the relevant Officer attend the 

Page 1485



EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

HELD: Thursday, 13 January 2022 

 

 

meeting to answer questions. 
 
(Note: This item was held in Part 1 open to press and public) 

 
 

 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
Chairman 

 

Page 1486



 

PUBLIC SPEAKING – PROTOCOL 

(For meetings of Cabinet, Overview & Scrutiny Committees, Audit & 

Governance Committee and Standards Committee) 

1.0 Public Speaking 

1.1 Residents of West Lancashire may, on giving notice, address any of the 
above meetings to make representations on any item on the agenda for those 
meetings, except where the public and press are to be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the item. 

 
1.2 A Parish Council Representative may, on giving notice, address any of the 

above meetings to make representations on any item on the agenda for those 
meetings, except where the public and press are to be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the item.  

1.3 The form attached as an Appendix to this Protocol should be used for 
submitting requests. 

2.0 Deadline for submission 

2.1 The prescribed form should be received by Member Services by 10.00 am on 
the Friday of the week preceding the meeting.  This can be submitted by e-
mail to member.services@westlancs.gov.uk or by sending to: 

Member Services 
West Lancashire Borough Council 
52 Derby Street 
Ormskirk 
West Lancashire  
L39 2DF  

 
2.2 Completed forms will be collated by Member Services and circulated via e-

mail to relevant Members and officers and published on the Council website 
via Modgov.  Only the name of the speaker (and representative) and details of 
the issue to be raised will be published. 

 
2.3 Groups of persons with similar views should elect a spokesperson to speak 

on their behalf to avoid undue repetition of similar points.  Spokespersons 
should identify in writing on whose behalf they are speaking. 

 

3.0 Scope 

3.1 Any matters raised must be relevant to an item on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
3.2 The Legal & Democratic Services Manager may reject a submission if it: 

(i)  is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
(ii)  is substantially the same as representations which have already been 

submitted at a previous meeting; or 

Page 1487

Agenda Item 7

mailto:member.services@westlancs.gov.uk


 

(iii)  discloses or requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt 
information. 

 

 

 

4.0 Number of items 

 

4.1 A maximum of one form per resident will be accepted for each Agenda Item. 
 
4.2 There will be a maximum of 10 speakers per meeting. Where there are more 

than 10 forms submitted by residents, the Legal & Democratic Services 
Manager will prioritise the list of those allowed to speak.  This will be 
considered having regard to all relevant matters including: 

 
a. The order in which forms were received. 
b. If one resident has asked to speak on a number of items, priority will be 

given to other residents who also wish to speak 
c. Whether a request has been submitted in relation to the same issue. 

 
No amendments will be made to the list of speakers once it has been 
compiled (regardless of withdrawal of a request to speak).  
 

 
4.3 All submissions received will be published on the Council's website and 

circulated to Members of the relevant body and officers for consideration.  
 

5.0 At the Meeting 

 

5.1 Speakers will be shown to their seats.  At the commencement of 
consideration of each agenda item the Leader/Chairman will invite the 
speakers to make their representations.  Speakers will have up to 3 minutes 
to address the meeting.   The address must reflect the issue included on the 
prescribed form submitted in advance.   

 
5.2 Members may discuss what the speaker/s have said, along with any other 

information/representations submitted under this protocol, when all  speakers 
on that item have finished and will then make a decision.  Speakers should 
not circulate any supporting documentation at the meeting and should not 
enter into a debate with Councillors.   

 
5.4 If residents feel nervous or uncomfortable speaking in public, then they can 

ask someone else to do it for them, including a Parish or Borough Councillor 
representative.  They can also bring an interpreter if they need one.  They 
should be aware there may be others speaking as well. 

 
 (Note: If a Resident wishes to have their Borough Councillor speak on their 

behalf, the Borough Councillor is not a member of the body considering the 
item.) 

 

Page 1488



 

 
5.5 Speakers may leave the meeting at any time, taking care not to disturb the 

meeting. 

 

(Please see attached form.) 

Page 1489





 

 

REQUEST FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING AT MEETINGS 

 

MEETING & DATE ………………………………………………………………… 

NAME   …………………………………………………………………………. 

ADDRESS …………………………………………………………………………. 

  …………………………………………………………………………. 

  Post Code …………………………………………. 

PHONE ……………………………………………………… 

Email  ……………………………………………………… 

 

Please indicate if you will be in attendance at the  
meeting 
     

   
 

Please indicate if someone will be speaking on your behalf 
at the meeting 
 

If someone is speaking on your behalf please provide their contact details: 

NAME   …………………………………………………………………………. 

PHONE ……………………………………………………… 

Email  ……………………………………………………… 

Note:  This page will not be published. 

                                                  (P.T.O.) 

 

YES/NO* 

*delete as applicable 

 

YES/NO* 

*delete as applicable 

 

Page 1491



PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE MATTER YOU WISH TO RAISE 
 
Agenda Item  Number …………………. 
    

Title …………………………………………………….. 
 
Details   ……………………………………………………………. 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Name …………………………………            Dated ……………………… 
 
 
Completed forms to be submitted by 10.00am on the Friday of the week 
preceding the meeting to:- 
 
Member Services, West Lancashire Borough Council, 52 Derby Street, 
Ormskirk, Lancashire, L39 2DF or 
Email: member.services@westlancs.gov.uk 
 
If you require any assistance regarding your attendance at a meeting 
(including access) or if you have any queries regarding your submission 
please contact Member Services on 01695 585065 
 
Note:  This page will be circulated to Members of the Committee and published. 

Page 1492

mailto:member.services@westlancs.gov.uk


 

 

 
CABINET HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 Start: 7.00 pm 
 Finish: 7.06 pm 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillors:  Portfolio 
 
 Councillor Ian Moran Leader of the Council and Portfolio 

Holder for Economic Regeneration 
 Councillor Yvonne Gagen Deputy Leader of the Council and 

Portfolio Holder for Leisure & 
Human Resources 

 Councillor Vickie Cummins Portfolio Holder for Health and 
Wellbeing 

 Councillor Gareth Dowling Portfolio Holder for Communities 
and Community Safety 

 Councillor Gaynar Owen Portfolio Holder for Planning 
 Councillor Jenny Wilkie Portfolio Holder for Housing and 

Landlord Services 
 Councillor Kevin Wilkie Portfolio Holder for Street Scene 
 Councillor Adam Yates Portfolio Holder for Resources & 

Transformation 
 
In attendance: Councillor Adrian Owens 
  
Officers: Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey, Chief Operating Officer 

Kay Lovelady, Legal & Democratic Services Manager 
Jacky Denning, Democratic Services Manager 
James Crowley, Strategic Partnership Development Manager 
Dan Massey, Head Ranger 
 

61   APOLOGIES  
 

 There were no apologies received. 
 

62   SPECIAL URGENCY (RULE 16 ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE 
RULES)/URGENT BUSINESS  
 

 There were no items of special urgency. 
 

63   PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 

 There were no items under this heading. 
 

64   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 The following declarations were received: 
 

Page 1493

Agenda Item 8



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

1.    Councillors Vicki Cummins and Yvonne Gagen declared a non-pecuniary 
interest in agenda items relating to Lancashire County Council (LCC) as  
employees of Lancashire County Council and did not enter into detailed 
discussions, which affected LCC. 

 
2.    Councillor Gaynar Owen (tenant of Council accommodation) declared a 

disclosable pecuniary interests in agenda items 6b 'Housing Account - Revenue 
and Capital Programme' but considered that she was entitled to speak and vote 
by virtue of an exemption as nothing in the report relates particularly to the 
relevant tenancy or lease. 

 
65   MINUTES  

 
 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 2 November 2021 be 

received as a correct record and signed by the Leader. 
 

66   MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS  
 

 Consideration was given to the reports relating to the following matters requiring 
decisions and contained on pages 1475 to 1650 and 1657 to 1664 of the Book of 
Reports. 
 

67   DRAFT REVENUE & CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET  
 

 Councillor Yates introduced the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement and 
Commercial Services, which set out the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 
the 3 years ending 31st March 2025, together with the Revenue Budget for 2022/23 
and the Capital Programme for the 3 years ending 31st March 2025, attached at 
appendix A. 
 
The Minute of the Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 13 January 
2022 had been circulated prior to the meeting.  
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 

68   HOUSING ACCOUNT - REVENUE AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 

 Councillor Jenny Wilkie introduced the report of the Head of Finance, Procurement 
and Commercial Services, which provided information to enable the Council to set 
its Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget and capital investment programme for 
the next financial year 2022/23 
 
The minute of the Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on 13 January 
2022 had been circulated prior to the meeting. 

Page 1494



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED:  A. The financial position and the budget matters set out in the report 

be noted.  
 

B. That the use of the Director of Place & Community's delegated 
authority in relation to rent and service charge changes be noted 
and endorsed.  

 
C. That this report be used for consultation purposes prior to the 

Council considering this matter on 23 February 2022. 
 
D. That the Housing and Landlord Services Portfolio Holder be given 

delegated authority to submit firm proposals to Council on 23 
February 2022 to enable the budget to be set. 

 
69   COUNCIL PLAN DELIVERY PLAN Q2 2021/22  

 
 Councillor Moran introduced the report of the Corporate Director of Transformation 

and Resources, which presented performance monitoring data for the quarter ended 
30 September 2021. 
 
The Minute of the Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny Committee on 9 
December 2021 had been circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
  
RESOLVED:  That the Council’s performance against the Council Plan for the 

quarter ended 30 September 2021 be noted.  
 

70   CIL FUNDING PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 

 Councillor Gaynar Owen introduced the report of the Corporate Director of Place 
and Community, which set out the consultation feedback on the draft CIL Funding 
Programme for 2022/23, and proposed final recommendations for the CIL Funding 
Programme in 2022/23. 
 
The minute of the Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on 13 January 
2022 had been circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED:  A. That the consultation feedback report provided at Appendix A to 

the report, be noted.  

Page 1495



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

 
B. That CIL monies be allocated to the delivery of the following 

projects in 2022/23: 
 

 £31,555 – Dial-a-Ride service (Year 2)  

 £37,650 – Creation of an active hub, Skelmersdale    
  Ecumenical Centre. 
 

C. That Skelmersdale Neighbourhood CIL monies be allocated to 
the delivery of the following project in 2022/23  
 

 £12,760 – Track and trim-trail at St James' Primary School, 
Ashurst. 

 
D. That Ormskirk Neighbourhood CIL monies be allocated to the 

delivery of the following project in 2022/23:  
 

 £60,000 – Improvements to Whittle Drive changing facilities. 
 
E. That the underspend (c.£6835) from the previously approved 

Burscough towpath improvement scheme be transferred to the 
previously approved Parbold towpath scheme to increase the 
available funding for that project.  

 
F. That delegated authority be granted to the Director of Place and 

Community, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning, 
to consider and authorise any reasonable changes to the details 
of the Cabinet approved schemes contained within the report, 
including minor changes to CIL funding or delivery timescales, 
that may be necessary to facilitate the subsequent delivery of an 
approved project, and that this delegation level is updated in the 
Council Constitution. 

 
71   BARNS ROAD ALLOTMENTS & ASSOCIATED LAND (TRANSFER)  

 
 Councillor Gagen introduced the report of the Corporate Director of Place & 

Community, which sought authority for the transfer of land to the Council at a nil 
premium.  
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED:  A. That authority is granted to the Corporate Director of Place and 

Community to take all necessary steps to acquire the land shown 
hatched on the plan attached to the report.  

 
B. That if further similar opportunities arise to increase the allotment 

Page 1496



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

provision within the Borough that the Corporate Director of Place 
and Community be given delegated powers to effect such 
transfers 

 
72   CLIMATE CHANGE REVIEW FINAL REPORT OF THE CORPORATE & 

ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

 Councillor Jenny Wilkie introduced the report of the Corporate Director of 
Transformation and Resources, which set out the Corporate & Environmental 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee's final report in respect of a review undertaken 
entitled ' Action on Climate Emergency combined with 'Create/Designate Hedgehog 
and Wildlife Areas in Public Parks/Gardens Across the Borough', attached at 
Appendix A to the report, and sought approval of the recommendations contained 
therein.  
 
In reaching the decision below, Cabinet considered the details set out in the report 
before it and the reasons contained therein. 
 
RESOLVED: That the final report of the Committee on the review undertaken on 

the Action on Climate Emergency' combined with 'Create/Designate 
Hedgehog and Wildlife areas in public parks/gardens across the 
Borough', attached as Appendix A to the report be noted, and the 
recommendations contained therein, be approved as follows: 

 
A. That the following completed Actions/outcomes highlighted by 

the Committee during the course of the review, be noted: 
 

1. Information regarding the Green Homes Grant has been 
sent to all residents who requested it, with links to the Cosy 
Homes in Lancashire (CHIL) website, which provides 
further information, encourages householders to take up 
free energy efficiency measures in their homes and 
provides an online application form. 

 
2. An invite to the NW Energy Hub event in June was 

forwarded to all who expressed an interest, together with 
another similar event by Electricity Northwest (ENW) 
'Powering our Communities' which launched a Fund to 
support community and local energy groups to develop and 
grow. 

 
3. A 2nd bid has been submitted to the Office of Low 

Emissions Vehicles (OLEV) for their consideration.  This 
includes 32 charge points at 16 locations, the majority of 
which are in communal parking areas on housing estates 
in Skelmersdale, to ensure those living in properties 
without off-street parking have access to a convenient 
charging network. Should the project go ahead, it would 

Page 1497



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

attract £374,709.01 investment, at nil cost to the council. 
 

B. That interested parties be contacted to inform about the Rural 
Community Energy Fund. 

 
C. That the Council continue to investigate a community/group 

purchasing project for Solar PV, noting that early conversations 
are underway with NW Energy Hub regarding an application to 
the Rural Community Energy Fund, with possible partners.  The 
intention is to community fund a solar PV project on large scale 
building/s in Skelmersdale occupied by a high energy user to 
purchase the power (this could be a Council owned commercial 
building with a high user tenant).  The income generated could 
then be reinvested to fund a further project or offered back to 
investors, depending on the community model used.  

 
D. That representatives from North West Energy Hub and 

Electricity North West be invited to attend a West Lancashire 
community energy event, following the  outcome of a RCEF fund 
application in C above.  

 
E. That case studies, with performance and savings figures, from 

installed renewable technologies on Council housing, be 
developed and made available on the Council's website, 
including details of: 

 
1. How much will it cost to install a 2kw 3kw or 4kw? 
2. How much disruption will there be to install them? 
3. What potential returns are there, if any, besides the positive 

impact on the environment? 
 

F. That working with the Lancashire Woodland Connect Project, 
continue to identify locations for tree planting and hedgehog and 
wildlife areas, noting that potential sites currently identified 
include 2-3 hectares at Fairy Glenn for the Queens 'Green 
Canopy Scheme'; 2-3 hectares at Tawd Valley Park with the 
assistance of the 'Friends of Tawd Valley Park'; a community 
orchard at Whittle Drive, Ormskirk, working with Westend 
School; hedgehog gardens at the Halsall Lane site, where the 
Schools will be getting involved, with potential funding being 
made available from the housing environmental improvement 
fund. 

 
G. That the potential to provide for an alternative/reduced mowing 

regime be investigated in order to manage areas specifically for 
wildlife and wildflower habitats.   

 
H. That consideration be given to climate change matters within the 

Page 1498



 
CABINET 
 

HELD: Tuesday, 25 January 2022 
 

 

 

emerging Local Plan. 
 
I. That officers investigate / explore how businesses in the 

Borough can be supported with recycling. 
 
J. That 'Water Management Strategies' be considered as a future 

topic for consideration for inclusion in the Corporate & 
Environmental Overview & Scrutiny work programme for 
2022/23.  

 
K. That Members receive via a Members Update, frequent updates 

in respect of the 'Action on Climate Emergency Strategy and 
Action plan'. 

 
L. That a Lead Member and senior officer be identified to drive 

forward the Council's agenda for Carbon Reduction/Environment 
and the importance of appointing an Environmental Strategy 
Manager to facilitate the actions outlined in the Council's Climate 
Change Strategy, be expressed.   

 
M. That an update on progress of the recommendations be 

reviewed at Corporate & Environmental Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee in September 2022.  

 
 

73   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 This item was not moved as the report at agenda item 8(a) 'Land Disposal' had been 
withdrawn. 
 

74   MATTERS REQUIRING DECISIONS  
 

 The report contained on pages 1651 to 1656 of the Book of Reports was withdrawn. 
 

75   LAND DISPOSAL (WITHDRAWN)  
 

 This item was withdrawn. 
 

 
 
 

……….……………………….. 
Leader 

 

Page 1499





 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM:   
 
 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE:     24 February 2022 

 
CABINET:           8 March 2022 

 
 

 
Report of:    Corporate Director of Place and Community 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Gaynar Owen 
 
Contact for further information: Ms Heidi McDougall (Extn. 5191) 
    (Email: heidi.mcdougall@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  UPDATE TO LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
 

 
 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To consider an updated Local Development Scheme for West Lancashire, 

reflecting changes in the timetable for preparing the Local Plan, and the inclusion 
of two additional planning policy documents in the Local Development Scheme. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

2.1 That the Committee consider the content of the Update to Local Development 
Scheme report, and the March 2022 Local Development Scheme within 
Appendix A, and that the agreed comments of Executive Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee be passed to Cabinet for their consideration.  

 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET 
 
3.1 That Cabinet, having regard to the content of this report and to the agreed 

comments of Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee, approve the updated 
March 2022 Local Development Scheme within Appendix A. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 1501

Agenda Item 9



4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is essentially a timetable / project plan for 

preparing the West Lancashire Local Plan and other important planning policy 
documents for the Borough. The most recent LDS for West Lancashire was 
approved by Cabinet in September 2021. 

 
4.2 The proposed updated March 2022 LDS provided at Appendix A includes an 

amended timetable for the preparation of the new West Lancashire Local Plan 
2023-2040, as follows: 

 

Issues & Options Consultation 
('Regulation 18') 

Completed early 2022 

Policies, Development Requirements & 
Site Allocations Consultation 

Summer 2023  

 

Publication / Pre-Submission 
('Regulation 19') 

Summer 2024 

Submission to Planning Inspectorate October 2024 

Examination in Public (including 
Hearings) 

October 2024 – Summer 2025 

Adoption July 2025 

 'Regulations' refer to the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

 
4.3 Overall, this represents a delay in the adoption of the new Local Plan compared 

with the LDS approved by Cabinet in September 2021. The primary reason for 
the revised timetable being necessary is due to current vacancies within the 
team.  Whilst every effort is being made to recruit to the vacant posts, it is 
inevitable that delays will be incurred whilst these vacancies are filled. The above 
Local Plan timetable will be reviewed once the team is fully staffed and, if 
possible, a revised timetable proposed. 

 
4.4 The March 2022 LDS also includes two additional elements that were not 

included in the September 2021 LDS. The first of these is a new Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) on a Recreation Mitigation Strategy for West 
Lancashire and the Liverpool City Region which is being prepared jointly with the 
six Liverpool City Region Councils and the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority. This new SPD is needed to provide information to assist individuals 
and developers submitting planning applications to meet requirements under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) ('the 
Habitats Regulations as amended'). The SPD is likely to include an optional per-
dwelling tariff for new residential development and an implementation framework 
for managing and improving designated European habitats sites or alternative 
greenspaces. 

Page 1502



 
4.5 The reasons for West Lancashire Borough Council joining the joint Liverpool City 

Region Recreation Mitigation Strategy have been set out in previous reports, 
comprising a Record of Decision (September 2021) and a Members Update 
(no.3, November 2021) which are available on the Council's website. In 
summary, it is a requirement that plans and projects (which include local plans 
and planning applications) provide mitigation for disturbance to designated 
European habitats sites (which include Martin Mere and the Ribble Estuary in 
West Lancashire and the nearby Sefton Coast outside the Borough) as a result 
of recreation arising from new residential development.  If new residential 
development is proposed without an agreed mitigation solution, irrespective of 
the effect on scheme viability, then the plan or project cannot be lawfully 
permitted. 

 
4.6 The second additional element is a revision to the Community Infrastructure Levy 

(CIL) Charging Schedule. This is the subject of a separate Cabinet report. The 
CIL Charging Schedule, once adopted, sets out how much CIL will be charged 
on new development in the Borough, and charges may vary with proposed use, 
location and development size.  The stages of preparing a CIL Charging 
Schedule are set out in the Government's CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
The work is a significant undertaking and would involve commissioning expert 
consultants to undertake a viability assessment of Local Plan policies, 
consultation with developers and other interested parties, and an examination in 
public.   

 
4.7 The current CIL Charging Schedule was adopted in July 2014, following the 

adoption of the West Lancashire Local Plan in 2013.  As the CIL Charging 
Schedule now approaches its eighth year of operation, and as the Council 
prepares the new Local Plan against a backdrop of changing financial burdens 
and policy requirements, it is considered appropriate and timely to undertake a 
review of the CIL Charging Schedule in conjunction with the preparation of the 
new Local Plan.  For example, the likely financial impact of proposed new Local 
Plan policies on such matters as biodiversity net gain, affordability of housing, 
and energy efficiency can be evaluated and the viability evidence can be used 
iteratively to help decide whether / by how much CIL charges should change. 

 
 
5.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct implications for sustainability from the recommendations in 

this report.   
 
 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The new Local Plan will be produced by the Council’s (currently named) Strategic 

Planning, Regeneration & Implementation Team.  However, a document as wide-
ranging as a Local Plan will inevitably involve input from various parts of the 
Council (as well as external stakeholders and partners).   

 
6.2 The costs of preparing the Local Plan will be covered by existing general revenue 

budgets together with the previously agreed contribution from Council Reserves 

Page 1503



for the costs of additional evidence studies and the Examination of the Local 
Plan. 

 
6.3 For further detail, please see chapter 4 of the LDS at Appendix A, which covers 

the issue of resources for the preparation of the Local Plan. 
 
 
7.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 Please see chapter 5 of the LDS at Appendix A, which covers the issue of risk 

assessment for the Local Plan and sets out a number of possible risks and 
mitigation measures.  This includes a risk assessment associated with the impact 
any further restrictions related to Covid 19 (or similar matters) may have on Local 
Plan preparation, and with further changes to staff within the Strategic Planning 
team. 

 
7.2 One risk worth flagging is the impact that changing national policy can have on 

the preparation of a Local Plan, sometimes causing considerable delays while 
whole sections or policies are re-written to reflect new national guidance.  This is 
perhaps a significant risk for Members to note as we prepare the new West 
Lancashire Local Plan because of the proposals in the Government's Planning 
for the Future White Paper (August 2020).  Whilst a local plan would still be 
central to such a system, what goes into a local plan could be considerably 
different as a result of any changes the Government proposes over coming 
months. 

 
 
8.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no direct implications for health and wellbeing from the 

recommendations in this report.   
 
 

 
 
 

Background Documents 

There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 

This report does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore, no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 

 
 
Appendices 

Appendix A – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page 1504



 

Page 1505





 

 

 

Local Development Scheme 

West Lancashire Borough Council 

March 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Heidi McDougall BSc(Hons) MBA  

Corporate Director of Place and Community 

West Lancashire Borough Council 

Page 1507



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

 

Chapter 1  Introduction      1 

 

Chapter 2  Updating the Local Plan – a timetable  6 

 

Chapter 3  The Evidence Base     13 

 

Chapter 4  Resources       19 

 

Chapter 5  Risk Assessment     21 

 

Page 1508



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 1  

 

Chapter 1 Introduction 

1.1 The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project plan for the preparation of the 

Local Plan for West Lancashire and any associated Supplementary Planning 

Documents or Neighbourhood Plans.  The production of an LDS is a requirement on 

Local Planning Authorities arising from the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004, as amended by Section 111 of the Localism Act 2011.  Furthermore, the 

Council’s adherence to the timescale it sets itself within the LDS will be used as a 

performance measure. 

1.2 This Local Development Scheme provides the project plan for the preparation of a new 

Local Plan for West Lancashire that it is anticipated will cover the period 2023-2040.  

This version of the LDS replaces that previously produced in March 2021.  It includes 

the following Chapters: 

 Chapter 1 provides an introduction and offers a background to why the Council 

has prepared an LDS and what its purpose is, as well providing a list of the 

current set of local planning policy documents; 

 Chapter 2 identifies the topics that we envisage will make up a new Local Plan 

for West Lancashire and the likely timescale for preparing the Local Plan; 

 Chapter 3 looks at the evidence base that will underpin the production of the 

Local Plan; 

 Chapter 4 identifies the resources available to the Growth and Development1 

Service of the Council to support the preparation of a new Local Plan; and 

 Chapter 5 considers the risks that exist which could slow progress on the Local 

Plan and some of the mitigation measures which can be put in place. 

Background 

1.3 The current West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 was adopted in October 2013 and 

whilst there remains five years of its period to run, the context surrounding planning 

and development is constantly changing and national planning policy is evolving with 

it.  This means that local planning policy, such as Local Plans, can quickly become out 

of date if they are not reviewed and updated accordingly.  In particular, the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised in July 2021, and paragraph 33 of this 

requires that local planning authorities review their Local Plan policies at least once 

every five years, and then update them as necessary. 

                                                           
1
 This service is to be reorganised / renamed in 2022;  a future LDS can reflect this if necessary. 

Page 1509



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 2  

 

1.4 To this end, when the national requirement for a five-yearly review was introduced, the 

Council had already embarked on a 'Local Plan Review' (which was effectively a 

review and an update, under the terminology of paragraph 33 of the NPPF), although 

this Local Plan Review was ceased by a decision of Cabinet in September 2019.  In 

December 2019, a formal review of the West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 was 

undertaken, in line with guidance and best practice associated with paragraph 33 of 

the NPPF.  This review, reported to Cabinet in January 2020, demonstrated that a full 

update of the Local Plan is required, i.e. that it is most appropriate to prepare an 

entirely new Local Plan for the Borough. 

1.5 Such an update is necessary because an out-of-date Local Plan can have two main 

negative consequences. Firstly, an out-of-date Local Plan can stymie necessary 

growth, both economically and in terms of providing the right kind of development in 

the right place in a timely fashion.  Secondly, if local planning policy is out of date, it 

can be ineffective in managing and guiding where appropriate development should 

take place, and can lead to a situation where the Council has less control or choice in 

its planning decisions. 

1.6 Therefore, while the current adopted Local Plan for West Lancashire still has five years 

to run, the Council considers it necessary to begin work on a new Local Plan that will 

bring the planning policies that guide development in the Borough up-to-date and 

consistent with the most recent evidence.  While the new Local Plan is being prepared, 

all policies in the current, adopted Local Plan will remain effective and a part of the 

Development Plan for the Borough until they are replaced by new policies in a newly 

adopted Local Plan. The only deviation from the adopted Local Plan policy will be to 

use the standard Local Housing Need calculation to set the housing requirement for 

West Lancashire until a new Local Plan is adopted (in accordance with paragraph 74 

of the NPPF) for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test and for calculating the five-

year housing land supply in West Lancashire. 

1.7 Producing any Local Plan is a major project that requires significant resources.  A 

project management approach is vitally important to enable the Plan's production 

within a given timescale.  The Council views the LDS as a key project management 

tool in the production of its Local Plan.  The LDS has three main purposes: 

 To inform people of how the Local Plan will be prepared and the likely timescale 

involved; 

 To establish work priorities and enable work programmes to be formed; and 

Page 1510



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 3  

 

 To set a timescale for the monitoring and review of the Local Plan and 

associated documents. 

1.8 This LDS provides a project plan for preparing a new Local Plan for West Lancashire.  

Future iterations of the LDS may include project plans for new Supplementary 

Planning Documents (as is the case with this March 2022 LDS update) or 

Neighbourhood Plans, should any need to be prepared, and for which the Council is 

responsible.  Minerals and Waste matters are the responsibility of Lancashire County 

Council, and so the preparation of the relevant development plan documents (DPDs) 

related to those matters do not form part of this LDS. 

 

Current Local Planning Policy documents 

1.9 The current adopted Development Plan for West Lancashire is made up of four 

documents: 

 The West Lancashire Local Plan 2012-2027 DPD (October 2013); 

 The Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Development Framework Core 

Strategy DPD (February 2009); 

 The Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Site Allocation and 

Development Management Policies DPD (September 2013); and 

 The Burscough Parish Neighbourhood Plan (July 2019) (affecting planning 

decisions in the parish of Burscough only). 

1.10 In addition, one policy from the West Lancashire Replacement Local Plan 2001-2016 

(WLRLP) was saved at the time of the adoption of the current Local Plan.  WLRLP 

policy DE4 – Caravan Sites for Gypsies and Travelling Show People – is saved, and 

therefore is currently still part of the Development Plan for West Lancashire. 

 

1.11 The Council has several Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) that are current 

and several Supplementary Planning Guidance documents (SPGs) that have been 

retained and are still relevant: 

 Development in the Green Belt SPD (October 2015) 

 Yew Tree Farm, Burscough Masterplan SPD (February 2015) 

Page 1511

https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/362397/Green-Belt-SPD_October-2015.pdf
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/190061/YTF-Final-Masterplan-Feb-2015-red.pdf


West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 4  

 

 Provision of Public Open Space in New Residential Developments SPD (September 

2014) 

 Skelmersdale Town Centre Masterplan SPD (September 2008) 

 Design Guide SPD (January 2008) 

 Accommodation for Temporary Agricultural Workers SPG 

 Affordable Housing SPG 

 Design Guide for Shop Fronts SPG 

 Natural Areas and Areas of Landscape History Importance SPG 

 Trees and Development SPG 

 Site Planning - Layout and Design SPG 

 Dalton Village Design Statement SPG 

 Whalleys Housing and Mixed-Use Sites SPG 

 Whitemoss Business Park SPG 

 Land West of Stanley Industrial Estate SPG 

1.12 The Council also has a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI), adopted in 

September 2020.  The SCI sets out whom the Council will consult on various aspects 

of planning, and what methods the Council will use. 

  

Page 1512

http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/172497/Open-Space-SPD-2014-.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98025/skem-masterplan.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98028/spd-design-guide-20081.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98031/accom_for_temporary_agric_workers.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98034/affordable_housing.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98043/spg_design_guide_shop_front.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98052/natural-areas_landscape-history-importance09.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98055/trees_and_development.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98058/site_planning_layout_design.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98061/dalton_design_statement_.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98067/whalleys_housing_mixed_dev_sites.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98070/whitemoss_business_park.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/98076/land_w-of_stanley_industrial_estate.pdf


West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 5  

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

1.13 CIL is not technically local planning policy, or a matter that is required to be reported in 

the LDS, but it is inextricably linked to local planning, being a levy that is placed on 

new development at the time planning permission is granted.  A CIL Charging 

Schedule must ensure that the CIL charge is set at the correct level, based on viability 

evidence which must also consider, reflect and incorporate all other policy 

requirements.  Therefore, given the West Lancashire CIL Charging Schedule is now 

approaching eight years old, and the viability of a local CIL charge is inexorably linked 

to local planning policies, the preparation of a new Local Plan provides an appropriate 

opportunity for a review of the CIL Charging Schedule.  Whilst the review of the CIL 

charges should be done iteratively with the Local Plan, the most appropriate timescale 

for this review, and in particular the nature and timing of its Examination, are still to be 

determined.  The CIL Charging Schedule Examination could be alongside the Local 

Plan Examination, subject to notifying the Secretary of State (CIL Regulation 22), or it 

could take place following the adoption of the Local Plan.   

1.14 There is also the possibility that, in the future, CIL will adapt into a more general 

Infrastructure Levy. Whilst the Planning for the Future White Paper (August 2020) 

suggests an Infrastructure Levy will be a national obligation on all councils, it is likely 

that rates will need to continue to be set locally and so any work on viability should not 

be abortive. Central Government have advised that until such time as they announce 

details of the new Levy, local authorities should continue to progress CIL review work 

as under current requirements (as is the case for Local Plan preparation).   

1.15 The principle of approving a review to the CIL Charging Schedule is therefore included 

in this March 2022 Local Development Scheme, but details of timescales and 

programming are not set out as yet, and will need to be determined in the future.   

Page 1513



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 6  

 

Chapter 2 Updating the Local Plan – a timetable 

2.1 The timetable for the preparing a new Local Plan is set out in the chart on the following 

page, and this chapter seeks to explain a little more about key stages in preparing the 

new Local Plan. 

The New Plan Period 

2.2 Given the timetable below, which would see the new Local Plan adopted by the end of 

2024, and the fact that paragraph 22 of the NPPF requires that 'strategic policies [in a 

new Local Plan] should look ahead over a minimum 15 year period from adoption', it is 

proposed that the period for the new Local Plan should be from 1st April 2023 to 31st 

March 2040. 

Regulation 18 consultation and Preparation of Evidence 

2.3 Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012 requires that, when preparing a new Local Plan, the Council must 

consult on the 'subject' of a Local Plan that it is proposing to prepare, and what it 

'ought to contain'.  As such, the Council carried out a Regulation 18 consultation from 

18 November 2021 to 27 January 2022 on the potential content of the new West 

Lancashire Local Plan 2023-2040.  This consultation was more than a year later than 

originally planned due to the COVID-19 pandemic and associated lockdowns (which 

delayed preparation as planning officers were redeployed to frontline services to help 

support the response to the pandemic in West Lancashire), as well as a significant 

change in senior staff within the Council's Growth & Development Service in 2021. 

2.4 This Regulation 18 consultation also identified the key issues the Council believes the 

Local Plan needs to address, options for how planning policies might address those 

issues, and gave an indication of the Council's preferred option for the approach Local 

Plan policies might take to deal with the issues (based on the best available evidence 

and best practice at that time).  The Council hosted the Regulation 18 consultation on 

an online consultation platform, designed to make it as easy as possible to learn more 

about / provide helpful feedback on the issues, options and preferred policy 

approaches identified by the Council. 

2.5 The chart on the following page shows the intended timetable for preparing the new 

Local Plan.

Page 1514



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 7  

 

Stage of Preparation 
Q1 2020 – 
Q3 2021 

Q4 
2021 

Q1 
2022 

Q2 
2022 

Q3 
2022 

Q4 
2022 

Q1 
2023 

Q2 
2023 

Q3 
2023 

Q4 
2023 

Q1 
2024 

Q2 
2024 

Q3 
2024 

Q4 
2024 

Q1 
2025 

Q2 
2025 

Q3 
2025 

Preparation of Evidence 
  

 

          

          

18 Public Consultation on 
Scope, Issues & Options   * *        

          

Preparation of Policies & Site 
Allocations Consultation    

 

          
 

         

Public Consultation on 
Policies & Site Allocations  

 

       
* 

        

Preparation of Pre-
Submission Local Plan   

 

              

        

Publication / Pre-Submission 
Consultation   

 

          

  

 

  

 * 

    

Submission to Planning 
Inspectorate   

 

          

   

  

  

* 

   

Examination in Public 
  

 

          

          

Receipt of Inspector's Report 
  

 

          

  

       * 
Adoption of Local Plan 

  

 

          

  

       * 
 

P
age 1515



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 8  

 

2.5 Gathering evidence to better understand key planning issues is an essential part of 

preparing a new Local Plan as this evidence must directly inform new local planning 

policy.  Given that the Council had, until September 2019, been working on a Local 

Plan Review for West Lancashire, a great deal of evidence is already available, and 

much of this will be of use as the new Local Plan is prepared.  However, some issues 

will require more up-to-date evidence, particularly in relation to the key issues of need 

and demand for new housing and economic development.  Some evidence studies will 

also be needed to assess the specific proposals in a new Local Plan.  As a result, the 

evidence collation stage will happen throughout the Local Plan preparation process 

right up until the Publication / Pre-Submission document has been prepared (see 

below).  Preparation of evidence is covered in greater detail in the next chapter.  

2.6 The above timetable for the Local Plan includes a public consultation on the proposed 

development requirements for West Lancashire over the Plan period, the proposed 

site allocations necessary to meet those requirements, and draft wording of new 

policies.  This consultation would be an additional consultation under Regulation 18, 

and would enable specific engagement on the Council's consideration of the issue of 

development needs, site allocations, and policies before it finalises the Local Plan 

document that it wants to submit for Examination. 

Publication of the Pre-Submission Local Plan, and Submission for Examination 

2.7 Following the initial Regulation 18 consultation in winter 2021/22, and taking into 

account the feedback received through that process, the Council will draw up the 

actual new Local Plan document, which will include a series of planning policies 

(strategic and non-strategic), site allocations and a Policies Map.  The proposed 

additional consultation on development requirements and site allocations will also feed 

into this process.  This culminates in the publication of what is known as the Pre-

Submission version of the Local Plan (covered by Regulation 19 of The Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012).   

2.8 This Pre-Submission version of the Plan is essentially the 'final draft' which the Council 

wishes to submit for examination.  It is published to give members of the public and 

other stakeholders the opportunity to make formal representations on the Pre-

Submission version of the Local Plan.  These representations are then submitted, 

along with the Local Plan, to the Secretary of State, ready for the Plan's examination. 

Page 1516



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 9  

 

2.9 Any representations (comments) made at this Publication / Pre-Submission stage 

need to be made formally through a specific form, using a set format prescribed by the 

Planning Inspectorate to ensure all comments relate to the 'Tests of Soundness', and / 

or whether the Plan has been prepared in accordance with all relevant legal 

requirements.  This is because those representations are passed directly to the 

Planning Inspector appointed to examine the proposed new Local Plan once the 

Council decides to submit the Local Plan, and the Inspector will consider those 

representations as he / she examines the proposed new Local Plan. 

2.10 Compared to the previous (September 2021) LDS, the stage of preparing the Pre-

Submission Local Plan for Regulation 19 has been elongated in the above timetable.  

This is because of the desire to incorporate an additional stage of consultation on the 

development requirements and site allocations (see 2.6 above), and also to allow more 

time given anticipated changes to national guidance on preparation of Local Plans that 

may need to be incorporated (following on from the proposals in the Planning White 

Paper). 

Examination and Adoption of the Local Plan 

2.11 Once the Local Plan is submitted, it is in the hands of the Planning Inspectorate to 

appoint an Inspector to undertake the Examination and to write a report concluding 

whether or not the Local Plan is 'sound', outlining any changes that are necessary to 

make it sound.  The Examination will include public hearing sessions facilitated by the 

Planning Inspector, designed to help the Inspector better understand all aspects of, 

and concerns about, the proposed new Local Plan.  If there are significant changes to 

the Plan proposed by the Inspector (known as 'main modifications') there may need to 

be a further stage of public consultation during the Examination, with all responses 

ultimately being considered by the Inspector.  Once the Local Plan has been found 

sound by the Inspector, the Council can adopt it.   

 

  

Page 1517



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 10  

 

Summary of Planning Policy documents to be produced 

West Lancashire Local Plan 2023-2040 

Document 
Details 

Role & Content: Sets out the main planning context of the Borough, the development 
strategy for the Borough and priority locations for development, development 
management policies and site allocations; 

Status: Development Plan Document (DPD); 

Chain of Conformity: The Local Plan should conform with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Any additional DPDs or SPDs, and any Neighbourhood Plans, 
should conform with the Local Plan; 

Geographic Coverage: Whole Borough. 

Timetable Regulation 18 Consultation November 2021 - January 2022 

Policies, Development Requirements &  
Site Allocations Consultation July – September 2023 

Publication / Pre-Submission July – September 2024 

Submission to Planning Inspectorate October 2024 

Examination in Public (incl. Hearings) October 2024 – June 2025 

Adoption July 2025 

Arrangements 
for Production 

Prepared by Strategic Planning & Implementation Team with support from wider 
Growth and Development Service; 

Input from other Council services and partner organisations as required; 

Input / approval from Members principally via Cabinet and the Local Plan Cabinet 
Working Group, also from Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee and, for 
submission and adoption, via Council; 

Adequate staffing resource necessary within Department for production. 

Progress Preparation commenced January 2020 but work was delayed due to the COVID19 
pandemic as staff were redeployed to frontline services to support the Council's 
response to the pandemic in West Lancashire.  In addition, changes in staff within the 
Growth & Development Service have impacted / are impacting the resources available 
to prepare the Local Plan.  

The Regulation 18 consultation on  Scope, Issues & Options took place from 
November 2021 to January 2022.  Overall, there will be a delay in the timetable 
through to Submission of the Local Plan for Examination in October 2024. 

 

  

Page 1518



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 11  

 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule Revision 

Document 
Details 

Role & Content: Sets the charge for CIL in relation to different types of development in 
different parts of the Borough; 

Status: Charging Schedule; 

Chain of Conformity: The justification for charging CIL must be demonstrated by the 
need for funding for new infrastructure as a result of the development proposed in the 
Local Plan DPD; 

Geographic Coverage: Whole Borough. 

Timetable Preparation of evidence Spring 2022 onwards 

Consultation on Draft Charging Schedule To be confirmed  

Submission To be confirmed  

Examination Period To be confirmed  

Adoption To be confirmed 

Arrangements 
for Production 

Prepared by Strategic Planning & Implementation Team with input from the wider 
Growth and Development Service and other Council services and partner 
organisations as required.  A comprehensive viability assessment of Local Plan 
policies (prepared as part of the Local Plan evidence base) will be a key part of the 
evidence base for the CIL Charging Schedule review; 

Input / approval from Members via Cabinet, Local Plan Cabinet Working Group, 
Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Council; 

Adequate staffing resource necessary within Department for production. 

Progress To be prepared alongside the West Lancashire Local Plan 2023-2040 ('WLLP').  
Precise timing, in particular for Examination, and how this would relate to the WLLP 
Examination, to be confirmed. 

  

Page 1519



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 12  

 

Joint Merseyside and West Lancashire Recreation Mitigation Strategy SPD 

Document 
Details 

Role & Content:  This is an SPD covering West Lancashire and the Liverpool City 
Region.  It is needed to provide information to assist applicants to meet requirements 
under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). It is 
likely to include an optional per-dwelling tariff for new residential development and an 
implementation framework for managing and improving designated European habitats 
sites or alternative greenspaces. 

Status: Supplementary Planning Document (SPD); 

Chain of Conformity: The SPD should conform with the West Lancashire Local Plan as 
well as the NPPF and Habitats Regulations (as amended); 

Geographic Coverage: West Lancashire Borough and also Liverpool City Region. 

Timetable Commencement, Scoping and Preparation  March 2022 – December 2022* 

(includes Strategic Environmental Assessment  
& Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening) 

Consultation on draft SPD  February 2023 – April 2023* 

Consider representations and amend SPD  May 2023 – July 2023* 

Adopt SPD  September 2023* 

*Note the above timetable is indicative and subject to change as it will require 
agreement and co-ordination between West Lancashire Borough Council, the six 
Liverpool City Region authorities and the LCR Combined Authority.  

Arrangements 
for Production 

To be prepared jointly by WLBC, the six Liverpool City Region authorities and the LCR 
Combined Authority; 

Input from other Council services and partner organisations as required; 

Input and approval from Members via Cabinet; 

Adequate staffing resource necessary within Department for production. 

Progress Preparation commencing Spring 2022. 

 

 

  

Page 1520



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 13  

 

Chapter 3 The Evidence Base 

3.1 The preparation of a new Local Plan requires an extensive evidence base covering a 

wide range of topics.  This section provides a summary of what evidence the Council 

has collected, or intends to collect, to inform this process.  This list could well change, 

especially if feedback from consultation with stakeholders identifies a gap in the 

proposed evidence base.  All published versions of the various evidence base studies 

(whether in draft or as a final version) are available on the Council's website at:  

https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/the-local-plan-

2023-2040/evidence-base.aspx 

 

 Liverpool City Region Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market 

Assessment (SHELMA) 

The Council worked with the Liverpool City Region Authorities on the preparation 

of a SHELMA from 2016 to 2019.  The SHELMA identifies the objectively-

assessed need (OAN) for housing and employment land across the City Region 

and by individual Authority to 2037.  Part 2 investigates the potential supply of 

sites for large-scale B8 to meet the need identified in the SHELMA for large-scale 

B8 across the LCR and West Lancashire.  The SHELMA will be superseded by 

the West Lancashire HEDNA 2022 once this study is published. 

 Affordable and Specialist Housing Needs Study (ASHNS) 

The ASHNS (February 2018) looks specifically at the local need for affordable 

housing in its various forms (social rent, affordable rent, shared ownership, etc.), 

as well as the need for housing for the elderly, and for people living in houseboats 

in caravans (non-travellers).  The ASHNS will be superseded by the West 

Lancashire HEDNA 2022 once this study is published. 

 Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) 

A fresh HEDNA study is required to update the evidence informing all aspects of 

employment and housing need and demand in the Borough.  Preparation of the 

HEDNA started in early 2020, paused while work on the Local Plan was delayed 

due to COVID-19 and continued in 2021. 

Page 1521

https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/the-local-plan-2023-2040/evidence-base.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/the-local-plan/the-local-plan-2023-2040/evidence-base.aspx


West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 14  

 

Once published, this new study will replace the SHELMA (insofar as it considers 

West Lancashire's needs), the ASHNS and the previous (2017) HEDNA and 

Housing Growth Scenarios work, and so will bring this evidence up-to-date for the 

new Local Plan.  The study considers: 

o What economic and employment growth (by sector) is anticipated; 

o What overall housing growth is therefore needed (demographic growth plus 

any as a result of economic / employment growth); and 

o What specific affordable and specialist housing needs there are in the 

Borough. 

This study will also inform the preparation of a new Economic Development 

Strategy and a new Housing Strategy for West Lancashire. 

 Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) 

The SHELAA has two functions:  

1) to enable all sites that are potentially available for development to be brought 

to the attention of the Council and ultimately be assessed as to their suitability 

for development, and  

2) to identify the 5, 10 and 15-year supply of sites in the SHELAA that are 

currently, in principle, policy-compliant with the current, adopted Local Plan. 

The SHELAA is generally updated each year.  A fresh Call for Sites was issued in 

early 2020 which was used to inform the 2020/21 SHELAA Update (available on 

the Council website) and also to inform the Local Plan Regulation 18 public 

consultation. 

 Traveller Needs Assessment 

A Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment was undertaken by 

consultants in 2013/14 for Merseyside and West Lancashire.  The Government 

changed the definition of 'Traveller' in 2016.  A 2017 West Lancashire Traveller 

Needs Assessment provides an updated figure for accommodation needs for the 

travelling community in the Borough, taking into account this new definition.  The 

study is available on the Council's website.  This study will be updated as 

necessary later in 2022/23 to inform the new Local Plan. 

 

Page 1522



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 15  

 

 Retail and Commercial Leisure Study 

This Study identifies future retail and leisure floorspace requirements for the 

Borough with a view to informing the allocation of sites for future town centre uses 

in the Local Plan, undertaking health checks of Burscough, Ormskirk and 

Skelmersdale town centres and identifying future strategies for each of these 

centres. The study was completed in June 2018.  This study is to be updated as 

necessary later in 2022/23 to inform the new Local Plan. 

 Traffic / Transport Impact Assessment 

The Council appointed consultants to prepare an assessment identifying the 

additional traffic flows that were considered likely to be created by new sites 

proposed in the Local Plan Review Preferred Options, and how that traffic would 

affect the existing Key Route Network and Strategic Route Network.  Whilst the 

Local Plan Review was ceased, this study highlighted the need to undertake a 

closer look at how new developments and new transport-related proposals may 

affect how people use the Borough's highway network.  Lancashire County 

Council (LCC) has commissioned highways modelling for the Borough's highway 

network.  This will allow the Borough Council, in close consultation with LCC and 

National Highways (formerly Highways England), to consider where improvements 

may be required on particular routes / junctions to mitigate for additional flows, as 

proposals for new site allocations, or for new transport infrastructure, are prepared 

and tested. 

 Local Plan Viability Assessment 

A Viability Assessment will be prepared in 2022/23 by suitably qualified 

consultants to assess and inform the proposed policies and allocations of the new 

Local Plan, to ensure they will enable viable developments to come forward in 

West Lancashire.  This very important study will also inform the proposed review 

of the CIL Charging Schedule. 

 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 

The Council published a draft IDP alongside the Local Plan Review Preferred 

Options consultation in 2018.  As a new Local Plan is prepared, the IDP will be 

updated in consultation with Infrastructure Providers to consider how the existing 

infrastructure in the Borough will be able to cope with the additional demands 

Page 1523



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 16  

 

placed upon it by any new development proposals, and to identify any 

improvements that will need to be made to infrastructure to meet any increased 

demand from the new Local Plan.  A final IDP will be published alongside the Pre-

Submission version of the Local Plan at the Publication stage. 

 Sustainable Settlement Study 

The Council prepared a Sustainable Settlement Study in 2017 to consider how 

'sustainable' each town and village in West Lancashire is, considering access to 

key services.  This has been updated in 2021 to inform the preparation of the new 

Local Plan and is available on the Council's website.  The Study guides the setting 

of an appropriate settlement hierarchy in the new Local Plan and informs 

deliberations over which settlements should be the focus for new development. 

 Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) Review 

The PPS considers a range of sports including football, rugby, cricket, hockey and 

bowls and identifies future needs for pitches.  It recommends a number of priority 

projects for pitches and associated facilities such as changing rooms, and will be 

used to identify which pitches and facilities should be protected and where any 

new provision should be made.  The PPS was refreshed in 2018 in accordance 

with Sport England's Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance for keeping a strategy 

robust and up to date.  It is intended to update this strategy in 2022/23. 

 Open Space Study 

The Open Space Study identifies local open space needs, audits local site 

provision, sets local open space standards and applies those standards to identify 

surpluses and deficiencies in different types of open space across the Borough.  

The 2018 Study developed a strategy, identifying where and how open space 

should be protected and enhanced, and where future new provision should be 

created.  This will be used to determine open space designations and planning 

policies in the new Local Plan. 

 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 

The primary purpose of the SFRA is to provide information on flood risk from all 

sources in the Borough and inform decision-making in the emerging Local Plan in 

terms of the allocation of land and drafting of policies to manage flood risk.  

Page 1524



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 17  

 

The Council consulted on a draft Level 1 SFRA between March and April 2017.  A 

preliminary draft Level 2 SFRA was also prepared and published alongside the 

Local Plan Review Preferred Options consultation in 2018.   

The Level 1 and Level 2 SFRAs were updated in light of comments received 

during consultation.  Consultants JBA were appointed in spring 2020 to prepare a 

more detailed Level 2 SFRA to assess site allocations proposed in the Local Plan 

Review Preferred Options which may impact on flood risk.  This SFRA is available 

on the Council's website, but an updated SFRA will be prepared as necessary in 

2022/23 to inform the preparation of the new Local Plan. 

 Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy 

The Council prepared a Green Infrastructure and Cycling Strategy and adopted it 

in September 2017.  The Strategy sets out the Council's aspirations for new Green 

Infrastructure and cycling infrastructure across West Lancashire, in particular the 

proposed Linear Parks and the 'West Lancs Wheel'.  As such, the Local Plan will 

be prepared with regard to how parts of the Strategy might be delivered alongside 

(or by) new development. 

 Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Study 

The Council appointed consultants Wood to prepare a study that assessed the 

potential capacity of West Lancashire to provide Renewable Energy or Low 

Carbon Developments, taking into account constraints that would impact on the 

suitability of such developments in a given location.  The study identifies areas 

which are most suitable for particular types of Renewable Energy developments, 

and this will inform any policy on Renewable Energy developments in the new 

Local Plan.  This study is available on the Council's website. 

 Technical, Thematic and Spatial Evidence Papers 

The Council has prepared a range of evidence papers to summarise the available 

evidence, data, and information on particular topics and to help explain how 

proposed policies in the new Local Plan were drawn up. 

  

Page 1525



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 18  

 

 Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

A Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) is a 

legal requirement as part of a Local Plan preparation. The SA/SEA assesses the 

sustainability merits and environmental impacts of the Local Plan and the 

alternative options that have been considered.  As such, it is an integral part of the 

evidence and preparation / decision-making process on the Local Plan.  The 

SA/SEA also considers health as part of the appraisal process. 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 

A HRA is another legal requirement; it considers the impacts that the Local Plan 

may have on internationally-designated nature sites, such as Martin Mere and the 

Ribble Estuary.  The HRA must first do a 'scoping exercise' to determine whether 

impacts are potentially likely.  If impacts are likely, an Appropriate Assessment of 

those impacts is carried out, to identify any issues which the Local Plan must 

address, or mitigation required to minimise the impacts of new development. 

 Equality Impact Assessment 

Many aspects of new development and the way a place functions can have 

impacts on a population and can have different effects on different groups of the 

population.  As such, the Council will prepare an Equality Impact Assessment of 

the Local Plan in order to identify ways in which the Local Plan can be improved, 

to ensure that no particular group in society is prejudiced by the proposals. 

  

Page 1526



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 19  

 

Chapter 4 Resources 

4.1 The new Local Plan will be produced by the Council’s Strategic Planning & 

Implementation Team, but a document as wide ranging as a Local Plan will inevitably 

involve input from various parts of the Council as well as from external partners. 

4.2 The Strategic Planning & Implementation Project Manager2 will take the lead role in 

developing the new Local Plan, project managing the process and the preparation of a 

new Local Plan and all other local planning policy and CIL documents.   

4.3 The Strategic Planning & Implementation Team will liaise closely with both frontline 

and support services across the Council in developing the Plan, including: 

 The Development, Heritage & Environment Team (who will use the Local Plan to 

make decisions on planning applications and advise on design, heritage, trees, and 

landscaping) 

 The Building Control and Technical Services Teams (who will advise on flooding, 

drainage and other engineering matters, and on how policies may best inter-relate 

with the Building Regulations) 

 The Wellbeing, Regeneration, and Leisure Service (on leisure / public open space, 

regeneration and public health matters) 

 Regulatory Services on environmental protection matters 

 The Housing  Service 

4.4 In addition, the Strategic Planning & Implementation Team i will undertake the 

following: 

 Preparation of all other local planning policy documents, including assisting with 

any Neighbourhood Plans; 

 Responding to new Government planning policies, and other Government 

strategies and plans related to Planning; 

 Engaging with adjacent authorities and other agencies on planning, economic 

development and housing strategy matters, including inputting on key strategies 

and projects prepared by those other authorities and agencies (e.g. Transport 

Strategies); 

                                                           
2
 Title of this post to be confirmed pending Council reorganisation; similarly with other teams and posts 

mentioned in this section. 

Page 1527



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 20  

 

 All monitoring required to prepare the Annual Monitoring Report and Housing Land 

Supply position; 

 The ongoing maintenance of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, Infrastructure 

Delivery Schedule and Infrastructure Funding Statement (these link into CIL and 

Section 106 expenditure); 

 Administration of the Community Infrastructure Levy and how it is spent; 

 Implementation of key projects to help deliver the proposals within the Local Plan 

and other documents, particularly transport and infrastructure related; 

 Advising the Council's Development Management Team on the interpretation of 

planning policies and, where necessary, attending planning appeals. 

4.5 Given that West Lancashire Borough Council is a two-tier Authority with Lancashire 

County Council, the Strategic Planning & Implementation Team will also continue to 

liaise closely with the County Council, especially on issues of highways and 

transportation, as well as having reference to the County's planning policy work on 

Minerals and Waste and their role as Education Authority.  On the issue of strategic 

planning and transport, the Strategic Planning & Implementation Team also liaise with 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (as the authors of the LCR Strategic 

Development Strategy and as Merseytravel, the public transport executive for 

Merseyside, extending into parts of West Lancashire) and the Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority (including Transport for Greater Manchester). 

4.6 Resources have also been, and will continue to be, saved through effective 

partnership working with neighbouring Local Authorities.  The Strategic Planning & 

Implementation Team are working closely with their peers in Merseyside, Lancashire 

and Greater Manchester in order to deliver 'joined-up' cross-border planning on many 

issues that are not restricted by local authority boundaries. This helps to fulfil the Duty 

to Co-operate introduced by the Localism Act 2011, and will include a range of 

Statements of Common Ground with neighbouring authorities where necessary 

(including the existing first iteration of the LCR Spatial Planning Statement of Common 

Ground which is available on the Council's website). 

4.7 The Strategic Planning & Implementation Team will also continue to liaise closely with 

a wide range of infrastructure providers to ensure that development is located where 

infrastructure is already in place, or to consider how new or improved infrastructure 

can be provided over the Local Plan period to meet the needs created by development 

in the new Local Plan.  

Page 1528



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 21  

 

Chapter 5  Risk Assessment 

5.1 The planning system requires effective project management techniques to ensure, as 

far as possible, that stated timetables are adhered to for the preparation of the Local 

Plan, and other local planning policy documents.  Using such techniques, the Strategic 

Planning Implementation Team, once fully staffed, will endeavour to ensure that 

progress is kept 'on track', in accordance with the dates set out within this LDS.  

However, there is a variety of circumstances which alone, or in combination, can 

conspire to delay the preparation process. 

5.2 It is important that the Council, the local community and all other stakeholders in the 

planning process, be aware of the possible risks to preparation.  This is so that the 

risks can be minimised, or mitigation measures put in place in the case of delays being 

occasioned.  The following table identifies some of the more likely risks that could 

prejudice Local Plan preparation and the mitigation measures that could be employed. 

Risk Mitigation 

Legislation / Government Guidance 

Publication of national planning policy 
statements can generate new issues that the 
Local Plan, or its preparation, must address, 
sometimes causing delays. 

 

Maintain close liaison with latest national 
guidance and its preparation. 

Revise Local Plan timetable if necessary. 

Obtain adequate budgetary provision for 
consultancy support if required. 

Planning Inspectorate 

Delays could be caused if the Local Plan or 
other documents take longer than expected in 
the Examination process. 

 

Keep in touch with Planning Inspectorate and 
advise them of requests for Examinations at the 
earliest possible time. 

The Council will have regard to Inspectors' 
decisions elsewhere to seek to ensure the 
Council is following best practice. 

Legal / Soundness 

The Local Plan cold fails the Tests of 
Soundness which would significantly delay the 
process. 

Legal challenge to document could see Local 
Plan, or part of it, quashed. 

 

Ensure a robust evidence base and use the 
PAS Local Plan toolkit. 

Draw on external expertise where necessary to 
ensure evidence and approach to policy is 
robust. 

Ensure procedures, Acts and Regulations are 
complied with. 

Page 1529



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 22  

 

Risk Mitigation 

Other External Bodies 

The planning system involves complex 
arrangements for co-operation, consultation, 
engagement and evidence gathering.  Failure 
on the part of other bodies to respond on time 
or to provide adequate responses (which 
require subsequent clarification) could cause 
significant delay to work programmes. 

 

Contact external bodies at the earliest 
opportunity and communicate clearly and 
regularly with them to minimise risk of no / poor 
responses and therefore delays. 

Joint Working 

There can be challenges in achieving joint 
working with other local authorities on evidence 
base and ensuring that the Duty to Co-operate 
is fulfilled because each authority is working to 
its own programme and may have its own 
particular concerns with regard to areas of 
evidence.  As such, projects / evidence studies 
can take longer when joint working is involved. 

 

Establish clear working arrangements with other 
local authorities and ensure strong programme / 
project management. 

Staffing 

Individual absences due to leave, personnel 
changes or sickness can cause delays in 
document production. 

Staff could leave the authority and could be 
difficult to replace, therefore causing delays to 
document production while the team is under-
strength. 

 

The Local Plan timetable should be set on a 
realistic basis taking into account the staff 
resources available. 

Aim for quick replacement of staff wherever 
possible. 

Flexibility of staff within the Growth and 
Development Service may enable opportunities 
for planning officers from other teams in the 
Service to help with workload. 

Where there is financial resource available, 
some elements of work can be undertaken by 
consultants. 

Political Direction / Management 

Members requiring late amendments to 
proposed documents or not being willing to 
approve a document for consultation / 
submission / adoption may cause delays. 

 

Early consultation and information sharing with 
Members should reduce the likelihood of late 
amendments being required or documents 
being rejected. 

Reduced Council Resources 

In the current climate of austerity and declining 
Council budgets, it is possible the resource 
available to the Growth and Development 
Service could be reduced, affecting the speed 
at which a Local Plan can be prepared. 

 

Explore all opportunities for joint working and 
service sharing. 

Maximise flexibility across the Service. 

Revise the Local Plan timetable if necessary. 

Page 1530



West Lancashire Borough Council – Local Development Scheme March 2022 

Page | 23  

 

Risk Mitigation 

Evidence Base 

The Evidence Base behind a Local Plan can 
become out-of-date over time.   

The Planning Inspectorate provides guidance 
on how recent some of the key evidence needs 
to be to be considered up-to-date for Local 
Plan preparation. 

If preparation of a Local Plan takes too long, 
the evidence base may need reviewing, 
thereby creating further delays in the delivery 
of the Local Plan (as well as additional cost for 
the Council). 

 

Ensure Members are aware of the time 
implications associated with their decisions on 
the Local Plan, to help keep the preparation 
process to schedule. 

COVID-19 

Further delays due to COVID-19, or any 
equally significant future pandemic, may create 
further delays in the preparation of the Local 
Plan.  This could affect the Local Plan 
preparation by redirecting key staff to other 
frontline services and by limiting opportunities 
for public consultation. 

 

The relevant services of the Council for the 
Local Plan are now set up to work effectively 
from home with minimal disturbance to work 
programmes. However, staff within those 
services may have to be redirected to other 
frontline services as necessary to help deal with 
the situation in a pandemic.   

In such circumstances, there is little the Council 
can do without incurring significant additional 
cost to keep the Local Plan preparation 
progressing, and a further delay in preparation 
could consequently be inevitable. 

 

Page 1531





 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM:   
 
 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE:     24 February 2022 

 
CABINET:           8 March 2022 

 
 

 
Report of:    Corporate Director of Place and Community 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Gaynar Owen 
 
Contact for further information: Heidi McDougall (Extn. 5191)  
    (Email: Heidi.mcdougall@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  REVIEW OF THE COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
                     CHARGING SCHEDULE 
 

 
 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval for officers to commence work on a review of the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule. 
 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

2.1 That the Committee consider the content of this report and that the agreed 
comments of Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee be passed to 
Cabinet for their consideration.  

 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET 
 
3.1 That Cabinet, having regard to the contents of this report and to the agreed 

comments of Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee, give approval for 
officers to commence work on a review of the West Lancashire Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule.  

 
 
 

 
  

Page 1533

Agenda Item 10



4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 Almost all development in the Borough either benefits from infrastructure or 

influences the need for infrastructure, services and amenities. It is only fair, 
therefore, that new development should contribute towards the cost of the 
infrastructure that it uses / its occupants use, and that some of the financial gain 
arising from the granting of planning permission should be shared with the 
communities affected by that development. Requiring contributions from new 
development can thereby help fund some of the infrastructure needed to make 
growth sustainable. These 'developer contributions' typically take the form of 
Planning Obligations (or 'Section 106 Agreements') and / or the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  

 
4.2 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a planning charge, introduced by the 

Government through the Planning Act 2008, to help local authorities in England 
and Wales fund the delivery of infrastructure to support the development of their 
areas.  It came into force on 6 April 2010 through the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). CIL was designed to give developers 
greater certainty about what monies they will be expected to contribute, and to 
enable Councils to use the resulting revenue on infrastructure to support 
sustainable communities.  Charging is made possible through the production and 
adoption of a CIL Charging Schedule, which sets out the charges for the local 
authority area.  These charges can be based on development type, location and 
size.  

4.3 When deciding the Levy rates, a local authority must strike an appropriate 
balance between the additional investment needed to support new development 
and the potential effect of the Levy on the viability of developments.  This 
balance is at the centre of the charge-setting process. The process for preparing 
a Charging Schedule is similar to the process for preparing relevant plans and 
ideally should support strategic thinking – linking the use of the Levy to planning 
for new development (i.e. the Local Plan).   

4.4 The CIL Regulations prescribe the requirements and stages to introduce a CIL 
Charging Schedule.  These involve a series of formalised processes, including 
collection of a range of evidence, community consultation for at least 4 weeks on 
a draft Charging Schedule, and an Examination in Public undertaken by a 
Government-appointed Planning Inspector. Subject to a favourable 
recommendation by the Inspector, and following adoption by the Council, the CIL 
Charging Schedule then becomes a standard charge, consistently applied to 
qualifying new development, with no negotiation permitted between the Local 
Authority and developer to reduce the charge.  

 The 2014 West Lancashire CIL Charging Schedule 

4.5 The Council originally agreed to pursue the introduction of a CIL charge in 2011; 
viability evidence was procured in 2012; a Charging Schedule was developed 
(prepared, consulted upon, and submitted) in 2013; and a public examination and 
adoption of the Schedule by the Council took place in 2014.  CIL took effect on 
all qualifying new developments from 1 September 2014. 

 

Page 1534



4.6 Between 1 September 2014 and 31 March 2022, the Council has collected 
almost £15 million of CIL monies from new developments across the Borough – 
over half of that stemming from sites allocated in the current Local Plan.  As a 
result, CIL has clearly demonstrated itself to be a financially important tool for 
supporting the delivery of infrastructure and, with it, the ability of the Council to 
meet its wider objectives in improving local communities. 

 
 Preparing a new CIL Charging Schedule 

4.7 Charging Schedules should be consistent with, and support the implementation 
of, up-to-date relevant plans - in this Council's case, the West Lancashire Local 
Plan. CIL, by its very nature, is inextricably linked to local planning as its very 
purpose is to help fund infrastructure required to support growth identified within 
the Local Plan. Whilst Charging Schedules are not formally part of the relevant 
plan, charging schedules and relevant plans should inform and be generally 
consistent with each other. Where practical, it is beneficial to undertake 
infrastructure planning for the purpose of plan-making and setting the Levy at the 
same time.  

4.8 This relationship – between the Local Plan and CIL charging rates – is clearly of 
key relevance as West Lancashire Borough Council continues to progress with a 
new Local Plan to 2040.  CIL charging rates must be carefully and considerately 
set, based on economic viability testing of different development types in different 
locations across the Borough so as to understand the level of financial 
contributions that are viable for each Use Class and location. This viability testing 
will be significantly influenced by policies within the Local Plan and the financial 
burdens resulting from the policies.  

 
4.9 Since the adoption of the current Local Plan in 2013, there has been a range of 

changing policy requirements at national level – for example, new requirements 
for biodiversity net gain and the need to address the climate emergency – and 
ever-pressing issues to address in local policy, including affordable housing and 
energy efficiency in new buildings. 

 
4.10 All of these competing demands, policy obligations, and financial obligations 

need to be carefully assessed and balanced to ensure viability.  For example, if 
CIL rates are too high, this may act as a disincentive to developers resulting in 
less new housing being built, Local Plan housing targets not being met and 
potential income from the New Homes Bonus being reduced.  Viability testing 
and evidence are key to ensuring CIL rates are set correctly; this will ultimately 
be tested by the Planning Inspector at the CIL Charging Schedule Examination.  

4.11 In addition to viability considerations, when setting or reviewing a CIL Charging 
Schedule, local authorities need to collect an evidence base relating to the 
infrastructure required to deliver the proposed growth (of the relevant plan). In 
doing so, the Charging Authority should have regard to the actual and expected 
cost of infrastructure, other actual or expected sources of funding for 
infrastructure, and the actual and expected administrative expenses in 
connection with the Levy.  Local authorities must identify what funding is 
available from existing sources to pay for the required infrastructure and then 
identify any subsequent 'gaps' in funding that CIL then be anticipated to fill, at 
least in part.  

Page 1535



 
 
5.0 CURRENT POSITION 

5.1 The Council prepared information on infrastructure needs, costs and a funding 
gap for the current CIL CS, in connection with supporting the current Local Plan, 
and has continued to maintain a list of required infrastructure schemes and their 
costs, where known, through the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule (IDS).  

5.2 As the emerging Local Plan progresses, a new Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 
will need to be prepared, as part of the Plan's evidence base, in order to identify 
the existing infrastructure capacity, opportunities and constraints in relation to the 
growth proposed in the new Local Plan.  As part of that, the IDS will continue to 
be maintained and updated in relation to all new infrastructure requirements so 
as to provide evidence of any continuing funding gap.   

5.3 At Examination, the Charging Authority should use its Infrastructure Funding 
Statement to set out the projects or types of infrastructure that are proposed to 
be funded in whole or in part by the Levy.  The list of projects or types of 
infrastructure may already have been examined through a plan examination, in 
which case the purpose of providing it for the CIL Examination should be only to 
provide evidence of the infrastructure funding gap, not to re-examine the list. 

5.6 The details of the timing for the CIL Charging Schedule Examination (i.e. the 
latter stage of the process) still need to be determined.  The Examination could 
be held alongside the Local Plan Examination, subject to notifying the Secretary 
of State (in accordance with CIL Regulation 22), or it could be held following an 
adoption of the Local Plan.   This decision is for Senior Officers and Members to 
make, most likely once departmental reorganisation is confirmed and 
implemented and staffing resources are determined and in place. 

 
5.7 There is also the possibility that, in the future, CIL will adapt into an Infrastructure 

Levy. Whilst the Planning for the Future White Paper (August 2020) suggests an 
Infrastructure Levy will be a national obligation on all councils, it is likely that 
rates will need to continue to be set locally and so any work on viability should 
not be abortive. Central Government has advised that until such time as it 
announces details of the new Levy, local authorities should continue to progress 
CIL review work as under current requirements (the same is the case for Local 
Plan preparation). 

 
5.8 To summarise: 

 A CIL Charging Schedule must ensure that a CIL charge is set at the correct 
level, based on (a) viability evidence which must also consider, reflect and 
incorporate all other policy requirements, and (b) evidence on infrastructure 
needs / costs which are necessary to support the growth set by the relevant 
Plan.  

 As the viability of a CIL charge is inexorably linked to local planning policies, 
the preparation of a new Local Plan provides an appropriate and timely 
opportunity to review the CIL Charging Schedule.  The principle of 
undertaking a review of the CIL Charging Schedule alongside the preparation 
of a new Local Plan is thus established. 

Page 1536



 This report therefore seeks Cabinet approval for officers to begin an 'in 
principle' review of the CIL Charging Schedule, to ensure it can be 
appropriately considered and viability tested against emerging Local Plan 
policies and growth / infrastructure requirements as the new Plan takes 
shape. However, the programming details of the CIL Charging Schedule 
review (in particular the timing of the Examination) will need to be determined 
in future once resources are confirmed.  These details can be then reported to 
/ agreed by Members at that time. 

 
 
6.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct implications for sustainability from the recommendations in 

this report.  Ultimately, setting an appropriate CIL charge(s) should help deliver 
sustainable development in West Lancashire. 

 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The new Local Plan will be produced by the Council’s Strategic Planning, 

Regeneration & Implementation Team (or its successor following the planned 
Council reorganisation).  A review of the CIL Charging Schedule will require a 
robust viability study to be prepared by suitably qualified consultants; it will also 
require an Examination in Public (both at cost to the Council).  Input from various 
sections of the Council (as well as external stakeholders and partners) will also 
be needed.   

 
7.2 The costs of preparing a review of the CIL Charging Schedule will be covered by 

existing general revenue budgets. 
 
 
8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 A new CIL Charging Schedule will ultimately be subject to an Examination in 

Public to ensure that all the correct procedures have been followed in preparing 
the document.  The Examination will also assess whether the document can be 
considered “reasonable” or not.  In the event that the Council elects not to pursue 
a review of the CIL CS, there is a risk that CIL rates will be set at an 
inappropriate level with the effect of limiting the amount of infrastructure that may 
be funded and delivered in the future through development, with subsequent 
impacts on the sustainability of the Borough's communities. Failing to have 
appropriately-set CIL rates could also impact on development viability and 
hamper the Council's ability to deliver its housing requirements. By commencing 
a review of the CIL Charging Schedule at this point, the above risks can be 
minimised. 

 
 
9.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no direct implications for health and wellbeing from the 

recommendations in this report.   
 

Page 1537



 
 
 

Background Documents 

There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 

This report does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders. Therefore, no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 

 
 
Appendices 

None. 
 

Page 1538



1 

 

 

 
 

 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUITANY 
COMMITTEE:  24th February 2022 
 
CABINET: 8th March 2022 

 
 

 
Report of: Head of Finance, Procurement & Commercial Services 
 
Contact for further information:  Rebecca Spicer (Extn. 5098)  
               (E-mail: rebecca.spicer@westlancs.gov.uk) 
 

 
SUBJECT: RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK UPDATE & KEY RISK REGISTER 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To set out details of the operation of the Risk Management Framework over the 

last twelve months. 
 

1.2 To recommend changes to the current Risk Management Policy & Toolkit. 
 

1.3 To set out details on the key risks facing the Council and how they are being 
managed. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
2.1 That the continuing effective operation of the Risk Management Framework as 

detailed in the Annual Report 2021 (Appendix A) be noted.  
 
2.2 That the proposed amendments to the Risk Management Policy & Strategy 

(Appendix B) and Toolkit (Appendix C) be considered and agreed comments be 
forwarded to Cabinet for consideration. 

 
2.3     That the progress made in relation to the management of the risks shown in the 

Key Risk Register (Appendix D) be considered and agreed comments be 
forwarded to Cabinet for consideration. 

 
3.0       RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
3.1     That the continuing effective operation of the Risk Management Framework as 

detailed in the Annual Report 2021 (Appendix A) be noted.  
 
3.2    That, subject to consideration of the agreed comments of the Executive Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee, the proposed amendments to the Risk Management 

Page 1539

Agenda Item 11



2 

 

Policy & Strategy (Appendix B) and Toolkit (Appendix C) be approved. 
 
3.3     That subject to consideration of the agreed comments of the Executive Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee, the progress made in relation to the management of the 
risks shown in the Key Risk Register (Appendix D) be endorsed. 

 
 
 

 
4.0 BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 The Council continues to recognise the importance of identifying, evaluating and 

managing all key and service risks that could affect the achievement of its 
priorities, objectives and activities.  Risk management is fundamental to the 
Council’s governance and contributes greatly to the successful delivery of 
services and the key priorities. 

 
4.2 Dealing with risk is very much a management activity but there is clear 

responsibility and accountability for Members in the operation of the Council 
business which directly involves issues of risk management. This report provides 
Members with an oversight of the effectiveness of the risk management 
framework and enables Members to seek assurance about the effectiveness of 
control arrangements. 

 
4.3 Central to the operation of an effective framework are the Council's risk 

management policy and toolkit.  These documents are reviewed annually, and 
changes made to improve the documents where appropriate. Members are 
requested to approve both documents on an annual basis. 

 
4.4 Within this report is a summary of the management of the corporate key risks so 

that Members may satisfy themselves that the risks are being adequately 
managed.  The Key Risk Register is reported to Members on a biannual basis. 

 
5.0 ANNUAL RISK REPORT 
 
5.1 The 2021 Annual Report (Appendix A) highlights the positive improvements to 

risk management that have been made over the last 12 months.  These include a 
new policy and toolkit, a suite of training webinars, the introduction of risk impact 
categories, and a quarterly risk newsletter. 

 
5.2 The Annual Report highlights the aims and objectives for 22/23 which include 

conducting a risk maturity review to benchmark the council's current risk maturity, 
to further develop the risk culture, and to strengthen joined up working across 
service areas.  

 
6.0 CHANGES TO THE RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY & TOOLKIT 
 
6.1 The Risk Management Policy (Appendix B) and Toolkit (Appendix C) continue to 

be reviewed to ensure that they reflect best practice, new developments, and 
organisational change. The updated documents were endorsed by the Audit and 
Governance Committee on 26th January 2022. 

 

Page 1540



3 

 

6.2 Both documents have been reviewed and improvements have been made to 
ensure that they remain fit for purpose and user friendly.   The term 'Corporate 
Risk Register' has been replaced with 'Key Risk Register' as it was found that the 
term 'corporate' led to confusion with regards to whether the risk was a key risk or 
a cross service risk.  The documents have been condensed and text represented 
with images where possible to aid understanding. 

 
6.3 The policy has been renamed policy and strategy, and includes a detailed 

strategy outlining the aims of risk management within the Council which focus on 
further embedding risk management in all aspects of the Council's operations. 

 
7.0 KEY RISK REGISTER 
 
7.1 It is considered good practice to include an update to Members periodically on 

progress against key risks. This monitoring should summarise general direction of 
travel in order to clearly demonstrate the progress being made on specific risk 
items (see section 6.7). If all is well then no discussion may be required; if all is 
not well then it is easy to identify the issues to pursue.  As part of the Council’s 
risk management framework, key risks are reviewed quarterly by CMT. 

 
7.2 Service risks are reviewed quarterly by Heads of Service. It is not necessary for 

Cabinet to know about every risk but rather to know what the key risks are, 
whose job it is to deal with them, and that they are being actively managed.  
 

7.3 Key risks are those risks which if they occur would have the greatest impact on 
the Council, the achievement of its priorities, objectives and activities.  They are 
strategic high-level Council risks. The Key Risk Register (Appendix D) gives a 
summary of these risks, the residual risk score and the work that is being 
undertaken to mitigate them, although many of these risks will have already been 
the subject of separate committee reports. In addition, more detailed information 
regarding each of the key risks, the scoring and internal controls that mitigate the 
risk are contained on the Council's Pentana system. 

 
7.4 The assessment methodology used to score the risks is detailed in the Risk 

Management Policy (Appendix B) at section 24, pages 14-15. 
 
7.5 Two new risks have been added to the register since it was last presented, a risk 

relating to external funding uncertainty and a risk regarding recruitment and 
retention of key staff.  

 
7.6 No risks have been removed from the register since it was last presented. 
 
7.7 Unless detailed in the table below the scoring of the risks on the Key Risk 

Register remains unchanged from the last report presented 6 months ago. 
 

Title of Risk Previous 
Risk Score 

Current Risk 
Score 

Reasoning 

Potential Treasury 
Management 
Investment Losses 

8 
Concerned 

4 Cautious The pessimistic economic forecast 
predictions are that interest rates will 
increase materially and therefore the 
yields will follow suit 
 
 

Page 1541



4 

 

Achieving a 
balanced General 
Revenue Account 
Budget Position 

8 
Concerned 

6 Cautious The recent GRA midyear outturn forecast 
and the previous year's financial 
performance both have reduced the 
perceived budget gap significantly. 

Failure to deliver 
Skelmersdale 
Town Centre 
phase 1 retail 
development 

4 Cautious 2 
Comfortable 

There was no procurement challenge 
made therefore the likelihood of the risk 
materialising is reduced. 

COVID -19 6 Cautious 4 Cautious There is an increased protection offered 
against the disease from vaccinations. 

 
 
7.8 There are currently no key risks that fall into the "critical" category.  An overview 

of risk scoring is detailed in the diagram below. 

 
8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no significant sustainability impacts associated with this report and, in 

particular, no significant impact on crime and disorder.  
 
9.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 The successful management of the key risks facing the Council will ensure that 

resources are used effectively and efficiently.  
 
10.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 The continued review of the risk management framework is essential to ensure 

the successful achievement of the Council's objectives, demonstrate effective 
provision of its services and the maximisation of opportunities. If we are unable to 
maintain an effective framework, we could endanger the achievement of our 
vision and priorities. By continually monitoring and reviewing the risk 
management framework it should continue to improve, develop and meet best 
practice requirements. 

 
11.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report. 
   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1542



5 

 

Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in section 100D(5)  of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

The decision does not have a direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders, therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 

Appendix 
 
Appendix A – Risk Management Annual Report 2021 
Appendix B – Updated Risk Management Policy & Strategy 
Appendix C – Updated Risk Management Toolkit 
Appendix D – Key Risk Report 

Page 1543





 
Produced by Rebecca Spicer, Risk Management & Insurance Officer  

Dated: 30th November 2021. 

West Lancashire 

Borough Council  

 

Annual Risk 

Management 

Report  

2021 

P
age 1545



 

 

 

 

 
  

Annual Risk Management Report 2021 – Summary   
Improvements have been made to the risk management framework to ensure that 

there is a clear, consistent and embedded approach to risk management across 

the Council.  Improvements include: 

• An updated risk management policy  

• A formalised risk appetite statement 

• A new 4x4 risk matrix 

• Reviewed and updated key and service risk registers 

• Detailed and scored internal controls 

• New and more frequent methods of reporting risk to CMT 

In order to strengthen the risk framework, efforts have been made to ensure that 

there is accessible and updated information and tools available to officers. These 

include:  

• A risk management tool kit 

• 9 risk impact categories to support accurate risk measurement 

 
To develop the risk culture and maturity of the organisation, a range of 

mechanisms have been developed to increase risk engagement, knowledge, 

skills and officer’s confidence when discussing risk. These include: 

• Mandatory induction risk training sessions for all members of staff  

• Refresher risk and Pentana training for all staff  

• Risk webinars and toolbox talks available to all members of staff  

• Refresher training for Members 

• 6 monthly "lunch and learn" sessions on different risk topics 

• A range of risk identification and support workshops available to all 

service areas who want to review and improve their risk registers 

• ALARM membership to allow networking with other risk managers 

• A quarterly risk newsletter "Risk Roundup" shared with all staff and 

Members 

• Mandatory risk discussions at quarterly DMT meetings 

 

New Risk 

Management 

Toolkit 

9 Risk Impact 

Categories 

 

 ALARM 

Membership 

Quarterly Risk 

Newsletter: ‘Risk 

Round Up’ 

P
age 1546



 

 

The Risk Management Annual Report is a summary of the key risk management activities, outcomes, performance highlights and challenges which have occurred over 2021.  The 

report draws upon key findings from the last year established through consultation activity, benchmarking activity, and review work.  

Overview  

The Council undertook an internal strategic risk management review during 2021 which looked at the risk management framework with particular emphasis on risk structures, 

processes, and reporting. The purpose of the review was to ensure that the Council is in the best possible position to identify and respond to risk and that all components of the 

risk management framework are aligned with best practice. Consequently, several changes to the risk management framework and process have been made to improve methods 

of recording, assessing, and reporting strategic risk.  

The council went "back to basics" and introduced a new policy, risk matrix and formulated the risk appetite.  Understanding of the new framework was accompanied by a series 

of internal and external live training sessions, webinars and a toolkit which explains risk management and the council's process. 

There has been considerable work carried out to scan the horizon for potential risks.  Surveys and workshops took place with the assistance of an external risk consultant.  The 

Risk Management Officer will continue to monitor global and national risk trends, intelligence from risk organisations and lessons learnt from other local authorities as well as 

internal lessons learnt to assist in feeding this back into service delivery. Ongoing development work to progress the risk culture includes webinars, training sessions and workshops 

to ensure that officer's knowledge, confidence, and awareness of risk is strengthened at all levels.  Framework reviews, a risk maturity review and training will remain a focal point 

of risk activity throughout 2022, enabling officers to confidently identify emerging threats and opportunities and manage these as effectively as possible.  

Ares for Improvement 

The Risk & Insurance Officer has considered the risk framework, strategy, reporting structure and risk culture such as how risk awareness is communicated across the Council and 

how risk management differs in individual service areas.  Although risk registers are in place for individual service areas and some projects, a consistent use of Pentana and regular 

risks discussions is not consistent across service areas.  Mechanisms to strengthen joined up working across services areas could be improved. 

Annual Risk Management Report 2021  

Risk Management Survey Responses 

A risk survey was distributed to all staff to identify areas of weakness in the current framework.  Those areas requiring improvement will be included in a 12-month work plan. 

• 155 responses were received 

• 15.48% of officers stated they were unsure or did not know where they could access the Risk Management Policy & 31% were unsure or did not know how they could 

access the Risk Management Toolkit 

• 37% did not know or were unsure of who their Risk Management Champion is 

• 33.2% had not read the Risk Round Up 

• Key themes include the confusion of health and safety risks with strategic risk, Officers wanting a simplified framework, further training on both risk and Pentana being 

required, and that further work is required to improve the risk culture. 

P
age 1547



 

• Risk Management Policy & Strategy An updated risk management policy has been developed with the view to ensuring that officers have a clear and comprehensive suite of 

documents which support risk management at all levels.  The risk management policy contains a formalised risk appetite statement and risk strategy. 

• Risk Impact Categories: The challenges associated with measuring risk accurately in complex environments has presented the requirement for a flexible and nuanced way to measure 

risk. A set of risk impact categories has been designed to guide officers when measuring risk.  In addition, risk impact categories allow the council to more accurately assess the 

impact of a risk to ascertain whether, for example, the impact is financial, reputational, or environmental.  It also allows for the grouping together of similar risks. 

• Key & Service Risks: Risks have been reviewed to ensure that the key risk register and service risk registers are reflective of the current threats which face the Council. The relevant 

review work has been completed through workshops and discussions.  Internal controls have been updated and scored to ensure that they are reflective of current activity being 

undertaken to reduce each risk.  

Tools and Techniques  

In order to improve the consistency of risk management across service areas and ensure that interdependencies are identified and tracked effectively, several changes have been made 

throughout the year.  

• Risk Matrix: A new 4x4 risk matrix was developed to force a decision to be made on risks as too many risks were sitting in the middle ground of the previous 5x5 risk matrix. 

• Risk Management Toolkit: A risk toolkit has been developed to support the risk management policy. The document includes key descriptive information about the risk framework, 

process and roles and responsibilities. The toolkit has been developed to ensure officers have accessible and clear information to use when progressing through the risk 

management process.  

• Risk Reporting: The risk reporting format has been updated to include regular reporting of Corporate and Critical risks to CMT.  

• Risk Identification & Horizon Scanning Workshops: Several risk workshops have been facilitated at both a corporate and service level enabling risk focused discussions to support the 

identification of emerging risk.   A horizon scanning survey and workshop took place with the assistance of an external consultant to make sure that as far as reasonably practicable 

the council has considered new and emerging threats and opportunities and has updated risk registers accordingly. 

Risk Communication & Awareness  

• Risk Training Sessions & Webinars: A series of live internal and external training sessions have been delivered.  There have been bespoke team training workshops, a series of risk 

webinars and live and pre-recorded Pentana training sessions.  6 monthly risk "lunch time learning" sessions are offered to all staff. For those staff without internet access a risk 

management toolbox talk is available.  Risk management training has formed a mandatory part of the induction process. 

• Risk Newsletter: A quarterly risk newsletter "Risk Round Up" is circulated to all Members and staff with the aim of sharing important news stories, risk trends and updates. 

• Risk Discussion at DMTs: Risk is now a mandatory agenda item at service DMTs. 

• Risk & Procurement: The Early Procurement Engagement Form has been amended to include a section in which the risks of are encouraged to be added to Pentana. 

• Risk Management Intranet Page: Houses all risk webinars, details of service risk management champions, newsletters, and key risk documents. 

 

 

1. Key Activities & Performance Highlights  

 
Risk Management Framework  

The Risk Management Policy is a key document that provides a basis for a structured and coherent approach for the Council’s risk management and includes its risk appetite, its 

methodology for identifying threats and opportunities and the long-term improvement plan for developing risk maturity.  

P
age 1548



 

2. Audit Comments 

3. Aims & Objectives for 2022-23 

 There are several aims for the 2022-23 period that the Risk Management & Insurance Officer is working to progress.  

• 12 Month Risk Management Work Plan: Based on information from the staff risk survey, areas of weakness in the framework will be identified and a 12-month risk work plan 

put in place to remedy this. 

• Risk Maturity Review:  An external consultant will carry out a review of the authority's risk maturity and any areas of weakness will be worked into the work plan.  The council 

will aim to become more mature in its risk management with each year that progresses. 

• Risk Workshops & Horizon Scanning: The Risk Management Officer will continue to promote risk horizon scanning workshops to service areas and assist in providing training 

sessions on carrying out these workshops so that services are confident in performing risk horizon scanning.  Information, trends, and intelligence from a range of global 

and national risk sources will be communicated to teams so that this can be fed back into service delivery. 

• E-learning Package: The development and implementation of an eLearning package is in the initial planning stages.  Webinars will be moved from the intranet to the 

Learning Pool platform which will allow the Risk Officer to monitor the number of staff completing training.  Officers will be required to pass a 5-question test to complete 

the training module.  

• Data and Performance Monitoring: Where relevant, the Risk Management Officer will continue to align the monitoring of risk with performance indicators to strengthen risk 

management. 

• Risk Culture: We will continue to embed the importance of risk management at every level of the authority and encourage staff not to view risk management in silos, but 

to understand how a risk in their service area may affect other services and the council's achievement of its overall aims, objectives, priorities and vision.  Work will be 

caried out with Risk Champions to that they fully appreciate the benefit that their role brings to the organisation and how critical they are to the risk management process. 

• Joined up working: Mechanisms to strengthen joined up working across services areas could be improved. Consideration will therefore be given to implementing specific 

working groups with the aim of sharing more information between departments. 

The overall assessment of risk management arrangements cited in the Head of Internal Annual Report and Opinion 2021 is as follows: 

The Council has launched its new Risk Management Policy and Toolkit and staff and Members have received training by the Risk and Insurance Officer and a representative from the 

Council's Insurer.  The launch of this new policy and toolkit will ensure that Risk Management is embedded throughout the Council.  All Council risks are in the process of being 

uploaded on to the Pentana Risk system by Senior Managers and Heads of Service which will allow for routine monitoring, implementation of mitigations and report 

 

The Risk Management & Insurance Officer has been working collaboratively with internal audit and has built on recommendations referenced by Internal Audit in their 2019 audit 

report. Not only has significant progress been made to address elements of the risk management framework arising from previous Internal Audit activity, but development work is 

also being driven from a staff risk management survey.  A detailed 12-month plan will be developed with the aim of strengthening those areas of weakness identified in the survey.  

A robust and effective risk management framework is an essential underpinning of risk-based auditing and current activity will allow for internal audit activity to be appropriately 

positioned relative to the Council’s 3 lines of defence.   Risk management is a critical part of corporate governance and this is acknowledged by the risk function. 

 

P
age 1549





1 

 

 

 

Risk Management Policy & Strategy 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 2: January 2022 

Page 1551



2 

 

Contents 

  Page Number 

1. Risk Management Policy Statement 3 

2. Our Strategy 4 

3. Risk Assessment 4-5 

4. Service Risk Registers 5 

5. Key Risk Register 5 

6. Risk Ownership and Management 5 

7. Risk Reporting & Monitoring 5 

8. Risks and the Decision-Making Process 6 

9. Role of CMT & Members 6 

10. Role of Heads of Service 6 

11. Role of Senior Managers 7 

12. Role of the Risk Manager 7 

13. Role of the Risk Management Working Group (RMWG) 7 

14. Role of Risk Management Champions 7 

15. Role of Employees 8 

16. Role of Audit 8 

17. Governance Arrangements 8 

18. Skills, Expertise and Guidance 8 

19. Making Others Aware of Risk Management 9 

20. Maintenance and Development of the Risk Management 
Framework 

9 

21. Risk Management Process 9-10 

22. Performance Management 10 

23. Risk Appetite Statement 10-13 

24. Corporate Risk Assessment 14-15 

 

Page 1552



3 

 

 

1. Risk Management Policy Statement 

This Policy Statement outlines the Council's commitment to managing risk which it 
acknowledges is fundamental to effective Corporate Governance. It should be read in 
conjunction with the Council's Risk Management Toolkit (separate document).  

We recognise risk management as a vital activity that underpins and forms part of our vision, 
values and strategic objectives, (including operating effectively and efficiently), as well as 
providing confidence to our community.  Risk is present in everything we do, and it is our 
policy to identify, assess and manage key areas of risk on a proactive basis.  We seek to 
embed risk management throughout the operation, and in the development of West 
Lancashire Borough Council.  

Risk management needs to be embedded throughout all processes, projects and strategic 
decisions.  This includes procurement and contracting, and we will aim to ensure 
partnerships and third-party relationships are fully compliant with the risk management policy 
and strategy of the Council.   

The aim of our risk management framework is to be fit for purpose, reflect our size and the 
nature of our various operations, and use our skills and capabilities to the full. Risk 
management is most effective as an enabling tool, so we need a consistent, communicated 
and formalised process across West Lancashire Borough Council.  

It is important to define the level of risk exposure that the Council considers acceptable. This 
creates a clear picture of which risks will threaten the ability of West Lancashire Borough 
Council to achieve its objectives. This results in our risk appetite.  

The risk management policy statement and supporting documentation form an integrated 
framework that supports us in managing risk effectively.  In implementing our risk 
management framework, we provide assurance to all stakeholders that risk identification and 
management plays a key role in the delivery of our strategy and related objectives.  

We will involve, empower and give ownership to all staff to identify and manage risk. Risk 
management activity will be regularly supported through discussion and appropriate action 
by senior management. This will include a thorough review of significant risks, evaluating 
mitigation controls and where required, establishing supporting actions to reduce them to an 
acceptable level.  

Managing risks will be an integral part of both strategic and operational planning and the day 
to day running, monitoring, development and maintaining of the Council. 

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey 

Chief Operating Officer 

West Lancashire Borough Council 

Date: January 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1553



4 

 

 

2. Our Strategy 

The purpose of the Risk Management Framework is to enable us to effectively manage 

potential opportunities and threats to us achieving our objectives. 

 

Our aims are to: 

• Have a robust framework in place to identify, assess and manage the risks facing the 
Council. 
 

• Minimise the impact and/or likelihood of risks occurring and to minimise the total cost 

of risk. 

 

• Have the ability to anticipate and respond to various changes. 

 

• Make risk management an integral part of the planning and decision making 

processes of the Council, so that it is used as a component in all critical decisions. 

 

• View risk management as not solely a compliance issue, but rather a way of viewing 

our strategy and operations with a significant impact on long-term viability. 

 

• Develop a risk aware culture ensuring that employees understand the benefits of risk 

management and that they have the knowledge, skills and tools to embed risk 

management processes. 

 

• Develop a more integrated risk management approach by identifying risk at all levels 

of the Council.  In order to do this we must ensure that all staff, at all levels, operate 

with a greater understanding of the importance of risk mitigation in the fulfilment of 

their duties. 

 

• Develop the use of risk management in our dealings with third parties such as 
through partnerships, contracts, and other new service delivery models. 
 

 

In order to move towards a more formal, integrated and embedded approach, we recognise 

that such fundamental changes in approach and mind-set cannot be achieved ‘overnight’.   

 

It is acknowledged that fundamental to the success of risk management is that an according 

level of training is provided. 

3. Risk Assessment 

Risk can arise directly or indirectly from every action that we take, project that we deliver and 
contract that we enter.  Risk assessment is therefore an integral part of all Council activity.   

It is the Council’s policy that all substantive activities should be subject to risk assessment. 
This includes all significant projects, for example, financial developments, legislative 
developments, human resource initiatives, health and safety, communication upgrades, 
partnerships and IT developments.  

The Council's Risk Management Process, detailed in the Risk Management Toolkit, should 
be followed. The risk assessment part of the process requires the impact of each appropriate  

Page 1554



5 

 

 

classification category to be scored and plotted against the likelihood of the risk occurring.  
This is plotted on the Council's Corporate Risk Matrix to determine the risk score. 

The score determines whether the risk sits within the Council's Risk Appetite and 
consequently the action that is required to be taken.  The risk is then monitored and 
reviewed, and further action taken as appropriate.  

4. Service Risk Registers 

Services risks are operational risks which are faced in the day to day delivery of services.  
They are risks that could have an effect on the successful achievement of the service 
priorities, objectives, and activities.  Managers are responsible for ensuring that all significant 
risks are included in service risk registers.  Risks are entered onto the service register using 
Pentana, the Council's risk management information system. The risk register describes the 
risk event, identifies who the risk has been assigned to, who is responsible for managing the 
risk, potential effects, internal controls and an inherent, current and target risk assessment. 
Risks are deactivated when the risk no longer presents, and new risks added as soon as 
they are identified.  Service risks are not deactivated without approval from the appropriate 
line manager. 

5. Key Risk Register  

This records those risks which if they occur, would have the greatest impact on the Council, 
the achievement of its priorities, objectives and activities.  They are strategic high-level 
Council risks. 

Key risks cannot be added or deactivated without agreement from the appropriate Head of 
Service.   

6. Risk Ownership and Management 

Every risk is assigned to an officer who has day to day responsibility of the risk and for 
updating the risk register, they are the risk owner.  The risk manager is the designated 
member of staff (or management group) who carries the ultimate responsibility for ensuring 
that the risk is being effectively managed by the risk owner.  The risk manager along with the 
risk owner is responsible for agreeing and delivering the action plan to control the risk and 
monitoring progress against it.  This is a key element in the risk management process as it is 
crucial that risks are not just identified and assessed but that they are also effectively 
controlled and monitored. 

Internal control is key to effective risk management and plays a significant part in the 
management of risks.  Actions, procedures, and operations undertaken to transfer, 
terminate, tolerate or treat a risk are detailed on the Risk Register.  Internal controls are 
scored as to their effectiveness and allocated to a control owner.  Risk mitigation actions are 
referenced in the Service Action Plan. 

7. Risk Reporting and Monitoring 

Monitoring reports on risks are produced on a six-monthly basis for the consideration of 
Cabinet and Executive Overview and Scrutiny, and on a quarterly basis for the consideration 
of CMT. 

Heads of Service are responsible for monitoring their service risk registers on a quarterly 
basis.  They are also responsible for making sure that any key risks within their Service are 
added to and, when appropriate, removed from the key risk register. 

 

Page 1555



6 

 

 

 

8. Risks and the Decision-Making Process 

Risks need to be addressed at the point at which decisions are being taken. Where 
Members and officers are asked to make decisions, they should be advised of the risks 
associated with the recommendations being made. Consequently, the Council needs to be 
able to demonstrate that it has taken reasonable steps to consider the risks involved in a 
decision. 

All reports requiring key decisions, including new and amended policies and strategies, must 
include a section to demonstrate that risks have been addressed. This does not guarantee 
that decisions will always be right, but the important point is to demonstrate that risks have 
been considered and to have evidence that will support this. 

9. Role of CMT & Members 

• Approve the risk management policy & strategy, and framework.  
• Review the key risks to the Council and the controls in place to manage those risks. 
• Regularly review the risk management policy and toolkit to ensure it underpins the 

organisation’s strategy and objectives.  
• Agree on the risk appetite of the Council. 
• Review the key risks across the Council, consider their importance against strategic 

objectives and action further controls.  
• Allocate sufficient resources to address significant risks.  
• Create an environment and culture where risk management is promoted, facilitated, 

and appropriately undertaken. 
• Champion risk management activities and raise awareness of the benefits of 

managing risk effectively. 
 

10. Role of Heads of Service 

• Implement policies on risk management within their Service including ensuring that 
up to date risk registers are maintained. 

• Review their service risk registers, as a minimum, on a quarterly basis to satisfy 
themselves that adequate controls for risks are in place. 

• Review their service risk registers and ensure that key risks are added to and 
removed from the key risk register when appropriate. 

• Review the risk management system to ensure that it is functioning effectively and 
that any further actions required are detailed in service action plans. 

• Embed the importance of risk management within their Service and ensure that 
strategic risks are communicated to employees and that day to day operational risks 
are communicated to senior management. 

• Determine the nature and extent of the principal risks we are willing to take in 
achieving our strategic objectives.  

• Implement risk management systems to identify the risks we are facing and to make 
a robust assessment of the most significant risks. 

• Determine how significant risks should be managed or mitigated to reduce the 
likelihood of their incidence and / or their impact. 

• Carry out service risk assessments as part of service action planning. 
• Ensure risk management processes and risk reporting procedures are completed. 
• Monitor the key risks in their area of responsibility. 
• Monitor and review the effectiveness of the actions. 

 
 
 

Page 1556



7 

 

11. Role of Senior Managers 

• Manage risk effectively in their area of responsibility.  
• Complete the risk management process as per the Council's Framework.  
• Complete, track and monitor the progress of action plans and performance 

indicators. 
 

12. Role of the Risk Manager 

• Coordinate the organisation’s risk management activity.  
• Develop and maintain the risk management framework and tools.  
• Highlight any significant new or worsening risks to the corporate management team 

for review and action.  
• Assist in the delivery of the risk management process across the organisation.  
• Provide risk management guidance, training and advice.  
• Provide the link between risk management and other related disciplines 
• Promote and share best practice risk management across the organisation. 

 

13. Role of the Risk Management Working Group (RMWG) 

Although every member of staff carries some responsibility for the management of risk, the 
Council identifies the Risk Management Working Group (RMWG) as responsible for 
maintaining and developing the Risk Management Framework.  Heads of Service nominate 
Risk Management Champions to represent each service area on the RMWG. 

The RMWG meets twice yearly and more frequently if required, to consider the following; 

• Issues and improvements to the Risk Management Framework 

• Risk management training requirements 

• Risks facing the Council 

• Disseminating good practice requirements for risk management, 

• How to further improve and embed risk management culture within the Council, to 
support its decision-making process, strategies and operations. 

14. Role of Risk Management Champions 

The Risk Management Champion is responsible for maintaining and developing the Risk 
Management Framework within their Service, supported by the RMWG. The Risk 
Management Champion’s role is to:    

• Attend meetings of the RMWG or nominate a suitable substitute when unable to 
attend.  

• Disseminate information discussed at the RMWG to their Service and feedback to 
the group accordingly. 

• Support their Head of Service in implementing the Risk Management Framework 
within their Service. 

• Raise any issues regarding risk management with the Risk and Insurance Officer. 

• Advise the Risk and Insurance Officer if any risk management or Pentana training is 
required within their service. 

• Give advice and guidance to managers/officers within their Service on preparing risk 
assessments for committee reports. 

• Provide advice and guidance to those updating risks on the Pentana system. 

• Help to promote and embed Risk Management within their Service to engage staff in 
the management of risk. 

• Communicate the benefits of risk management across operational areas. 
 

Page 1557



8 

 

 

15. Role of Employees 

Each employee has a role to take in the Risk Management Process and should; 

• Be familiar with, understand, accept, and implement the Risk Management 
Framework. 

• Report inefficient, unnecessary, or unworkable controls. 
 

• Report loss events and near-miss incidents. 

• Cooperate with management on incident investigations. 

• Ensure that visitors and contractors comply with procedures. 

• Monitor work on an ongoing basis to identify new and emerging risks and escalate as 
required. 

16. Role of Audit  

Internal Audit evaluate risk management processes continuously to provide assurance to 
Members and Senior Management that significant risks are being managed appropriately 
and that the Risk Management and Internal Control Framework is operating effectively.  Our 
External Auditors may also conduct separate, independent reviews of the Risk Management 
Framework from time to time. The findings from this work will be included in the annual 
report to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

17. Governance Arrangements 

The Authority’s Risk Management Framework is critically important in the context of 
governance and the Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility for ensuring that 
the Framework operates effectively.   

The purpose of the Audit and Governance Committee is to support the Council’s Corporate 
Governance responsibilities and to provide independent assurance in relation to internal 
control, risk management and governance.  The Audit and Governance Committee has a 
strong focus on risk and internal control as well as on good financial management.  

An annual report is produced for Cabinet, Audit & Governance and Executive Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on the operation of the Risk Management Framework so that they can 
assess its effectiveness. 

18. Skills, Expertise and Guidance 

Having established roles and accountabilities for risk management, the Council must ensure 
that it has the necessary skills and expertise to deliver this Framework. This will be 
accomplished through an on-going programme of risk management training and 
development.  

All documents relevant to Risk Management are available via the Council intranet 
http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/rules-and-regulations/risk-management.aspx which contains 
appropriate guidance to assist officers in carrying out their duties effectively. 

A Risk Management Toolkit provides practical examples of how to apply the Risk 
Management Process. 

Risk Management Training is mandatory for all Council employees and is included in the list 
of 'essential/required' training for Members.   

 
 

Page 1558

http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/rules-and-regulations/risk-management.aspx


9 

 

 

19. Making Others Aware of Risk Management 

The Council recognises the potential for benefits and rewards from partnership working and 
it also recognises the risks involved. Whilst this risk can be managed by the Council through 
formal contracts and partnership agreements that clearly allocate risks to the appropriate 
parties, failure by either or any one of those parties to manage their risks can have serious 
consequences for the other(s). 

Consequently, before entering into the partnership, joint working or business contract 
arrangements, prospective partners and contractors should be asked to state their approach 
to risk management and to provide certain minimum evidence to support their response.  

It is recommended that when entering partnerships, joint working or contracts with outside 
agencies that a project risk register is created and is maintained on the Pentana System until 
all associated risks are realised. 

20. Maintenance and Development of the Risk Management Framework 

This Risk Management Policy along with the Toolkit are reviewed on an annual basis. The 
results of this review will initially be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee and 
Executive Overview & Scrutiny Committee in January of each year for detailed consideration 
before being submitted to Cabinet for formal approval in March. 

21. Risk Management Process 

The Council's Risk Management Process has 6 key stages: 

 

1. Risk / Opportunity Identification - Officers carry out risk / opportunity identification 
and examine all identified risks and link them to the appropriate Council, Service or 
project objectives and outcomes.  

2. Risk Analysis – Identified risks are reviewed so that similar risks can be grouped 
and classified according to the likelihood of them occurring and the impact they could  

 

Page 1559



10 

 

have. The purpose of risk analysis is to comprehend the nature of risk and its 
characteristics including, where appropriate, the level of risk.  It involves a detailed 
consideration of uncertainties, risk sources, consequences, likelihood, events, 
scenarios, and control effectiveness.  The Council recognises that an event can have 
multiple causes and consequences that can affect multiple objectives. 

3. Risk Evaluation -. Officers compare the results of the risk analysis with the 
established risk criteria to determine where additional action is required.  This leads 
to a decision about treatment of the risk.  The Council recognises that risk evaluation 
is critical to supporting decisions. 
 

 
4. Risk Treatment & Management – Officers select and implement options for 

addressing risk.   Risk treatment involves an iterative process of formulating and 
selecting risk treatment options, planning and implementing risk treatment, assessing 
the effectiveness of that treatment, deciding whether the remaining risk is acceptable 
and if not taking further treatment. 
 

5. Reporting & Recording - The risk management process and its outcomes are 
documented and reported through appropriate mechanisms.  

 

6. Monitor & Review -   The purpose of monitoring and review is to assure and 
improve the quality and effectiveness of process design, implementation, and 
outcomes.  It takes place in all stages of the process.   Monitoring and review 
includes planning, gathering and analysing information, recording results and 
providing feedback. 
 

Detailed information and guidance on each of these stages is documented in the Risk 
Management Toolkit. 
 

22. Performance Management 

The Council measures risk management performance against key performance indicators, 
which are periodically reviewed for appropriateness.  It periodically measures progress 
against, and deviation from, the risk management plan and reviews the effectiveness of the 
risk management framework. 

The success of the risk management framework is measured by a review of the risk maturity 
of the Council, with an aim to becoming gradually more mature. 

23. Risk Appetite Statement 

The Council defines Risk Appetite as the amount of risk it is willing to pursue or retain in 
pursuit of its objectives.  The purpose of Risk Appetite is to set out the Council's attitude to 
risk and to provide consistency in the decision-making process.  It details how much risk is 
acceptable and assists in identifying those risks that need to be managed. 
 
Risk Appetite levels range on a scale from low to high depending on our willingness to 
accept either Inherent or Residual Risk.  Inherent Risk is “the exposure arising from a 
specific risk before any action has been taken to manage it”.  Residual Risk is “the exposure 
arising from a specific risk after action has been taken to manage it and making the 
assumption that the action is effective”.  The Risk Appetite helps us to determine our 
tolerance to individual initiatives, projects or programmes, which enable the delegation of 
risk management responsibilities, with clear responsibility thresholds and escalation paths.  
 
Each risk is considered against the Risk Appetite for a number of categories. These Appetite 
Levels are defined in the Councils Risk Appetite Statement. 

Page 1560



11 

 

 
 
 
West Lancashire Borough Council Risk Appetite Statement 
 
        Key    
 

 

 

 
The Council operates within a medium to significant overall risk range. The council's lowest 
risk appetite relates to Health & Safety risk, including employee health and safety, with a 
higher risk appetite towards its reputational, financial, people, environmental and physical 
systems and asset risks. This means that in general risks will be considered on a cost 
benefit analysis unless they involve health and safety, legislation, and compliance, political 
or operational risks where control is weighted higher than acceptance of the risk. 
 
Reputational 
 
The 'reputational' category refers to the risk of a significantly adverse or damaging 
perception of the Council by the general public and West Lancashire Borough residents. 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council has a concerned approach with regards to any project or activity 
that would seriously threaten its reputation.  It understands however that not all stakeholders 
will have the same opinion on projects, programmes of work and service delivery and so 
each project/ programme will be considered with regards to its reputational impact. 
 
 
Legislative / Regulatory / Compliance 
 
The "legislative / regulatory / compliance" category  refers to the risk of successful legal 
action being taken against the Council, or of the Council breaching law in its activities and 
operations, and is also the risk of losses, possibly fines, and other sanctions arising from 
non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
 
 
 

Risk Type Risk 
Appetite 

Reputational 
 

3 

Legislative / Regulatory / 
Compliance 
 

2 

Financial 
 

3 

People 
 

3 

Health & Safety 
 

1 

Operational 
 

2 

Environmental 
 

3 

Physical Systems & 
Assets 

3 

Political 
 

2 

Ratings Risk Appetite Meanings 

1 Low Residual risk only acceptable 
in extreme 
situations (e.g. where the 
risk has a very low 
impact and likelihood) 

2 Medium Residual risk is managed 
down on a cost-benefit basis.  
A medium amount of risk is 
acceptable however, on 
balance, control is weighted 
higher than acceptance.   

3 Significant Residual risk is accepted to 
significant levels. 
Significant implies a pure 
cost-benefit approach. 
 

4 High Residual risk is accepted to 
high levels 
 

Page 1561



12 

 

 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council is committed to a high level of compliance with relevant 
legislation, regulation, sector codes and standards as well as internal policies and sound 
corporate governance principles.  Identified breaches of compliance will be remedied as 
soon as practicable. The Council has no appetite for deliberate or purposeful violations of 
legislative or regulatory requirements. 
 
Financial 
 
The “financial” category relates to the risk of financial pressures affecting the Council's ability 
to provide services. 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council is willing to take calculated financial risks in order to achieve its 
objectives, subject to legislation being complied with. 
 
People 
 
The "people" category relates to the risk of the Council's ability to attract and retain 
competent and motivated staff to achieve its objectives. 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council is committed to investing in strategies to attract, manage, 
motivate, develop and retain competent staff to achieve its strategic goals.  Activities that 
threaten to diminish its ability to meet this commitment require careful consideration. 
 
Health & Safety 
 
The "health & safety" category refers to the risk of hazards that can lead to the harm, injury, 
death, or illness of staff or citizens. 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council has zero tolerance for risk being taken with regards to health & 
safety. 
 
Operational 
 
The "operational" category refers to the risk of not being able to provide Council services 
and the effect that this has on customer satisfaction.  It also relates to the risk of fraudulent 
activity occurring. 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council places great importance on ensuring that its activities and 
services operate efficiently and effectively.  There is a low appetite for any business 
interruptions that may jeopardise its standards of services, operations or could lead to a loss 
of satisfaction by its citizens, customers and stakeholders. 
 
Fraud could arise from either internal or external parties who attempt to defraud the Council 
by circumventing its processes and controls, including those operated by our third-party 
providers (e.g. within our outsourced activities). 
 
The Council has a commitment to high ethical standards and a desire to prevent and deter 
harm to its stakeholders. It seeks to limit the risks associated with fraud, particularly internal 
fraud and has a zero appetite for any fraud. 
 
Environmental 
 
The "environmental" category refers to the risk of an impact of any function, service, 
operation, project and programme upon the environment. 
 
 
 

Page 1562



13 

 

 
 
 
Risk Appetite: The Council has a strong interest in protecting and preserving the 
environment.  There is a low appetite for activities which will significantly degrade the 
environment 
 
Physical Systems & Assets 
 
The “physical systems and assets” category refers to the risk to physical structures 
(buildings, facilities, locations, equipment, etc.) and systems e.g. IT, which ultimately support 
the provision of services. 
 
Risk Appetite: In pursuing its objectives, the Council is open to taking a moderate degree of 
risk, and is prepared to accept major changes, upgrades, projects and programmes where 
these are intended to bring significant improvements to property, assets, facilities or 
services. 
 
Political 
 
The "political" category refers to the risk of disruption to objectives leading to intervention by 
political members and the impact of this upon political structures. 

 
Risk Appetite: The Council has a low appetite to the disruption of any objective that would 
lead to the involvement of political members and cause political instability. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1563



14 

 

 
 
 

24. Corporate Risk Assessment 

Impact 

 

Score What is the worst that could happen?  
Low Minor loss, delay, inconvenience or 

interruption, very minor damage to 
reputation and very minor health & safety 
issues. Opportunity to innovate/make minor 
improvements to performance 
missed/wasted. Short to medium term 
effect. 

Medium Waste of time and resources. Good 
opportunity to innovate/improve 
performance missed/wasted.  Moderate 
impact on operational efficiency, output and 
quality.  Minor health & safety risk, short 
term damage to reputation.  Medium term 
effect which may be expensive to recover 
from. 

Significant Major impact on costs and objectives. 
Substantial opportunity to innovate/improve 
performance missed/wasted.  Significant 
impact on output and/or quality.  Significant 
damage to reputation and moderate health 
& safety consequences.   Medium to long 
term effect and expensive to recover from. 

High Severe / Critical impact on the achievement 
of objectives and overall performance. 
Critical opportunity to innovate/improve 
performance missed/wasted. Huge impact 
on costs and/or sustained damage to 
reputation. Major health & safety issues. 
Very difficult to recover from and possibly 
requiring a long term recovery period.   

 

Likelihood 

Score  Descriptors  
Certain Almost certain, is expected to occur in most 

circumstances.  Greater than 80% chance. 

Probable Likely, will probably occur in most 
circumstances.  50% - 80% chance. 

Possible Possible, might occur at some time. 20% - 
50% chance. 
 

Unlikely Unlikely, but could occur at some time.  
Less than a 20% chance. 

 

 

 
 

Page 1564



15 

 

 
 
 
WLBC Impact / Likelihood Matrix 
 
 

 

  Impact 

 

  Low Medium Significant High 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

Certain 
4 8 12 16 

Probable 
3 6 9 12 

Possible 
2 4 6 8 

Unlikely 
1 2 3 4 

 

 

 

Level of Concern Action Required 

Critical 
Urgent attention required at highest level to ensure risk 
is reduced to an acceptable level.  Action planning 
should start without delay.  Progress on actions should 
be reported to the Chief Operating Officer and / or the 
Leader. 

Concerned 
Requires mitigation and a contingency plan. Report on 
progress to CMT. 

Cautious 
Acceptable level of risk however the risk requires 

mitigation /consideration. Reviewed at Head of Service 
level. 

Comfortable 
Acceptable level of risk. Keep under review but no action 
required unless changes occur.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1565





 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

West Lancashire  

Borough Council 

 

 

Risk Management Tool Kit 

 

 
Version 2: January 2022 

 

Page 1567



 

2 
 

Contents 

 Contents Page Number 
   
1. Foreword  

 
3 

2. Introduction 
 

4 

3. Attitude to and Principals of Risk Management 
 

4 

4. Benefits of Risk Management 
 

4-5 

5. Risk Management Policy & Strategy  5-6 
   
6. Key Responsibilities  

 
6-7 

7. Three Lines of Defence Model 
 

8 

8 The Risk Management Process 9 
8.1 Risk / Opportunity Identification 9-11 
8.2 Risk Analysis 12-14 
8.3 Risk Evaluation 15-16 
8.4 Risk Treatment & Management   17-18 
8.5 Reporting and Recording 18-21 
8.6 Monitor and Review  

 
22-23 

9. Risk at DMT Meetings 23 
   
10. 
 
11. 
 
12. 

Flowchart Procedure for Permission to add Risks 
 
Flowchart Procedure for Permission to remove Risks 
 
Business Planning & Budget Setting 
 

24 
 
25 
 
26 

13. Annual Report & Annual Governance Statement    
 

27 

14. Training 
 

27-28 
 

15. 
 

Useful Contact Points / Information 
 

28 

16. Definitions  
 

28-29 

17. Risk Management Work Cycle 30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 1568



 

3 
 

1. Foreword 

 

As Chief Operating Officer I am responsible for 

enabling the efficient and effective governance of 

significant risks, and related opportunities across 

West Lancashire Borough Council.   

As we face increasing uncertainty and challenging 

times it is of increasing importance that we have 

robust management and can make difficult decisions 

over resource priorities.  It is important that the 

maximum amount of resources can be channelled 

into achieving the Councils vision and priorities for 

West Lancashire.  

Central to the ability to do this is the need for efficient 

and effective risk management which allows us to 

take advantage of more opportunities and make decisions that pay full regard to risk 

consideration.    

The Council is risk aware not risk adverse, it needs to take full advantage of opportunities for 

improving services. Therefore, it needs to be pro-active and prepared in the way that it 

manages risk.  

Risk Management is recognised as a key element in the management of the Council.  By all 

staff having a better understanding of the importance and implementation of risk management 

it will make a huge contribution to improving overall corporate governance.  In addition, it will 

assist in ensuring that mandatory rules, regulations, and obligations are complied with.   

Better identification of risks and their management will result in better use of resources. If we 

all use the resources available to us more efficiently and effectively then the service to our 

customers can only improve.  

Risk Management needs to be embedded in all our activities and it's important that we align 

risk management activities with other policies, procedures, and strategies to ensure effective 

operations and service delivery. 

This toolkit has been developed to allow officers to identify risks which would prevent them 

from achieving their objectives (including failing to take advantage of opportunities) and to 

provide information and guidance on how these risks can be managed.  

 

Jacqui Sinnott-Lacey 

Chief Operating Officer 

West Lancashire Borough Council 

Date: January 2022 

 

Page 1569



 

4 
 

2. Introduction 

Risk management is about making the most of opportunities by making informed decisions 

and about achieving objectives once those decisions are made. It is about being risk aware 

and not risk adverse.   

The Council accepts that some level of risk is inevitable if it is going to achieve its objectives. 

It is important, however, that these risks are actively controlled, managed and monitored. One 

of the biggest risks that could face WLBC would be to not identify the risk in the first place and 

take no action at all. 

The risk management process has been made as simple as possible, and jargon has been 

kept to a minimum. There may be some terms that you may not be familiar with; therefore, a 

list of the more common terms has been included at Section 16, (key definitions) for your 

guidance.  

This toolkit is a working document for managers and staff to use in maintaining the 

documentation required to support their Service and the Council's Key Risk Register.  

Although risk owners will be tasked with updating risk registers and managing risks, risk 

management is the responsibility of all Council employees. 

This toolkit should be read in conjunction with the Council's Risk Management Policy & 

Strategy. 

 

3. Attitude to and Principals of Risk Management 

Effective risk management enhances: 

• the likelihood of us delivering our objectives 

• our reputation 

• our financial sustainability 

• our planning and decision-making activities 

• our leadership, management and governance 

• our ability to innovate 

The approach adopted to risk management ensures that our risk management activities are: 

• Proportionate to the level of risk that we are prepared to accept 

• Aligned with other Council activities 

• Comprehensive, systematic and structured 

• Embedded within the Council and our procedures 

• Dynamic and responsive to emerging and changing risks. 

 

4. Benefits of Risk Management 

When applied appropriately, risk management can be very beneficial.  It can help us to achieve 

our stated objectives and deliver on intended outcomes. It can also help managers to 

demonstrate good governance, better understand their risk profile and better mitigate risks 

(particularly uninsurable risks).   Externally it can help us to enhance community support and 

satisfy stakeholders’ expectations on internal control.  This results in:  

Page 1570



 

5 
 

• Improved efficiency in the delivery of services 

• Enhanced risk reporting 

• More satisfied stakeholders  

• Better management of change programmes  

• Support for innovation  

• Fewer complaints  

• Greater control of insurance costs  

• The provision of evidence to support Assurance Statements  

• Better information available for decision making 

• Enhanced ability to justify actions taken  

• Protection and enhancement of our reputation 

• Reduced risk of mistakes  

• Conformance with Council policies across all areas of risk 

• Improved management performance (good risk management is good management) 

• Consistent approach avoiding potentially damaging errors 

• Compliance with legislation, rules and regulations 

• Securing funding (funding bodies including the government are increasingly 

interested in the effective management of risk) 

• Improved contingency arrangements as set out in our business continuity plan  

• A reduction in the risk of fraud and corruption 

• Enhanced ability to identify new opportunities and the challenges associated with 

current opportunities 

• Being able to anticipate the risks that could affect performance and put in place 

actions to minimise disruption  

• Better assessment of overall resource needs 

• The ability to quickly foresee and respond to change. 

 

The above list is not exhaustive, and all these benefits are achievable as long as we all 

embrace our risk management responsibilities. 

 

5. Risk Management Policy & Strategy 

Our Risk Management Policy including our Strategy support our corporate aims and 

objectives. 

The Council has a clear vision for West Lancashire: 

West Lancashire together; the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest 

Our priorities are: 

➢ Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities  

➢ Support businesses to adapt and prosper 

➢ Become a Greener West Lancashire 

➢ Be a financially sustainable Council by 2023 

➢ A clean, safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West 

Lancashire 

➢ Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient  

➢ Everyone to be proud of their Council 

Page 1571



 

6 
 

Robust risk management will help to support delivery of this vision and associated priorities.  

The Risk Management Policy & Strategy sets out the Council’s risk management aims and 

objectives and how these will be achieved.  This document is subject to annual review to 

ensure that it remains up-to-date and continues to reflect our approach to risk management.  

It is vital that we develop the use of risk management in our dealings with third parties such 

as through partnerships, contracts, and other new service delivery models. 

While these areas contain significant risks for the Council, they also have the potential to 

provide significant opportunities if well managed.  The use of risk management to mitigate 

risks while also exploring opportunities is key to ensuring that these working arrangements 

contribute positively to service delivery.  

 

6. Key Responsibilities 

The Risk Management Policy & Strategy details all risk management responsibilities however 

some of the key responsibilities are highlighted in the following diagram. 

 

Page 1572



 

7 
 

 

• Determine the risk appetite of the Council

• Determine the nature and extent of the principal risks we are willing to 
take in achieving our strategic objectives

• Ensure that the risks on the Key Risk Register fit within the definition of a 
key risk

CMT & Members

• Ensure that key risks are added to and removed from the Key Risk 
Register as appropriate

• Carry out live reviews of Service Risk Registers on a quarterly basis.

• Implement the Risk Management Framework and disseminate best 
practice throughout the Council.

Heads of Service

• Manage risk effectively in their area of responsibility. 

• Complete the risk management process as per the Council's Framework. 

• Complete, track and monitor the progress of action plansSenior Managers

• Develops and maintains the risk management framework

• Provides training and advice

Risk 
Management 

Officer

• Support their Head of Service in implementing the Risk Management 
Framework within their Service.

• Promotes and embeds Risk Management within their Service to engage 
staff in the management of risk.

Risk 
Management 
Champions

• Review, scrutinise and challenge current and proposed risk 
management procedures and processes, including progress against 
planned actions

Audit & 
Governance 

Comittee

• Review, scrutinise and challenge current and proposed risk management 
procedures and processes, including progress against planned actions

Executive 
Overview & 

Scruitny Comittee

• Approve the risk management policy, strategy and related documents

• Approve content of key risk register and proposed risk mitigation plans, 
and monitor implementation 

Cabinet

• Communicate the effectiveness of controls to risk owners.Control Owners

• Be familiar with, understand, accept and implement the Risk Management 
Framework.

• Monitor work on an ongoing basis to identify new and emerging risks and 
escalate as required.

All Employees

• Evaluate risk management processes continuously to provide assurance to 
Members and Senior Management that significant risks are being managed 
appropriately and that the Risk Management and Internal Control 
Framework is operating effectively. 

Internal Audit

Page 1573



 

8 
 

7.  Three Lines of Defence Model 

The Council operates a Three Lines of Defence Model which provides assurance that Risks 

are being actively managed and controlled.  By having the three lines of defence in operation 

it allows us to safeguard against breakdowns in risk management.  It also emphasises that 

risk management is everyone's responsibility. 

The Three Lines of Defence model distinguishes among three groups (lines) involved in 

effective risk management: 

• Functions that own and manage risks. 

• Functions that oversee risks. 

• Functions that provide independent assurance. 

 

 

 

In addition to the three lines of defence there are then a further two functions: 

4th Line of Defence - External auditors will be required to confirm and attest to the accuracy 

of financial records.   

5th Line of Defence – Certain regulators will require compliance with the rules and regulations 

within their scope. 

Our risk and control processes are structured effectively in accordance with the Three Lines 

of Defence model in that; 

• Each line of defence is supported by appropriate policies, role definition and training. 

• There is coordination among the separate lines of defence to foster efficiency and 

effectiveness. 

• Risk and control functions operating at the different lines share knowledge and 

information to assist all functions in better accomplishing their roles in an efficient 

manner. 

• Lines of defence are not combined or coordinated in a manner that compromises their 

effectiveness. 

 

A more detailed breakdown of the roles and responsibilities of each line is detailed in the Risk 

Management Policy & Strategy. 

First Line of Defence

Chief Operating Officer, Heads of 
Service , Managers and Employees

•Responsible for identifing risk

•Responsible for managing and 
escalating risks

•Responsible for mitigating the 
risks within each Section/ Service 
Area / Department

•Responsible for implementing 
and processing adequate internal 
controlls.

Second Line of Defence

Risk & Insurance Officer and the 
RMWG

•Responsible for Maintaining and 
developing the Risk Management 
Framework

•Responsible for Reporting to 
CMT, Cabinet & Committees

•Advisor to the first line of defence

Third Line of Defence

Internal Audit

•Independent Assurance

•Reporting to the COO, CMT and 
appropriate Committees

•Advisory role to improve 
processes

Page 1574



 

9 
 

8. The Risk Management Process 

 

Our risk management processes has 6 key stages: 

 

8.1 Risk / Opportunity Identification 

The purpose of risk identification is to generate a comprehensive inventory of risks based on 

events that might create, prevent, accelerate or delay the achievement of our objectives.  It is 

important that all risks are identified at each level of the Council e.g. CMT, services, 

departments, and teams. 

The starting point for the identification of risks and opportunities should be to examine the 

Councils, directorate, service or project’s objectives and required outcomes.  It is important 

that officers carry out risk identification and examine all identified risks and link them to the 

appropriate Council, Service or project objectives and outcomes.  If a risk cannot be clearly 

linked to an objective or outcome, then serious consideration should be given as to whether 

this risk needs to be borne at all.   

It is mandatory that risk management features on the agenda of quarterly DMT meetings and 

therefore senior managers should be aware of emerging risks or changing risk context. 

It is important that all members of staff are involved in the risk management process. 

Managers should ensure that there is a process in place for employees to actively report any 

risks as and when they arise, and also for them to report when the extent of the risk changes.  

Officers assigned to risks i.e. risk owners should update Pentana with new risks that have 

been identified and continue to keep risks updated with real time updates. 

Some risks will be identified on an on-going basis but will be rectified almost immediately and 

will therefore not form part of the formal risk register e.g. a missing sign on an emergency exit 

Page 1575



 

10 
 

should not be included but should be rectified as soon as possible. If, however, it was noted 

that emergency exit signs were being stolen on a regular basis, this fact should be recorded.  

A variety of techniques and methods can be used to identify risks 

• Experience  

• Horizon Scanning 

• Checklists and questionnaires 

• Inspections of premises 

• Audits (Internal e.g. internal audit, health & safety or external) 

• Accessing relevant national reports, technical briefings, specialists (including internal 

experts) and guidance. 

• Equality analysis  

• Directorate / service / team meetings  

• Workshops and brainstorming 

• Internal control processes  

• Day to day operations  

• Local / national or social media  

• Alterations to legislation  

• Performance Indicators  

• Service Action Plans 

• Insurance claims / losses information  

 

The list that follows is provided as a guide and is not designed to be all encompassing but is 

intended to prompt thought to assist as a starting point to identify risk(s).  The risk identification 

stage should be repeated regularly to ensure that new risks arising are identified and brought 

into the risk profile as appropriate.   

Cultural  
 
The cultural environment in 
which the Council is 
operating 

• Cultural diversity of the local area and the Councils ability 
to ensure everyone is catered for. 

• Services are no longer in demand due to changing 
behaviours. 

Environmental  
 
Environmental events as well 
as increased environmental 
awareness or regulation can 
all impact public service 
organisations 

• Nature of environment  

• Waste disposal and recycling issues  

• Pollution issues, e.g. fly tipping,  

• Growing environmental, social and governance agenda 

• Severe weather or public health emergency increases 
demand on services 

• Flooding and other severe weather and the need for 
investment in counter measures 

Financial risks  
 
Issues arising from the 
budgetary, financial planning 
and control framework 

• Financial situations such as areas of significant over or 
under spending  

• Flexibility to allocate budgets to address areas where control 
weakness is identified  

• Level of reserves and budgetary control  

• Monitoring and reporting systems  

• Fraud / mal-administration and corruption 

• Changes in government priorities and fiscal policies that can 
influence the need for alternative revenue streams 

• Changing international economic relationships that can 
impact local businesses and the support they require 

• Push towards engaging partnering/ outsourcing to the 
private sector 

Page 1576



 

11 
 

Health & Safety Risks 
 
The need to provide a safe 
environment for staff, citizens 
and all stakeholders 

• Commitment to health, safety and well-being of staff, 
partners and the community   

• Potential physical hazards such as monitoring the condition 
of trees on WLBC owned land or pathways, and slips and 
trips on WLBC owned land 

 

Legislative / Regulatory/ 
Compliance  
 
The legal and regulatory 
framework in which the 
Council exists 

• Preparedness for new, and compliance with existing, 
legislation and regulations including European law / 
regulations  

• Exposure to regulators - e.g. auditors / inspectors  

• Changes to the litigation environment 
 

Operational risks 
 
The need to effectively 
deliver services which meet 
the needs and expectations 
of customers and residents 

• Why is service delivery not effective? 

• Do residents, taxpayers, businesses and partners receive 
the services they require when they need them?  Are 
expectations being managed?   

• Extent and nature of consultation with / involvement of 
community, e.g. community groups, local businesses, 
focus groups, resident’s panels, etc. 

Partnership / Contractual  
 
Key strategic partners from 
public, private and third 
sectors, County strategic 
partnerships, joint ventures 
and outsourced services 

• The delivery of services  

• Investment of time, money and expertise 

• Meeting organisational objectives 

• Fair procurement 

• Risk of financial and reputational risk. 
 

People  
 
The need to be managerially 
and professionally competent 
and for staff to be satisfied 

• Professional / managerial standing of key officers  

• Stability of officer structure - particularly at the top  

• Turnover, absence, stress levels, illness 

• Workforce planning   

• Equalities issues 

• Managing major changes 

Physical risks to Systems 
& Assets  
 
Physical hazards associated 
with systems, property, 
vehicles, plant and 
equipment.    

• Nature and condition of assets e.g. buildings and other 
property owned, dilapidation of leased property  

• Testing of systems to ensure efficiency 

Political  
 
Political decisions can impact 
on many areas in public 
service organisations. 

• Central Government initiatives impacting on Local 
Government  

• Changes to devolution and powers of councils 

• Political uncertainty and changing priorities of local and 
national groups 

• Pressure to become more commercial and provide support 
for local businesses 

Sociological  
 
Changes in social trends can 
dramatically impact public 
service organisations, both 
on service demand and 
supply. 

• An ageing population increases pressure on certain 
services 

• The impact of social media on patient or public activism is 
a potential opportunity as well as a threat 

• Changing expectations of the local community 

Technological  
 
New technologies create new 
products and new processes 
that can impact service 
providers and end users. 

• Impact on reputation and services of not implementing new 
technologies 

• Need to invest in provision of quality telecommunications to 
all communities 

• Effective communication is essential. 

Page 1577



 

12 
 

8.2 Risk Analysis 

This is the process of reviewing the risks identified so that similar risks can be grouped and 

classified according to the likelihood of them occurring and the impact they could have. 

The purpose of risk analysis is to comprehend the nature of risk and its characteristics 

including, where appropriate, the level of risk.  Risk analysis involves a detailed consideration 

of uncertainties, risk sources, consequences, likelihood, events, scenarios, controls and their 

effectiveness.  An event can have multiple causes and consequences and can affect multiple 

objectives. 

Measures of Likelihood 

Score  Descriptors  
Certain Almost certain, is expected to occur in most circumstances.  

Greater than 80% chance. 

Probable Likely, will probably occur in most circumstances.  50% - 
80% chance. 

Possible Possible, might occur at some time. 20% - 50% chance. 
 

Unlikely Unlikely, but could occur at some time.  Less than a 20% 
chance. 

 

Measures of Impact 

Score What is the worst that could happen?  
Low Minor loss, delay, inconvenience or interruption, very minor 

damage to reputation and very minor health & safety 
issues. Opportunity to innovate/make minor improvements 
to performance missed/wasted. Short to medium term 
effect.  

Medium Waste of time and resources. Good opportunity to 
innovate/improve performance missed/wasted.  Moderate 
impact on operational efficiency, output and quality.  Minor 
health & safety risk, short term damage to reputation.  
Medium term effect which may be expensive to recover 
from.  

Significant Major impact on costs and objectives. Substantial 
opportunity to innovate/improve performance 
missed/wasted.  Significant impact on output and/or quality.  
Significant damage to reputation and moderate health & 
safety consequences.   Medium to long term effect and 
expensive to recover from.  

High Severe / Critical impact on the achievement of objectives and 
overall performance. Critical opportunity to innovate/improve 
performance missed/wasted. Huge impact on costs and/or 
sustained damage to reputation. Major health & safety 
issues. Very difficult to recover from and possibly requiring a 
long term recovery period.    

 

The first time that a risk is assessed the likelihood and impact of the risk against the Council's 

risk classification categories will need to be considered as if no controls exist; this will give the 

inherent risk.  

Page 1578



 

13 
 

The likelihood and impact of the current risk is then assessed, this is an assessment of the 

risk with all current controls in place. This step is then repeated for all future assessments. 

There will need to be consideration of what the target risk is.  This is the level of risk that you 

are aiming to manage the risk down to, over time.    This will need to be considered at each 

future assessment. 

Risks must be assessed against each appropriate category. 

The following table gives examples of how the impact score can be determined for each 

category. 

Risk Type/ 
Category 
 

Low Medium Significant High 

Reputational Single adverse 
article in local 
media or specific 
professional journal 
that is not 
recirculated (e.g.: 
through social 
media). WLBC may 
be one of a number 
of agencies 
referred to. 

A number of 
adverse articles in 
regional media 
mentioning WLBC. 
Some circulation via 
social media. Single 
request for senior 
officer / Member to 
be interviewed on 
local TV or radio. 
Adverse reaction by 
West Lancs 
residents in social 
media / online 
forums. Short term 
reduction in public 
confidence. 

Series of front page / 
news headlines in 
regional or national 
media. Wider 
recirculation via social 
media.  Sustained 
adverse reaction by 
West Lancs residents in 
social media. Repeated 
requests for senior 
officer / Member to be 
interviewed on local TV 
or radio. Long term 
reduction in public 
confidence 

Sustained adverse publicity 
in regional media and / or 
national media coverage. 
Extensive / prolonged 
recirculation via social 
media channels. Repeated 
requests for Leader / Chief 
Operating Officer to be 
interviewed on national TV 
or radio. Possible 
resignation of senior 
officers and or elected 
members. Total loss of 
public confidence. 
 
 

Legislative / 
Regulatory / 
Compliance 

Failure to meet 
internal standards. 

Minor breach of 
statutory legislation 
/ regulation.  Breach 
of best practice 
requirements. 

Single breach in 
statutory duty. 
Challenging external 
recommendations / 
improvement notice.  
   

Several breaches in 
statutory duty. 
Enforcement action and 
improvement notices. 
Critical report. Censure by 
regulator; breach of legal 
or contractual obligation. 

Financial Impact on in year 
budget pressures 
to be resolved 
within Service. 

On-going financial 
pressures which 
require corporate 
resolution and 
should be 
addressed through 
the budget setting 
process. 

Significant financial 
pressures leading to 
alternative approaches 
to service delivery.  

Inability to continue as a 
going concern and leading 
to potential external 
intervention. 

People Short term low 
staffing level that 
temporarily 
reduces service 
quality. Some 
minor staff 
dissatisfaction 

Medium term low 
level / insufficient 
experienced staff to 
deliver quality 
service. Low staff 
morale. 

Late delivery of key 
objective / service due 
to lack of experienced 
staff. Very low staff 
morale. 

None delivery of key 
objective / service due to 
lack of experienced staff.  

Health & 
Safety 

Minor injury 
requiring no first 
aid treatment or 
medication. 

Short lived / minor 
injury or illness that 
may require first aid 
or medication. No 
overnight 
hospitalisation. 

Injury that requires 
short term 
hospitalisation. Small 
number of work days 
lost. 

Injury that requires medium 
to long term hospitalisation. 
Fatalities and / or 
incidences of permanent 
disability or ill health. Risk 
of prosecution from 
enforcement agencies. 
 

Page 1579



 

14 
 

Risk Type/ 
Category 

Low Medium Significant High 

Operational Some short term 
disruption to a non-
critical service to 
citizens / 
customers.  No 
significant effect on 
customer 
satisfaction. Low 
chance of 
fraudulent activity 
occurring. 

Short term 
disruption to a 
critical service or 
prolonged 
disruption to a non-
critical service. 
Noticeable to 
customers and 
affecting their 
satisfaction with the 
service provided. 
Medium chance of 
fraudulent activity 
occurring. 

Sustained disruption to 
a critical service or 
more than one non 
critical service. 
Circumstances defined 
in the Business 
Continuity Plan as 
requiring notification of 
the Emergency 
Planning Officer.  
Customer satisfaction 
seriously affected. High 
chance of fraudulent 
activity occurring. 

Inability to perform critical 
services. Events leading to 
Central Government 
intervention in running of a 
WLBC Service. Very High 
chance of fraudulent 
activity occurring. 
 

Environmental Superficial impact 
on environment 
with cosmetic 
remediation. 

Environmental 
damage with short 
term remediation. 
Less than 3 months. 

Environmental damage 
with medium term 
remediation. 

Major environmental 
damage, reversible with 
long-term remediation. 

Physical 
Systems & 
Assets 

Minor property, 
asset or facilities 
damage and minor 
disruption to 
systems. 

Significant but 
temporary damage 
or disruption to 
assets, property, 
facilities or systems. 
 

Sustained damage to 
property, assets, 
facilities or systems.  
Repair or replacements 
lasting more than 1 
month. 

Long term or permeant 
loss or disruption to critical 
property, assets, facilities 
and systems. 

Political Minor disruption to 
service provision 
which leads to 
need to notify 
political members 
for awareness. 

Moderate disruption 
to service provision 
and / or objective 
delivery, leading to 
regular involvement 
of political member 
responsible for the 
Service. 

Major impact on costs 
and objectives of 
service delivery, 
leading to regular 
review by Members 
Committee and 
constant updates to 
Lead Member for the 
Service 

Critical disruption to 
delivery of objectives 
leading to resignation of 
political members elected 
position within the Council 
leading to elections 
process, delay in 
achievement of objectives 
whilst vacant roles filled. 

 

All risk categories must be considered but there will be few, perhaps no, risks you identify that 

will have a quantifiable impact across all categories.  You need only consider against those 

categories where the risk may impact. 

 

Carrying out risk assessments using agreed risk classification categories will allow us to 

identify accumulations and interdependencies of risk. 

 

To determine the likelihood, you could:  

• look at past records  

• consider personal relevant experience (and intuition)  

• look at industry-relevant experience of the risk  

• consult published literature on the risk  

• do some testing or experiments (for example, market research)  

• use economic or statistical models to make forecasts  

• use experts in the area of that risk to make judgements. 

 

 

 

Page 1580



 

15 
 

8.3 Risk Evaluation 

The purpose of risk evaluation is to support decisions. Risk evaluation involves comparing the 
results of the risk analysis with the established risk criteria to determine where additional action 
is required. This can lead to a decision to: 

• do nothing further 
• consider risk treatment options 
• undertake further analysis to better understand the risk 
• maintain existing controls 
• reconsider objectives 

The Councils full risk appetite statement is set out in pages 10-13 of the Risk Management 

Policy and summarised in the following chart.     

        Key 

 

 

Once the inherent risk has been classified it is mapped onto the Councils corporate risk matrix. 

The colours are a “traffic light” system that denotes the risk appetite of the Council. 

The mapping will need to be repeated to record the current risk as this will show how controls 

in place have influenced the level of risk e.g. the inherent risk could place a risk within the red 

zone as a critical risk, but because controls in place are evaluated as being effective and 

consistently applied the current risk could fall within the green (comfortable) zone. The 

mapping should then be repeated to record the target risk to provide a view of how much 

further it is aimed to reduce the level of risk to. 

It is important to keep in mind that we are more concerned with whether the current risk is 
within our risk appetite than how it scores.  What really matters is that we can clearly identify 

Risk Type Risk 
Appetite 

Reputational 
 

3 

Legislative / Regulatory / 
Compliance 
 

2 

Financial 
 

3 

People 
 

3 

Health & Safety 
 

1 

Operational 
 

2 

Environmental 
 

3 

Physical Systems & 
Assets 

3 

Political 
 

2 

Ratings Risk Appetite Meanings 

1 Low Residual risk only acceptable 
in extreme 
situations (e.g. where the 
risk has a very low 
impact and likelihood) 

2 Medium Residual risk is managed 
down on a cost-benefit basis.  
A medium amount of risk is 
acceptable however, on 
balance, control is weighted 
higher than acceptance.   

3 Significant Residual risk is accepted to 
significant levels. 
Significant implies a pure 
cost-benefit approach. 
 

4 High Residual risk is accepted to 
high levels 
 

Page 1581



 

16 
 

what else we need to do to reduce the risk so that it falls within our accepted risk appetite 
level. Ask yourself is the current risk tolerable?  
 
The likelihood and impact for each appropriate category must be considered and a risk score 
will then be generated on Pentana 
 
If for example you have a risk with a potential high environmental risk, but only a low financial 
impact this does not mean that Penatna will average the overall impact to medium.  There can 
be no trade-off of impacts.  The Council has decided that each of the risk impact categories is 
individually scored independently of how they affect others.  For example, a high reputational 
impact is not made more acceptable by the Council not having suffered a financial loss to get 
to that point.  Your impact score will be equivalent to the highest score you have assessed in 
any single domain, which will then also act as a guide to where you may best focus your risk 
treatment (see Section 8.4). 
 

 

WLBC Impact / Likelihood Matrix 
 

 

 

  Impact 

 

  Low Medium Significant High 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

Certain 
4 8 12 16 

Probable 
3 6 9 12 

Possible 
2 4 6 8 

Unlikely 
1 2 3 4 

 

 

 

 

Level of Concern Action Required 

Critical 
Urgent attention required at highest level to ensure risk 
is reduced to an acceptable level.  Action planning 
should start without delay.  Progress on actions should 
be reported to the Chief Operating Officer and / or the 
Leader. 

Concerned 
Requires mitigation and a contingency plan. Report on 
progress to CMT. 

Cautious 
Acceptable level of risk however the risk requires 
mitigation /consideration. Reviewed at Head of Service 
level. 

Comfortable 
Acceptable level of risk. Keep under review but no action 
required unless changes occur.  

 

 

Page 1582



 

17 
 

8.4 Risk Treatment & Management   

The purpose of risk treatment is to select and implement options for addressing risk. 

Risk treatment involves an iterative process of: 

• formulating and selecting risk treatment options 

• planning and implementing risk treatment and controls 

• assessing the effectiveness of that treatment / control 

• deciding whether the remaining risk is acceptable 

• if not acceptable, taking further treatment 

Controls are methods used by managers to assure them that they are achieving their business 

aims, meeting service objectives and delivering the outcomes required, and that the service 

is being provided in the most efficient and effective way.  The cost and robustness of existing 

or additional controls is a key consideration and needs to be balanced against the potential 

consequences if the event occurred.  The cost of implementing and operating a control should 

not normally exceed the maximum potential benefit.  

Risk action planning or risk treatment should only address those risks considered to be at an 

unacceptably high level, so requiring additional treatment.  

For risks requiring additional treatment, there are four primary responses, these are known as 

the 4T's. 

1. Tolerating risks means that you intend to manage the risk within your existing 

management routines. Risks should only be accepted where officers believe that the 

current risk is tolerable i.e. the risk falls within the green (comfortable) or yellow 

(cautious) category of the matrix.   

Risks may also have to be tolerated where there is no option but to tolerate a risk associated 

with delivering an essential public service.  In this case it is recommended that a contingency 

plan is put in place to deal with the risk should it occur. 

2. Treating risk means that you identify additional action(s) to be taken that will reduce 

the likelihood and / or impact if the event occurs.  Controls can be:  

 

• Preventative which are designed to limit the possibility of an undesirable outcome 

being realised. Examples include, physically restricting access to hazardous 

chemicals, insisting on two signatories, ensuring segregation of duties exist within a 

system, implementing authorisation limits, or restricting levels of access on IT systems.  

These controls will help reduce risk levels from the outset.   

 

• Corrective which are designed to limit the scope for loss and reduce any undesirable 

outcomes that have been realised. They may also provide a route of recourse to 

achieve some recovery against loss or damage. Examples include barriers should 

hazardous chemicals escape, rotation of staff, passwords and other access controls.  

 

• Directive which are designed to ensure that a particular outcome is achieved. They 

are based on giving directions to people on how to ensure that losses do not occur. 

Examples include procedure manuals, guidance notes, instructions and training.  Such 

controls advise on how to carry out processes safely but if they are not adhered to, 

they will not prevent risk events occurring. Insurance and contracts are also examples 

of directive controls. 

Page 1583



 

18 
 

• Detective which are designed to identify occasions when undesirable outcomes have 

been realised. Their effect is, by definition, ‘after the event’ so they are only appropriate 

when it is possible to accept that the loss or damage has occurred. Examples include 

health monitoring and screening, audit reviews and reconciliations. 

 

3. Transferring risk means using an insurer or other third party to cover all or part of the 

cost or losses should a risk materialise.  However, care needs to be taken to accurately 

specify the risks to be covered.  Making arrangements with others such as joint 

working, partnerships or contracting out to provide services could also be used to 

transfer/ share risks.  However, other risks can arise from these arrangements and the 

responsibility of providing the service could remain with the Council.  When transferring 

or sharing risks with other parties, ensure that risk registers detail where liability and 

accountability lies between parties.    

 

4. Terminating risk means ceasing to carry out the activity because modifying it or 

controlling it would not reduce the risk to an acceptable level.  

It may be however be impossible to terminate some risks i.e. the delivery of essential public 

services.  In this case the action you need to take is to ensure that we have a contingency 

plan in place so that should the risk occur we can deal effectively with the consequences. See 

section 12 below for information on business continuity management. 

 

8.5 Reporting and Recording  

It is imperative that risks are recorded on the appropriate risk registers on the Pentana Risk 

System, the Council's corporate risk management software. Risks must continue to be 

regularly monitored and actively managed until they are realised. 

Every risk should be assigned to a risk owner who is identified on the risk register. The risk 

owner (the officer named in the "assigned to" category) is the designated member of staff who 

carries the ultimate responsibility for agreeing and delivering the action plan to control the risk 

and for monitoring progress against it.   

It is the responsibility of the risk owner to ensure that their risk is on Pentana, that it is kept 

updated and that the risk is escalated through the appropriate channels when necessary. It is 

also their responsibility to make sure that their risk is linked to their service action plan and 

performance indicators if appropriate. 

The Council's risk register has several key elements to it and officers are expected to record 

those elements detailed below on their service risk register.  Whilst the following information 

summarises the steps that need to be taken, all officers using Pentana risk should watch the 

Pentana Risk Webinar available on the intranet before inputting any risks into Pentana 

Officers should also consult the flowchart for permissions required to add a risk to Service and 

Key Risk Registers at Section 10. 

   

 

 

Page 1584

http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/media/73503/pentana-user-guide-recording.mp4


 

19 
 

Code & Title    Code:  This is a unique identification number used to identify and 
track the risk in the risk register e.g. Insurance Risks have the prefix 
INS, then the first risk identified in this category has a unique ID of 
01.  Create an appropriate code for your risk.  
 
Title:  A brief description of the potential risk. It should include the 
cause and trigger of the risk.  The cause is our what and our where, 
it’s the situation or event that exposes us to the risk. The trigger is 
our how and our why.  Include the event that could or has occurred 
that results in a negative impact on the objectives being achieved. 

  
Notes, Owners & Profile Tab  
  

Risk Ownerships Ensure that all ownerships in the section are assigned. 
 
Assigned to - Assign the risk to the risk owner, i.e. the officer who 
has day to day responsibility for managing the risk.  The risk is the 
responsibly of the assigned officer. They are the risk owner. 
 
Managed by - The person ultimately responsible for managing the 
risk, agreeing and delivering the action plan to control the risk and 
monitoring progress against it.  
 
Risk Champion – Allocate to the Risk Management Champion for 
your area.  A list of Risk Champions is available on the risk 
management page of the intranet. 

  

Corporate Priority 
 

Select the appropriate priority from the dropdown box. 

  

Potential Effect   
 

Refers to any effect associated with an action that is possible, in 
certain circumstances. The effect may refer to a threat or damage 
that may be caused to or by the Council e.g. bad publicity, loss of 
income, negative effect on local residents/stakeholders and staff. 
  
It may also refer to the potential opportunities that the risk may 
create e.g. jobs, facilities for local residents, income generation, 
opportunities for staff development. 
 
The potential effect is the consequence of the risk.  What is the effect 
of the risk, how bid and how bad could it be?  What's our worst-case 
scenario as it currently stands? 

  

Year Identified 
 

The year that you first became aware of the risk. 

  

Notes Note any details that you wish to note in this section.  Examples 
include: 

• Why a risk category was not scored 

• Reasons for changes in scoring 

• Detail briefly the current position of the risk e.g. has a report 
gone to Cabinet / Council, has a report been approved, is a 
periodic review about to take place, has a project manager 
been appointed, is the risk being audited. 

Page 1585



 

20 
 

Internal Controls Tab 

Internal Controls 
 
 

Controls are activities designed to prevent, reduce or eliminate the 
risk from occurring (see section 8.4). 
 
Detail the controls that are in place to reduce the inherent risk score 
to the current risk score and detail who the controls are assigned to, 
i.e. the control owner. 
 
Record the further controls that are required to reach the target risk 
and detail who the controls will be assigned to. 
 
Individual controls should be scored as not effective, partially 
effective or fully effective.   
 
The control should state whether is reduces the impact and / or 
likelihood of the risk. 
 
Enter a description to detail more information about the specific 
control and a note to explain why the internal control has been 
scored at its current level of effectiveness. If appropriate record 
where the evidence that the controls are operating effectively can 
be found. 
   
As actions are taken to move a control from not effective to partially 
or fully effective, remember to refresh the control detail.  
 
Controls must be allocated to a control owner to enable us to identity 
the responsibility for a control. 
 
Once internal controls are entered summarise them in the summary 
section and tick the "internal controls ok" box if you believe that 
adequate controls are in place. 

  
Related To Tab  
  

Actions Once risks have been updated on Pentana consider whether your 
Service Action Plan needs to be amended to take account of the 
work that still needs to be carried out to bring the risk down to an 
acceptable level.  The aim is to shift the risk from critical to 
comfortable in the prioritisation matrix, at a reasonable cost.   
 
Action plans and risks should be linked on the Pentana system and 
it is recommended that where appropriate, or where the risk is a key 
risk that it is linked to an action and vice versa. 
 

Performance 
Indicators 

Performance indicators can assist in providing feedback for the risk 
management process.  This has the advantage of helping to 
prioritise actions.  
 
Linking risk management to performance indicators assists in 
ensuring risk management is embedded in the Council. 
 
Performance indicators that fall short of expectations or target can 
indicate the effect of risk events or slowly operating control failures. 

Page 1586



 

21 
 

Risks 
 

Link to any other appropriate risks 
 

Assignment of a 
risk to a risk 
category 

Key Risks should be allocated to the Key Risk Register by assigning 
them to category "KR Key Risks".    
 
You should discuss the risk with your Head of Service to ensure that 
they agree with allocating the risk to the Key Risk Register.   (See 
Section 10) 
 
Project Risks should be assigned to a specific project risk register.   
 
If you require a new risk category to be set up, then please contact 
the Risk and Insurance Officer 

  
More Tab 
 

 

Management Select how controlled the risk is 
 

• Uncontrolled - no controls in place that reduce the impact 
or likelihood of the risk occurring 

• Control Pending - controls considered but action not yet 
taken to implement them 

• Controlled – controls in place are reducing the impact and/ 
or likelihood of the risk occurring.   

• Over Controlled – the controls in place are disproportionate 
to the level of risk. 
 

Approach For risks requiring additional treatment, there are four primary 
responses, these are known as the 4T's (see section 8.4).   Select 
one of the 4Ts of risk management: tolerate, terminate, treat and 
transfer. 

  
Risk Assessments 
 

 

Current Risk 
Review Date   

The date that you reviewed the risk.  Even if no change is required 
to the risk this date should be updated so that those looking at the 
register can see that the risk has recently been considered and 
remains unchanged. 
 

Inherent Risk 
Matrix   

This will be completed the first time you score a risk.  Consider the 
Council's risk matrix and where the inherent risk sits in relation to 
likelihood and the impact of all categories then plot the score. 
 

Current Risk Matrix Consider the Council's risk matrix and where the residual risk i.e. 
the current risk sits in relation to likelihood and the impact of all 
categories then plot the score.  The score should illustrate how the 
risk scored at the time of the review.   
 

Target Risk Matrix   What we can do further to reduce the risk down to an acceptable 
level?  Use the Council's risk assessment to calculate the likelihood 
and impact score.    

 

 

Page 1587



 

22 
 

8.6 Monitor and Review 

The purpose of monitoring and review is to assure and improve the quality and effectiveness 

of the risk management process design, implementation and outcomes. Ongoing monitoring 

and periodic review of the risk management process and its outcomes takes place and the 

results are incorporated in our performance management, measurement and reporting 

activities. 

In addition, monitoring and review should take place in all individual stages of the process. It 

is necessary to monitor the risks, controls and any documented actions and to regularly report 

on the progress being made in managing risks, or taking advantage of opportunities, so that 

the achievement of the Council’s aims and objectives is maximised and losses are minimised.   

There needs to be an assessment of the effectiveness of risk management actions put in place 

to reduce the likelihood / impact of adverse risk events occurring. Alternative action will need 

to be taken if the initial action has proved ineffective.  

Reviews of risk registers to ensure they remain up-to-date and relevant should also be carried 

out as;   

• Few risks and risk action plans remain static; risks change, priorities change, actions 
are completed, risk responses that were once effective may become irrelevant. 

• Some may become less of a hazard, for example once all the affected staff have been 
trained. Others may become more likely if a key milestone is approaching, such as 
the end of a funding stream.   

• It may become necessary to escalate a risk if the situation has changed or the initial 
assessment has proven to be inaccurate.  Conversely it may be possible to 
downgrade a risk.  

• New risks identified or opportunities arising will need to be added.    

• It may be appropriate to deactivate risks.   

Monitoring progress and reviewing the risk registers should take place on at least a quarterly 
basis, and more frequently if there are many changes or the project is progressing rapidly.   

Documenting the review of the risk register, service action plans and performance indicators 

is also necessary, but need not be onerous. The fact that the review has been carried out 

should be recorded on Pentana along with a note of any changes made. The Corporate Risk 

Matrix provides a mechanism for escalating risks or highlighting changes that more senior 

management needs to be aware of. 

Deactivation of Risks (See flowchart at Section 11) 

When a risk is realised it may be deactivated from the Pentana system however risks should 

never be deleted so that an audit trail of the management of the risk exists. 

It is important that risks are not deactivated until we are satisfied that the risk no longer 

presents.   

Before risks are deactivated from Service Risk Registers the risk owner must obtain their line 

mangers permission to deactivate the risk.  Text should be entered into the notes section 

advising who deactivated the risk, who approved the risk for deactivation and the reason(s) 

why the risk was deactivated. 

Before risks are deactivated from the Key Risk Register the risk owner must obtain permission 

from their Head of Service to deactivate the risk.  Risk owners must also make the Risk and 

Insurance Officer aware that the risk is being deactivated so that this can be reported to the 

Page 1588



 

23 
 

appropriate Cabinet & Committees. Text should be entered into the notes section advising 

who deactivated the risk, who approved the risk for deactivation and the reason why the risk 

was deactivated. 

 

9. Risk at DMT Meetings 

It is a mandatory requirement that risks are discussed at least quarterly at DMT meetings. 

Although the exact process used will differ between management teams, the following 

questions can be used as a guide to promote discussion.   

1. Are there any risks missing from the risk register that should be included?  

2. Have any of the risks in the risk register changed significantly in terms of impact 

and/ or likelihood and require additional mitigation efforts?  

3. Do any of the risks now require escalation? 

4. Are service action plans and performance indicators still appropriate for the risks? 

5. Is there anything planned in the next 12 months that may give rise to service or key 

risks? 

6. Can any risks be removed from the register? 

7. How might the risks on the key risk register impact the service? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1589



 

24 
 

10. Flowchart Procedure for Adding Risks to Risk Registers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1590



 

25 
 

11. Flowchart Procedure for Removing Risks from Risk Registers 

 

Page 1591



 

26 
 

12. Business Planning & Budget Setting  

 

One of the keys to successfully embedding risk management is ensuring that it is explicitly 

linked to business planning.  In a properly embedded process, remedial action should take 

place to mitigate those risks which managers believe are insufficiently controlled, i.e. where 

the current risk exceeds the Council's risk appetite. Managing under-controlled risks can 

require changes to the way services are delivered or structured, and this may require the 

allocation of additional resources.   

Effective management of risks can only be achieved through the effective management of 

resources. Where control weaknesses are identified which create an unacceptable exposure 

to risk, resources should be allocated to ‘plugging the gap’.  This can take a variety of forms, 

depending upon the nature of the risk, the existing controls, and impact of the exposure.    

Those controls currently in place may require strengthening, or new ones may need 

introducing. For example, it could be that an ICT solution is required to improve efficiency or 

enable additional monitoring; or possibly the feasibility of the service being provided by a 

partner instead of directly by the Council.  These examples have a cost, some of which may 

be financial, some of which may have an opportunity cost.  As a result, it is important that 

managers retain flexibility in their service and financial planning to enable developing risks to 

be managed. Of course, the converse may also apply; the risk process could identify risks 

which are over-controlled. Savings may be achieved by reducing the control environment, 

saving money and / or enabling the re-direction of staff to other areas to improve service 

delivery.   

The risk register and service action plan should be used to record these responses. The 

agreed actions can be logged on both documents, with more detail added on the action plan. 

This could also include a discussion of where the resources to fund the strengthening will 

come from. The result will be a concise analysis of the nature of the risk exposure, the 

response to the problem and the financing of the solution.  Where budget variances occur as 

a result of the additional expenditure, a concise and robust explanation should be available to 

support this.  

It is important to use the knowledge we have acquired through management of our risks to 

inform and shape our future actions.  Action plans should be updated with the results of risk 

assessments which have been previously undertaken. Risk management should not be 

viewed in isolation but should be used as an important tool in informing the business planning 

process.  What we learn now should help us identify what we will do in the future, how we will 

achieve it, and the problems we may encounter.  This will ensure that the risks and mitigations 

already identified are considered and included in subsequent action and business continuity 

plans.  The benefit will be that business and service action plans are as relevant and accurate 

as possible and contribute effectively to the achievement of objectives and the delivery of the 

outcomes and services required.    

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1592



 

27 
 

13. Annual Report & Annual Governance Statement    

There is an Annual Report & Annual Governance Statement (which includes a statement on 

internal control) signed off by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Operating Officer. These 

are published by July following the financial year end.  The Annual Governance Statement is 

included within the Council’s Financial Accounts.   

Directors and Service Heads are specifically asked about risk management within the 

assurance statements they complete which provide supporting evidence for the Annual 

Governance Statement.  Using risk management will assist Directors in completing other 

aspects of their directorate assurance statements.  

Although the arrangements for preparing the directorate assurance statements are well 

established, it is imperative that the process continues to be driven down the organisation.   

It is important that we encourage and where necessary demand the wider use of statements 

across directorates, to assist in demonstrating compliance and accountability.  

 

14. Training 

The Council acknowledges that risk management training for staff and Members is crucial to 

the effectives of embedding Risk Management.  It strives to ensure that all employees have a 

basic understanding of risk management and how the Council's Risk Management Framework 

operates. 

Employees undertake risk management training as a mandatory part of the induction process.  

Two presentations are available, one for Senior Management and Risk Coordinators and one 

for all staff.  New employees should watch the appropriate presentation.  If appropriate they 

should also watch the presentation on how to use the Pentana Risk System.  These 

presentations may also be watched by any member of staff who requires refresher training. 

A risk management toolbox talk should be given to those members of staff who do not have 

intranet access. 

Training for Officers will be arranged and provided annually by the Council's Risk and 

Insurance Officer.  Such training may be outsourced or provided in house. 

Training for Members will be arranged and provided every two years by the Council's Risk and 

Insurance Officer.  Such training may be outsourced or provided in house.  In addition, a risk 

management webinar is available and forms part of Members essential induction training.  This 

webinar can also be viewed as refresher training. 

Frequent "lunch and learn" sessions are run on a variety of risk management topics.  These 

are recorded and are made available on the intranet for all officers to view. 

The quarterly risk newsletter "The Risk Round Up" is a good source of risk information and is 

circulate to all staff and Members.  It highlights training sessions that are available, digests 

risk disasters and lessons that can be learnt from other organisations and covers appropriate 

risk management topics. 

The Risk & Insurance Officer welcomes she opportunity to attend DMT and service meetings 

to discuss risk and to act as a critical friend in reviewing the service risk register. 

Page 1593



 

28 
 

Please contact the Risk and Insurance Officer if any risk management training needs are 

identified within your department and training will be provided. 

 

15. Useful Contact Points / Information  

Head of Finance, Procurement and Commercial Services - James Pierce 

 

Risk and Insurance Officer - Rebecca Spicer 

 

Head of Internal Audit – Jacqueline Pendleton 

 

Emergency Planning Officer - Jenny Jones 

 

Partnership & Performance Officer - Alison Grimes 

 

 

16. Definitions 

 

Word / Term Definition 

Assurance 
 

A positive declaration, given by a Director, that the risks within their 
service area are being managed effectively. 

 
Control Owner 

A control owner is accountable for implementing and maintaining the 
effectiveness of specific controls as recorded in a risk register, in a 
position description or in organisational policies and procedures. 
Control owners may also be responsible for designing or modifying 
controls to improve their effectiveness. 

Cost Of activities, direct and indirect, involving any negative impact, 
including money, time, labour, disruption, goodwill, and political and 
intangible losses. 

Event 
 

An incident or situation, which occurs in a particular place, during a 
particular interval in time. 

Hazard A source of potential harm or a situation with a potential to cause 
loss. 

Impact The probable effect on the Council if the risk occurs or the 
opportunity is not taken. 

Inherent Risk The likelihood and impact of the risk if no action is taken or existing 
actions cease. 

Key Risk Register This records those risks which if they occur would have the greatest 
impact on the Council, the achievement of its priorities, objectives 
and activities.  They are strategic high-level Council risks. 

Likelihood How often a risk is expected to materialise 
 

Loss Any negative consequences, financial or otherwise. 
 

Management 
Assurance 

The opinion given by managers, based on evidence they have 
obtained from reviewing and improving the controls in place, 
regarding the adequacy of the management of risks and the 
achievement of service objectives within their area of responsibility. 

Page 1594



 

29 
 

Monitor To check, supervise, observe critically, or record the progress of an 
activity, action or system on a regular basis in order to identify 
change. 

Objective A fundamental service delivery aim. 
 

Residual Risk The remaining level of risk after effective mitigating action has been 
taken to manage the likelihood and or impact of the risk.  Often 
referred to as the current risk. 

Risk An event / series of events happening or action(s) taken that will 
prevent the Council from achieving its planned objectives, in part or 
in full. A risk can also be the failure to take advantage of 
opportunities to optimise the Council achieving its planned 
objectives. 

Risk Acceptance An informed decision is taken to accept the impact and the likelihood 
of a particular risk. 

Risk Analysis A systematic use of available information to determine how often 
specified events may occur and the magnitude of their 
consequences. 

Risk Appetite The amount of risk that the Council is prepared to accept, tolerate 
or be exposed to - see the Council's Risk Appetite Statement. 

Risk Avoidance 
 

An informed decision not to become involved in a risk situation. 

Risk Capacity The capability of the organisation to take risk. 

Risk Control That part of risk management that involves the implementation of 
policies, standards, procedures and physical changes to eliminate 
or minimise negative risk. 

Risk Exposure How much is actually at risk 

Risk Evaluation A decision point in which we decide whether to respond or not to 
respond to the risk. 

Service Risk 
Register 

Records operational risks which are faced in the day to day delivery 
of services.  Service risks are those that could have an effect on the 
successful achievement of the service priorities, objectives and 
activities 

Stakeholder An individual, group or organisation that can affect, be affected by, 
or perceive itself to be affected by risk. 

Virement Movement of funds between budget codes within the financial year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1595



 

30 
 

17. Risk Management Work Cycle 

 

 

Page 1596



1 

Key Risk Report 
 
 

 
 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

Finance, 
Procurement & 
Commercial 
Services  

Potential Treasury 
Management 

Investment Losses. 

Volatility in financial 
markets can create 
risks on 
investments, which 
means there is the 
potential that 
significant sums of 
money could be 
lost. 
 

Treasury management policy and strategy in 
place. 

The GRA and HRA midyear outlook 
estimates show that this volatility is in 
evidence and could result in material 
shortfalls in investment returns. The 
increase in interest rates in response 
to the inflationary situation in the UK 
in anticipated to have a favourable 
interest in Treasury Management 
returns in 22-23. 

 

4 Cautious 

Well trained staff make investments with the 
guidance of brokers and treasury advisors  

Investments can only be made in top rated 
UK based institutions or other local 
Authorities. 

Finance, 
Procurement & 
Commercial 
Services  

Achieving a balanced 
General Revenue 
Account budget 
position 

On-going reductions 
in Government 
funding and other 
financial pressures 
will need to be 
addressed to meet 
the statutory 
requirement to set a 
balanced budget. 

Regular Review and update of medium-term 
financial forecast 

The latest iteration of the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy indicates an 
improved financial position over the 
medium term and a balanced budget 
position being achievable over the next 
three years. 

 

6 Cautious 

Review of any savings requirement & delivery 

in order to close any budget gap 

Provision of regular monthly financial 
monitoring. This is conducted by the finance 
team to budged holders. 

Regular review and update of reserves 

Finance, 
Procurement & 
Commercial 
Services  

External Funding 
Uncertainty 

Impact on delivery 
of strategic projects 
and priorities 

Medium Term Financial Strategy in place.  
Regularly updated with changes and 
assumptions revisited 
 
Ensure commercial strategy is fit for purpose. 
Ensure that all our investments generate a 
positive financial return for the Council. 

The commercial strategy has been 
updated to reflect changes in the PWLB 
rules (the inability to invest purely for 
yield purposes). This does not affect 
development within the Borough.  An 
independent review has been 
undertaken of TVDL by Local  

6 Cautious 

P
age 1597



2 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

To manage and grow our development 
company 
 
To ensure our development company 
continues to generate a profit through its 
business activities. 

Partnerships and a report is expected 
shortly that will be presented to 
Members. 

Finance, 
Procurement & 
Commercial 
Services  

Failure to deliver a 
successful Our 
Future Our Place 
Project. 

This project is 
designed to improve 
economic efficiency 
and effectiveness 
across Council 
Services and 
support the 
sustainable financial 
position of the 
Council.   
 

A best practice project management 
framework is in place to identify scope, 
outcomes, resources, accountability, and 
timescales. 
  
The Our Futures Organisation and Our 
Futures Place Program boards meet and feed 
into the Our Future Our Place Transformation 
Board. A detailed risk register is in place to 
ensure the effective mitigation of the main 
risks associated with the project. 
 
 

Key resources and project groups are 
established to ensure the progression 
and delivery of all agreed projects.   
 
Monthly meetings of the two boards 
and the Our Future Our Place 
Transformation Board monitors 
progress in line with expectation.   

 

6 Cautious 

Growth & 
Development 
Services  

Delays in preparation 
of new Local Plan 

The preparation of a 
Local Plan is a 
complicated and 
lengthy process 
involving various 
different parties and 
so a number of 
factors can 
potentially cause 
delay. Should the 
preparation of a 
new Local Plan be 
delayed, the 
existing adopted 
Local Plan becomes 
more out-of-date 
over time, 
potentially 
weakening the 
ability of the Council 
to defend decisions 
based upon it. New 

Timetabling. Set a realistic timetable taking 

into account resources, constraints, and 
linked timetables (e.g., Committee cycles).  

The draft new Local Plan was published 
for its 'Scope, Issues and Options' 
consultation on 18 November (until 27 
January 2022), meeting the first major 
stage of preparation on time. 
 
Approval is being sought from Cabinet 
in March 2022 to revise the Local 
Development Scheme (i.e. the official 
timetable for preparing the Local Plan).  
The revised LDS moves the next 
consultation stage back from autumn 
2022 to summer 2023 to reflect 
a) Extra work to be incorporated into 
this next stage (i.e. the writing of Local 
Plan policies), and 
b) Departures of staff and the need to 
recruit replacement staff. 
 
Meeting the LDS timetable will depend 
upon the timely recruitment of 
replacements for the Local Plan team 

 

4 Cautious 

Project management. Ensure strong 
programme / project management.  

Communication - Statutory Consultees. 
Advise necessary bodies (e.g., Planning 
Inspectorate) of intentions at the earliest 
possible time. 

Member engagement. Engage with Members 
(e.g., via Cabinet Working Group) to seek 
cross-party consensus 

Communication – Members. Share 
information early with Members to reduce the 
likelihood of late amendments 

Budgetary provision. Obtain adequate 
budgetary provision for required consultancy 
support 

Staffing. Maximise flexibility across the 

P
age 1598



3 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

opportunities for 
development may 
be restricted and 
may come forward 
on an ad hoc, 
unplanned basis. 
There is potential 
for Government to 
intervene in plan-
making if 
insufficient progress 
is being made. 

Service so that planning officers from other 
teams can help with workload.  Ensure quick 
replacement of any vacant posts. 

leader, principal planning officer, and 
senior planning officer. 
 

Joint working. Explore opportunities for joint 
working and service sharing. Liaise with 

external bodies and seek their agreement 
early.  Establish clear working arrangements 
with partners when working jointly. 

Legal / policy compliance. Ensure procedures, 
Acts and Regulations are complied with. 
Closely monitor and follow national policy and 
guidance.  

Follow best practice. Monitor key planning 
decisions nationwide to ascertain correct and 
best practice.  Make use of such resources as 
the PAS Local Plan toolkit and 'Critical Friend'. 

Growth & 
Development 
Services   

Failure to deliver 
Skelmersdale Town 
Centre phase 1 retail 
development 

Material impact on 
wellbeing of local 
community 

Delivery of town centre retail scheme by St 
Modwen. Weekly risk meetings and monthly 
progress meetings with design team, 
Contractor, St Modwen and WLBC. 
Heads of Terms have been agreed for the one 
vacant unit and Solicitors have been 
instructed.  An update report was taken to 
the October Council meeting. 

The original forecast completion date 
of 6 December 2021 has not been 
achieved due to delays in United 
Utilities connecting the new water 
main and LCC requiring an enhanced 
specification to allow the public realm 
works to be adopted. 
 
Options are being explored to allow the 
retailers early occupation of their units 
so they can be fitted out thereby 
allowing an opening in June 2022. 
 
Weekly risk management meetings are 
held and monthly team meetings 
supplement this  

 

2 Comfortable Procurement Challenge.  No challenge was 
made before 4th July 2021. 

Financial performance of Phase 1 project. 
Although this project should be considered as 
a regeneration project as well as an 
investment, a report was taken to October 
Council comparing the financial forecast in 
October 2019 to the current financial 
forecast.   

P
age 1599



4 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

Wellbeing & 
Leisure Services  

Not agreeing on and 
delivering a 
sustainable and 
affordable leisure 
provision 

If we are not able to 
deliver this there 
will be a continued 
need to subsidise 
existing buildings 
and the inability to 

develop new 
prevision. 

Project Governance.  
 
Internal project team in place comprising 
financial, procurement and legal 
representatives.  
 
Regular meetings with CMT and Cabinet. 
 
Working Group to progress sustainable and 
affordable options 

The Councils current Leisure Contract 
with West Lancashire Community 
Leisure Trust and Serco expires on 
31st March 2022. 
 
A report was approved by Council in 
late 2021 which gave authority to 
commence a procurement exercise to 
procure a new Leisure Operator. The 
procurement exercise is likely to take 
9 to 12 months and as such interim 
option is being put in place from April 
2022 that will involve an extension of 
current arrangements with Serco.  
 
Officers also continue to explore 
affordable solutions in relation to the 
provision of new Wellbeing and Leisure 
Hub facilities in Ormskirk and 
Skelmersdale. 
 

 

9 Concerned 

Housing & 
Regulatory 
Services  

COVID-19 
Business continuity, 
staff and supplier 
disruption. 

PCR Testing. A single fixed testing site (LTS) 
(Westgate) remains within the Borough. The 
Council continues to support the provision of 
mobile testing units (MTU). 

Whilst numbers are decreasing [at 
time of writing], infection remains 
high. The increased protection offered 
through vaccination is enduring. 
Hospitalisation / critical care impacts 
therefore appear to be reduced, but 
there is an impact on social / medical 
care in the community when cases are 
ill and require care, but away from 
hospital. There are also significant 
business continuity risks for all sectors 
and Council services.  
 
Govt has confirmed the end of Plan B 
restrictions on 26/03/22 and a 
potential end to self-isolation by March 
2022. As the disease moves from 
pandemic to endemic there are 
associated medium/long service issues 
and risks that will need to be 

 

4 Cautious 

LFD Testing. A shortage of LFDs due to 
omicron variant remains but is easing. The 
Council is not expected to deliver any further 
testing aside from liaising with businesses 
and affected sectors of the community in 
partnership with LCC public health - 
particularly if involved in outbreaks. 

Surge testing. Solely, as a contingency, the 
Council retains equipment should surge plans 
require quick mobilisation. 

Local Contact Tracing. The surge in cases due 
to the omicron variant has swamped all local 
authority resources. Moreover, increased 
community spread and reduced national 
controls means that the impact the Council 

P
age 1600



5 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

can make through local calls is very limited. addressed nationally, regionally, and 
locally. The Council remains in close 
contact with all relevant agencies 
accordingly. 

Vaccine coordination. WLCCG are the lead 
organisation. The ongoing offer designed to 
target hard to reach groups will be an 
evergreen offer provided by the NHS. The 

booster programme will likely extend into 
March 2022. The Council has a strong 
working relationship with WLCCG to continue 
to identify low uptake areas and also support 
mobile deployments. This will include routine 
comms to support vaccine uptake. 

Communications. There will be an ongoing 
need to promote vaccines, boosters and 
testing so our comms team will continue to 
plan periodic campaigns which will continue 
until March 2022. 

Isolation Support. MOP are still required to 
isolate with a positive PCR test until March 
2022 (unless brought forward by the Govt). 
The Council maintains its capability to provide 
support through established pathways despite 
local contact tracing coming to an end. 

Internal meetings. The omicron variant has 
led to a resurgence of meetings within the 
LRF and within the Council. However, this 
frequency is decreasing at time of writing. 
CIMT will continue to meet at a frequency to 
match LRF RCG meetings. 

Housing & 
Regulatory 
Services  

Landlord Compliance 
& Regulatory 
Requirements 
(Health & Safety) 

Injury or death to 
tenants, resident or 
visitors. Significant 
adverse publicity. 
Regulatory impact. 

There are robust processes in place to ensure 
the required inspection cycles are met 
relating to the 5 key risk areas for statutory 
compliance relating to: Gas Safety / Fire 
Safety/ Asbestos Management / Water 
Management and Electrical Safety. Review of 
the processes and procedures is incorporated 
into the internal audit programme. Migration 
to system driven management is underway. 

The compliance team continue to 
ensure the ongoing testing, servicing 
and repairs are completed on the 
council's stock to ensure compliance 
with current legislation and for the 
safety of residents and staff. 

 

8 Concerned 

P
age 1601



6 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

Corporate & 

Customer Services 
 

Failure or Prolonged 
Loss of ICT 

• Data Integrity 

Issues with one or 
more systems  

• Security Breaches 

including System 
Attack (hacking, 
malware and virus 
injection)  

• Infrastructure 

Failure (hardware or 
software)  

• Inadequate 

Resilience 
(Infrastructure 
Hardware or 
Systems)  

• Inadequate 

Measures against 
theft or 
unauthorised 
removal of ICT 
equipment  

• Lack of Resource 

(Staffing) due to 
high absence levels  
 
  
Possible 
consequences of 
any of the above 
  

• Loss of ICT 

(Systems, Data, 
Access or 
Connectivity)  

• Inability to provide 

business critical 
systems or services 

West Lancs Borough Council 
 

 Information Security Policies (WLBC) 
 Corporate sign-off of critical systems 

(WLBC Need to assess and keep up 
to date a Critical Systems List) 

 Business continuity arrangements for 
services (WLBC) 

 Insurance (WLBC) 
  
 
o   Lancashire County Council – Digital 
Service 
 

 ICT Security Strategy (LCC Digital) 
Failover testing of power and infrastructure 
(LCC Digital) 

 Maintain fit for purpose ICT provision 
(LCC Digital) 

 Ongoing infrastructure upgrade 
programme (LCC Digital) 

 Annual Infrastructure Refresh 
Programme 

 SLA for 99.8% availability for priority 
ICT systems (LCC Digital) 

 Formal ICT change management 
process (LCC Digital) 

 Annual network penetration testing 
and PSN audit (LCC Digital) 

 Annual PSN Compliance Checks, 
Remediation Plan and Mitigations. 

  
 
o   Lancashire County Council and West Lancs 
Borough Council 
 

 Internal audit assessments and 
reviews (LCC Digital and WLBC) 

 Third party support contracts (LCC 
Digital and WLBC) 

WLBC have entered into a 
Collaboration agreement with LCC to 
deliver of ICT service as of 1st April 
2021.   
 
The staff transferred with the service 
are experienced in supporting the ICT 
needs of WLBC.   
 
Quarterly Service Review meetings 
take place between senior officers from 
WLBC & LCC. 
 
Strategy sessions are planned for 
March/April 2022 to develop the future 
delivery programme in line with WLBC 
priorities.    
 
Disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans will be reviewed to 
ensure the needs of WLBC are 
adequately covered. 

 

8 Concerned 

P
age 1602



7 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

(i.e. contact centre, 
planning) etc.  

• Loss of reputation  

• Loss of 

productivity   
 

Corporate & 
Customer Services 
 

Recruitment and 
Retention of Key 
Staff 

Adverse impact on 
services could place 
pressure on existing 
staff. Difficulties in 
recruiting, unable to 
compete in open 
market. 

Developing Coaching Apprenticeships to 
increases the level of management coaching 

available to build internal talent and 
strengthen leadership skills. Development of 
Manager and aspiring manager 
apprenticeships to assist with growing our 
own talent.  The Matrix contract has been 
retendered and the contract amended to 
ensure it can provide an agency supply into 
key service areas in a more effective way, 
enabling Managers to seek agency staff 
outside of the Matrix framework if necessary. 
Workforce planning processes are integrated 
into Council main annual business planning 
processes. This means that workforce 
requirements and resources are identified at 
an early stage in the business planning 
process. Structures and services are reviewed 
at the event of each vacancy to ensure 
adequate consideration is given to changes 
that could be made.  New Organisational 
Change restructure currently being consulted 
upon. Consultation closed on 24 December 
2022.  The proposed implementation of the 
new structure is due 1.4.22. It is anticipated 
that this organisational change will address 
some challenges identified following the 
previous organisational restructure. 

The risk remains. However, 
recruitment and selection are an issue 

Nationally in some key service areas. 
The Council is continuously reviewing 
the best way to fill any vacancies, 
including the potential use of 
recruitment agencies for specialist, 
senior or hard to fill posts. 

 

4 Cautious 

Corporate & 
Customer Services 
 

Significant failure to 
comply with General 
Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR 
and Data Protection 

The GDPR and Data 
Protection Act 2018 
brought 
considerable 
changes to the 

Discussion for IG Committee. Discussion to 
take place with the IG Committee around this 
risk 

Significant progress has been made as 
part EDM phase 1 and 2 with the 
action plan performance managed via 
Internal Audit and the IG Committee. 
Most of the original development areas 

 

6 Cautious 

Engaging Internal Audit. Engaging Internal 

Audit 

P
age 1603



8 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

Act 2018). current data 
protection 
framework and the 
Council must deliver 
its services in 
accordance with it. 
There are 
substantial 
enhancements to 
the current 
requirements as 
well as some new 
elements. 
Compliance had 
significant resource 
implications in 
terms of budget, IT, 
Governance and 
communications. 
There are a range of 
sanctions for 
breaches including 
fines and damages. 
Failure to report a 
breach would result 
in a fine as well as a 
fine for the breach 
itself. 
 

Mandatory IG/UK GDPR Training,  
Data Protection Impact Assessments  
NHS Data Security & Protection Toolkit annual 
submission 
Robust IG Policies and Protocols  
Internal and GDPR / IG Audits  
IG Committee 
Appointed SIRO and DPO 

on the back of the last GDPR audit 
have been completed now with the 
remaining scheduled to be delivered 
before March 2022. If there are any 
actions left to be completed, this will 
be taken up via the IG Committee and 
followed up. 

 

Failure for Tawd 
Valley Developments 
to deliver the 
Business Plan agreed 
by Council. 

Tawd Valley 
Developments offers 
opportunities of 
generating income 
from developments 
however, volatility 
in development / 
financial markets 
can create risks on 
investments, which 
means there is the 
potential that 

Approval of the annual business plan. Council 
review and approve the company's annual 
business plan.  Any changes during the year 
to this will require Council approval. 

The five schemes included in phase 1 
of the business plan are all on site or 
delivered.  
 
The latest forecast for phase 2, subject 
to planning approvals is for 111 
affordable homes and 3 for open 
market sale against the BP forecast of 
132. 
 
The Council has initiated an 
independent review of TVDL, and the 

 

8 Concerned 
Company risk management strategy. The 
Company Directors have an agreed risk 
management strategy which is reviewed at 
board meetings 

Company Directors monitor delivery of the 
business plan. Performance against the 
delivery of the business plan is overseen by 

P
age 1604



9 

Responsible 
Service Title of Risk Potential Effect Internal Controls Latest Note Current Risk Matrix 

Current Risk 
Assessment 
and Score 

significant sums of 
money could be 
lost. 

the Company Directors outcome of this review will determine 
the future direction of the company 
and the delivery of future phases of 
delivery.   
 
 

TVD Shareholder Cabinet Working Group 
established to monitor performance against 
the business plan and make 
recommendations to the COO on the exercise 

of her delegation as Shareholder for the 
Company 

Quarterly member's update. Member's update 
reported to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 

Gateway approval process. TVD carry out site 
appraisals and detailed analysis to determine 
viable schemes.  Company directors approve 
scheme progression at various stages using 
gateway approval process 

Change tenure. The Council has the ability to 
change the scheme tenure to mitigate risk of 
market sale 

Reserved matters. Reserved matters are 
signed by Company Directors and set out 
decisions and matters which are reserved for 

the Council as shareholder. 

 
 

 

 

Risk Status 

 
Critical 

 
Concerned 

 
Cautious 

 
Comfortable 

 

  

 
  

P
age 1605





1 

 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEM:   
 

 
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE: 24 FEBRUARY 2022 
 
CABINET: 8 MARCH 2022 
 
 

 
Report of: Corporate Director of Transformation and Resources 
                       
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor I Moran 
 
Contact for further information: Ms A Grimes (Extn. 3211)  
    (E-mail: alison.grimes@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORTING 2022/23 
 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek approval for the Corporate Performance Reporting for 2022/23. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE  
 
2.1 That the Committee consider the suite of Key Performance Indicators 2022/23 

(Appendix A) and agree comments as appropriate. 
 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
3.1 That, subject to consideration of the agreed comments of the Executive Overview 

& Scrutiny Committee, the suite of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and 
targets in Appendix A are approved and adopted for reporting as part of a 
Council Plan Corporate Delivery Plan to evidence progress with the Council Plan.  

 
3.2 That the Corporate Director of Transformation and Resources, in consultation 

with the Leader of the Council as Portfolio Holder, be authorised to finalise and 
amend the suite (Appendix A) having regard to agreed comments from Executive 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee made on 24 February 2022, and to make 
necessary amendments to the suite in year in response to any issues that may 
arise, for example government policy or collection mechanisms.  

 
 

 
 

Page 1607

Agenda Item 12



2 

 

4.0 CURRENT POSITION  
 

4.1 The Council Plan 2020-23 was agreed at Council in October 2020 detailing the 
Vision and Priorities for the organisation. The Plan provides clarity of purpose for 
the Council allowing efficient communication of its strategic direction with the 
public, stakeholders and staff. This in turn allows effective planning and 
prioritisation of work and supports transparency and accountability. The Plan is 
provided in Appendix B for reference. 
 

4.2 Services have developed actions (the "We Will..." statements) to meet those 
priorities over the lifespan of the Plan. This covers a large amount of work over 
several years across a broad spectrum of services. Progress against these 
actions is summarised and reported to Members along with the supporting KPIs 
on a quarterly basis as a Corporate Performance Delivery Plan. 

 
4.3 The suite of indicators aims to measure the strategic priorities and associated 

actions (Appendix A). Monitoring these indicators reflects Members' role in the 
implementation of the Council Plan. Service data is however still used and 
actively monitored by Managers and Heads of Service to ensure effective 
operational delivery.  
 

4.4 Targets for the KPIs in Appendix A have been set after consideration by services 
to be challenging but realistic based on current expectations and Cabinet is 
asked to agree these targets for the coming year. Other than target changes, 
changes include: 
 
Proposed Changes 

 Remove: WL164: Savings within financial year (since no savings 
requirement identified in the Medium Term Financial Strategy) 

 Remove NI191: Kerbside residual household waste per household (Kg) 
(still to be monitored in-service; promotion but limited Council influence on 
outturn) 

 Replace: B1: Time taken to process Housing Benefit/Council Tax Support 
new claims change events with B5: Time taken to process Housing Benefit 
new claims and change events (CTS still to be monitored in-services, but 
CTS largely determined by UC process. 

 
4.5 An important factor for performance in many service areas will continue to be the 

ongoing impacts of the COVID pandemic. As with 2020/21, the current year 
performance in the majority of cases will have been affected by this and the 
impact will likely continue for an uncertain period of time into the next year.   
 

4.6 In addition to KPIs, information of 'data only' is provided where targets have not 
been set, with explanations provided in the Appendix. It should be noted that not 
all KPIs will have a quarterly outturn. Explanations of underperformance and 
activity to address this within actions or KPIs will be provided within the report.  
 

4.7 Future refresh/development of the Council Plan and review of KPIs / targets will 
be carried out together so that they are not considered in isolation. There is no 
change to the Council Plan for 2022/23 other than where actions have been 
completed and this is indicated in Appendix B.  
 
 

Page 1608



3 

 

 

5.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPACTS 
 
5.1 The information set out in this report aims to help the Council achieve its vision 

and priorities and should contribute to the sustainability of services and the 
borough as a whole. There are no significant sustainability impacts associated 
with this report/update and, in particular, no significant impact on crime and 
disorder.  

 
 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The Council Plan aims to ensure the Council is able to continue to pursue its 

objectives, within the resources available and can monitor and manage use of 
those resources.  An agreed Council Plan will assist in shaping budget decisions 
and enable clear priorities to be set for services.  There are no direct financial or 
resource implications arising from this report. 

 
 
7.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 The actions referred to in this report are covered by the scheme of delegation to 

officers and any necessary changes have been made in the relevant risk 
registers. Having well-defined priorities means that attention and resources can 
be effectively focussed on managing, monitoring and achieving the Council's 
core objectives and reduces the risk of not doing so. Monitoring and managing 
the priorities, actions and KPIs is therefore an essential part of delivering the 
plan. 

 
8.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1  The Council Plan supports health and wellbeing within West Lancashire in a 

variety of ways. The priority Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and 
resilient specifically outlines what we want and what we intend to do to achieve 
this. In addition, a positive impact on Health & Wellbeing will also be achieved 
through the wider work of the other priorities and actions of the plan. 

 

 
Background Documents 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The decision does not have any direct impact on members of the public, employees, 
elected members and / or stakeholders.  Therefore no Equality Impact Assessment is 
required. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Proposed KPIs 2022/23   
Appendix B: WLBC Council Plan 2020-2023 

Page 1609





APPENDIX A: PROPOSED KPIs 2022/23

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Value Value Value

E01 % rent loss through empty 
commercial properties available to rent N/A N/A N/A 10% 10%

Target considered prudent ; if properties are unavailable to rent due to e.g. 
undertaking re-roofing repairs or not meeting EPC rating they are not available and 
therefore not included in the count Quarterly S FPCPS

WL150 Number of new participants 
engaged in health & wellbeing 
programmes/interventions N/a N/a N/a 250 250

The Business Health Matters programme introduction may see numbers increase. There 
are delivery restrictions owing to budget availability. Face to face interventions are 
anticipated to rise when restrictions are lifted. Quarterly H WLS

WL151a Number of new clients 
attending vocational training N/a N/a N/a 38 50

Succesful previous year and extension of MPT for a further 2 years however Kickstart 
programme will be winding down. Quarterly H WLS

WL151b Number of new participants 
engaged to enhance employability, 
confidence, skills and qualifications N/a N/a N/a 40 140 To better reflect current perfomance Quarterly H WLS

WL153a No. of partners working with 
Wellbeing and Leisure Service N/A N/A N/A 81 81

Evidencing the number of partners the team engage with to deliver and develop the 
services Quarterly H WLS

WL157a No. visits to leisure facilities N/A N/A N/A 573,800 480,000

The target is based on actuals year to date in 2021/2022 and reflects the fact that 
returns to activity have been encouraging in most areas however there is still room for 
growth with Health and Fitness activities Quarterly H WLS

WL159 No. attending parks and 
countryside events and activities 41,265 63,547 0 5,500 15,000

This covers events that are run by the Ranger service and externally organised events 
and assumes that major events will not take place. Quarterly H WLS

WL160 No. Green Flag Awards 2 2 Maintain existing awards Annual G WLS

WL162 Effective use of resources N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Target demonstrates auditor recognition of governance Annual S FPCPS

WL163 Regulatory requirements met 
(financial statements) N/A N/A Yes Yes Yes Target demonstrates auditor recognition of governance Annual S FPCPS

WL164 Savings within financial year N/A N/A N/A £750,000
Remove for 

22/23
Proposal to delete - there is no savings requirement identified in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy N/A S FPCPS

NI 155 Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 23 210 133 60 Data only

Although outcome is influenced  using our enabling role to engage with: Our registered 
provider partners to encourage development in West Lancs; Homes England in support 
of grant applications for proposed developments in the Borough ; Private developers 
where affordable housing is required by virtue of a planning obligation, the Council 
doesnt have total control over the outcome so reported as data only. Annual C GDS

NI 154 Net additional homes provided 351 622 458 335 335  Housing Requirement identified in adopted West Lancashire Local Plan Annual C GDS

NI 159 Supply of ready to develop 
housing sites 103% 227% 224% 120% 120%

Use of 120% as an ongoing target will help to ensure Council plans for a reasonable, 
best practice buffer of housing supply in case delivery of housing should drop 
unexpectedly (e.g. because of recession) or the need should change (upwards). Annual C GDS

WL144a Vacancy levels - Vacant units in 
Burscough 0% N/A 4.40% 0% 2%

Contextual as not all within Council control. Keeping vacancy rates to zero, as previous 
years, will be challenging in light of economic changes arising from Covid. 2% strikes 
balance between 2018/19 levels, and 2020/21 (Covid) levels. Annual B GDS

WL144b Vacancy levels - Vacant units in 
Ormskirk 9.40% N/A 7% 9% 9%

Contextual as not all within Council control. Reducing vacancy rates will be challenging 
in light of economic impact of COVID, as such targets involve keeping vacancy levels at 
2018/19 levels. Reducing vacancy rates will be challenging in light of economic impact 
of COVID, as such targets for next year (22/23) involves keeping vacancy levels at 
2018/19 levels. Annual B GDS

WL144c Vacancy levels - Vacant units in 
Skelmersdale 18% N/A 25.30% 18% 18% As above Annual B GDS

Targets 2021‐23Results 2018/19‐2020/21

Service 
Lead

Notes
Reporting 
frequency 

Corporate 
Priority

N/A

Performance Indicator
Annual target 

2021/22

Proposed 
Annual target 

2022/23

Appendix A page 1

P
age 1611



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Value Value Value

R1 % of Council Tax collected 96.46% 96.29% 93.06% 97.10% 97.10%

Performance has dropped significantly due to decisions made by Council to cease 
recovery from April 20 to October 21, but with recovery recommenced now we aim to 
return next year to pre Covid performance outturns as customers get used to adjusting 
their budgets to start paying CT again, then improve on this in future years. It is 
anticipated that this PI target will be increased from 23/24 Quarterly S CCS

R3 % of Business Rates Collected 
(NNDR) 98.22% 98.02% 87.46% 97.20% 97.2 As above Quarterly S CCS
BV8 % invoices paid on time (within 
quarter) 98.21% 98.34% 95.95% 98.75% 98.75% Quarterly B CCS
B5 Time taken to process Housing 
Benefit new claims and change events 
(days) (ytd) N/A N/A N/A N/A 12

NEW. As outlined in quarterly performance reports a revised definition better reflects 
the ongoing performance within the Benefits Service. Quarterly H CCS

B1 Time taken to process Housing 
Benefit/Council Tax Support new claims 
and change events (days) (ytd) 6.16 7.73 12 12

Delete/
replace for 

22/23

Proposal to replace. Original definition included Council Tax Benefit (CTB). CTB was 
abolished in 2013 and replaced by Council Tax Support (CTS). This data was then 
included for reporting purposes. However, CTS administration is largely determined by 
Universal Credit new claims and changes in circumstances and calculations are inclusive 
from the point of registration with the DWP. The period between that registration and 
receipt by the service cannot be influenced by the service. A huge increase in CTS 
claims through UC significantly skews the combined processing figure and does not give 
a measure of the Benefits Service performance. The DWP monitor performance for 
Housing Benefit only and do not take into account CTS.

The Benefit Service will continue to record and monitor CTS separately but not use in a 
combined speed of processing PI as it does not give a true measure of service 
performance To replace H CCS

ER07 Number of businesses signed up 
as Skelmersdale Ambassadors 28 N/A N/A 40 Data only

At the moment  the Business Engagement team focus is on the issuing of Business 
Grants and supporting the recovery of businesses due to the pandemic. The 
Ambassadors programme has been placed on hold.  A review of the programme will be 
undertaken to reflect on the approach and  inform any future targets once the detailed 
work on the Business Grants has been completed. Quarterly B CCS

ER09 Number of businesses added value 
to via support i.e. property searches, 
skills and employment 11 9 109 Data only Data only Customer driven demand Quarterly B CCS

WL148 Value of business support grants 
allocated and processed (million) N/A N/A £39.70 Data only Data only

Outturn based on the value of COVID related government grant schemes distributed to 
WL businesses Quarterly B CCS

WL108 Average answered waiting time 
for callers to the contact centre 
(seconds) 250 121 43 145 145

Due to the pandemic the CSPs have been operating at a reduced level; the staff that 
would usually provide this face to face service have been handling calls.  With effect 
from 01/03/22, the Revenues and Benefits call handling service will return to the 
Council and will be handled by the Customer Services team.  Whilst resources have 
been recruited to support this work, this may have an impact on performance.   It is 
therefore appropriate to retain the current call handling targets and to review this 
during the coming year as part of the redesign of the service.  Quarterly E CCS

WL90 % of Contact Centre calls 
answered 72.20% 85.90% 96.50% 88.00% 88% As above Quarterly E CCS
WL85a Website: no. visits 657,969 648,500 546,671 Data only Data only Quarterly E CCS
WL85c Website: No. of payments 
processed online 69,607 64,990 78,042 Data only Data only Quarterly E CCS
WL130 No. Service Now Customer 
Accounts N/A 24,734 39,333 data only data only Quarterly S CCS
WL131 No. Social Media Followers 
(WLBC FB, Twitter) N/A 9,567 13,715 data only data only Quarterly E CCS

Notes
Reporting 
frequency 

Corporate 
Priority

Service 
Lead

Results 2018/19‐2020/21 Targets 2021‐23

Performance Indicator
Annual target 

2021/22

Proposed 
Annual target 

2022/23

Appendix A page 2

P
age 1612



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Value Value Value
WL132-c19 FTE working days lost due to 
sickness absence per average FTE 
(COVID Inclusive) N/A 10.46 8.64 8.08 8.08 Quarterly S CCS
WL161 Affordable Housing units via 
Tawd Valley Developments N/A N/A N/A 44 TBC Target will be taken from the TVD Business Plan due to be approved later in the year. Quarterly C TVD

TS1a Rent collected from current and 
former tenants as a % of rent owed 
(excluding arrears b/f). N/a 101.74 100.26 100.04 100

Based on the current average cash collection performance this would be a challenging 
target ; middle quartile for Housemark benchmark Quarterly S HRS

TS52 No. tenants accessing money 
advice service N/a N/a N/a Data only Data only  Data only for information linked to Financial Inclusion Strategy Quarterly H HRS

TS53 No. tenants supported with Food 
Poverty advice N/a N/a N/a Data only Data only  Data only for information linked to Financial Inclusion Strategy Quarterly H HRS

TS54 No. people provided with money 
advice to help prevent homelessness 
(tenants & residents) N/a N/a N/a Data only Data only  Data only for information linked to Financial Inclusion Strategy Quarterly H HRS

TS55 No. tenants provided with fuel 
poverty advice N/a N/a N/a Data only Data only  Data only for information linked to Financial Inclusion Strategy Quarterly H HRS

HS14 % non-decent council homes 0.07% 0.03% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% Standards Quarterly H HRS
HS27 % of properties with a valid 
Landlord Gas Safety Record (homes and 
buildings) 100.00% 100.00% 99.90% 100.00% 100.00% Standards Quarterly H HRS

HS28 % of properties with a valid 
Electrical Installation Condition Report 
(homes and buildings) 98.80% 97.60% 98.10% 100.00% 100.00% Standards Quarterly H HRS

HS29 % non-domestic that require an 
asbestos management survey/re-
inspection 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% Standards Quarterly H HRS

HS30 % of non-domestic properties with 
fire risk assessment in place 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% Standards Quarterly H HRS
HS31 % of properties covered by water 
hygiene risk assessment (homes and 
buildings) 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% Standards Quarterly H HRS

TS11 % of rent loss through dwellings 
being vacant 0.94% 0.87% 1.45% 0.99% 1.10%

Proposed target has been set using comparative data from Housemark and previous 
performace since start of Wates contract. Median performance across peer group is 
1.19% Quarterly H HRS

ES19a % successful planned bin 
collections (grey) N/A N/A N/A 96% 97% Increase reflects continued stretch for greater effectiveness Quarterly C ES

ES19b % successful planned bin 
collections (blue) N/A N/A N/A 96% 97% As above Quarterly C ES

ES19c % successful planned bin 
collections (brown) N/A N/A N/A 96% 97% As above Quarterly C ES

ES19d % successful planned bin 
collections (green) N/A N/A N/A 96% 97% As above Quarterly C ES

Notes
Reporting 
frequency 

Corporate 
Priority

Service 
Lead

Performance Indicator
Annual target 

2021/22

Proposed 
Annual target 

2022/23

Results 2018/19‐2020/21 Targets 2021‐23

Appendix A page 3

P
age 1613



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Value Value Value

NI191 Kerbside residual household 
waste per household (Kg) 485.62 541.32 543.21 500

Remove for 
22/23

The Councill has limited control over the outturn of this. The data will continue to be 
montired within service. As greater numbers of people work from home this has 
inevitably produced more waste for Council household collections and is likely to remain 
at higher than previous levels even with many people returning to work resulting in 
higher 'new normal' levels of household waste. N/A G ES

NI192 Percentage of kerbside household 
waste sent for reuse, recycling and 
composting 43.76% 41.39% 46.90% 51.00% 47.8%

There are no plans to change the recycling offer. The target is therefore based on 
current outturns. The Environmental Bill outcome will impact on recycling in the future. Quarterly G ES

ES01 No. grass cuts undertaken on the 
highway between April-October N/A 7 8 8 8

Contractual year target of 8 cuts between April – October on highway verges/public 
open space.  Q targets will be Q1 3 , Q2 7, Q3 8 Quarterly G ES

ES02 No. grass cuts undertaken in 
Sheltered Accommodation between April-
October N/A 9 9.6 10 10

Contractual year target of 8 cuts between April – October on sheltered accommodation. 
Q targets will be Q1 4 , Q2 9, Q3 10 Quarterly G ES

ES04 % locations inspected falling into 
categories A/B - Litter (cumulative) N/A 99.15% 100.00% 95.00% 97.00% Increase following previous performance Quarterly C ES

ES06 % locations inspected falling into 
categories A/B - Dog Fouling 
(cumulative) N/A 100.00% 100.00% 95.00% 97.00% Increase following previous performance Quarterly C ES

ES07 % locations inspected falling into 
categories C/D - Overflowing Litter Bins 
(cumulative) N/A 10.53% 0.94% 10.00% 5.00% Decrease following previous performance Quarterly C ES

ES08 % locations inspected falling into 
categories A/B - grounds maintenance 
(includes grass and shrubbery) 
(cumulative) N/A 92.53% 99.80% 90.00% 95% Increase following previous performance Quarterly C ES

ES11 % locations inspected falling into 
categories C/D - Detritus (cumulative) N/A 4.16% 2.35% 7.00% 5% Decrease following previous performance Quarterly C ES

CIT01 % feel West Lancs is safe & 
secure to live N/A 68% N/A Data only Data only

Biennial Citizen & Stakeholder Survey was not carried out in 21/22 due to the priority 
work of the Customer Engagement Team being support to the  VCFSE sector to help 
our communities recover from the impact of the pandemic. The survey is rescheduled 
for 2022/23.  Bi-ennial C CCS

CIT02 % satisfied with cleanliness of 
streets N/A 52% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial C CCS

CIT03 % satisfied with how WLBC runs 
things N/A 51% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial E CCS

CIT06 % satisfied with sports/leisure 
facilities N/A 27% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial H CCS

CIT07 % satisfied with parks and open 
spaces N/A 49.00% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial G CCS

CIT09 % residents who feel safe in local 
area after dark N/A 60% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial C CCS

Corporate 
Priority

Service 
Lead

Notes
Reporting 
frequency 

Performance Indicator
Annual target 

2021/22

Proposed 
Annual target 

2022/23

Results 2018/19‐2020/21 Targets 2021‐23

Appendix A page 4

P
age 1614



2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Value Value Value

CIT10 % residents who feel safe in local 
area during the day N/A 86% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial C CCS

CIT16 % of residents feel that they 
belong to their local area N/A 65% N/A Data only Data only As above Bi-ennial E CCS

WL140 % of staff who understand how 
their role contributes to the vision and 
priorities N/A N/A 80% Data only Data only Outturn from the Our People staff survey. Annual H CCS

WL141 % staff who feel the Council is a 
good organisation to work for 78% N/A 79% Data only Data only Outturn from the Our People staff survey. Annual H CCS

Corporate Priorities: B - Support businesses to adapt & prosper ; C - A clean, safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West Lancs ; S - To be a financially sustainable Council by 2023; 
H -Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient ; G - Become a Greener West Lancashire ;  E - Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities

Service Areas: ES - Environmental Services ; CCS - Corporate & Customer Services ; GDS - Growth & Development Services ; LWS - Leisure & Wellbeing Service ; FPCP - Finance, Procurement and Commercial Property Services ; 

HRS - Housing & Regulatory Services

N/ A - not developed/recorded at this time

Targets 2021‐23Results 2018/19‐2020/21

Corporate 
Priority

Service 
Lead

Performance Indicator
Annual target 

2021/22

Proposed 
Annual target 

2022/23

Notes
Reporting 
frequency 

Appendix A page 5

P
age 1615





 

APPENDIX B : Council Vision and Priorities 
 

Our Vision 

West Lancashire together; the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest 

Our priorities are: 
Create empowered, engaged and inclusive communities  

 We want: 

 Healthy resilient and engaged communities that work together to improve the places they live and work 

 Everyone to have the same opportunities 

 Thriving voluntary and community groups that support innovation and collaboration  

 To work with partners for the good of local people 

 Our citizens to access the benefits of being digitally engaged 

 Councillors that are active and knowledgeable and support change at a local level 

 To improve customer satisfaction 

 We will: 

 

Work with partners to develop a meaningful offer to support citizens to become digitally included 
 
Adopt a best practice model of consultation 
 
Listen & provide feedback for how views improve services  
 
Engage with communities for key decisions 
 
Use Community Networks to gain views from hard to reach groups  
 
Create innovative ways to listen to different community views 
 
Use Councillors' existing reach and influence to provide community feedback to shape decision making 
 
Develop (place based) neighbourhood plans with key partnerships committed to meeting the needs of our communities 
 
Build on and develop strengths within local communities 

 

 

 Support businesses to adapt and prosper  

 We want: 

 West Lancashire to be the place of choice to locate your business 

 Our 3 towns to be thriving hubs for their communities 

 To support our businesses to succeed and grow 

 A strong rural business economy 

 A vibrant and modern Ormskirk market that attracts visitors to the town centre 

  

Page 1617



We will: 

Develop a strong web presence which positively promotes West Lancashire 

Promote West Lancashire as a place to invest through the Skelmersdale Place Board & Ambassadors 
 
Support the recovery and growth of existing and new businesses 
 
Signpost/support businesses to innovate/diversify 
 
Develop the market offer and reinvigorate Ormskirk's Eastern gateway 
 
Lead the regeneration of Skelmersdale Town Centre 
 
Create enlivened town centres offering diverse leisure opportunities and night time economy 
 
Adopt an inclusive procurement approach which supports local businesses to tender for opportunities 

 

Become a Greener West Lancashire 

We want: 

 To become a Carbon Neutral Council by 2030 

 Local business and citizens to embrace the green agenda 

 Council housing stock to meet high standards of efficiency - insulation, design, technology 

 To minimise waste disposal and improve recycling services to meet national targets 

o To embed green infrastructure into our thinking and planning for West Lancashire’s future 

development and regeneration 

 To safeguard the natural landscape and maintain our green environment 

 We will: 

Optimise the Council fleet; increase route efficiency and maximise low emissions – COMPLETE 

Be a role model and lead good practice; develop a Climate Change Strategy and action plan 
 
Encourage local businesses and service providers to set their own targets for becoming carbon neutral and 
promote their achievements 
 
Commit to maximising Council energy requirements from renewable sources 
 
Ensure all council buildings are operating to highest efficiency standards - insulation, design, and technology  
 
Maximise the use of solar panels on Council owned buildings and housing stock 
 
Commit to maximising Council energy requirements from renewable sources 
 
Optimise the development of solar/wind farm investment 
 
Enhance green spaces promoting diverse leisure uses and explore the option of developing an Eco park 
 
Use green credentials to form part of our procurement selection criteria  
 
Use the supply chain to maximise energy efficiency, design out waste and reduce our carbon footprint 
 
Reduce waste and improve recycling, implement a Waste strategy with a focus on sustainable solutions 
 

Page 1618



Increase the use of environmentally friendly products 
 
Support the development of green transport 
 
Develop a local plan policy encouraging green developments – green space, energy efficiency, sustainable 
supply chains 

 

Be a financially sustainable Council by 2023 

 We want:  

 To be confident, capable and financially sustainable 

 To continue to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of service provision 

 To be able to invest in high priority service areas 

 To maximise available government funding and generate income to reinvest in West Lancashire 

 To provide value for money services 

 We will:   

Optimise inward investment – COMPLETE 

Continue the implementation of the Council's Sustainable Organisation Review – COMPLETE 
 
Continuously develop, find better ways to do things and embrace new technology 
 
Consider the merits of all service options to ensure value for money is achieved 
 
Maximise commercial investment opportunities through a commercial strategy 
 
Maximise the value from existing assets and focus on value for money 
 
Make sure our internal financial and decision-making processes continue to be strong 
 
Review fees and charges across all council services 
 
Maximise the returns from Tawd Valley Development Company to reinvest in West Lancashire 
 
Review existing contract savings and work with suppliers to achieve economies of scale 

 

A clean, safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for 
everyone in West Lancashire 

 We want:  

 To provide a cleaner physical environment to enhance the Borough   

 West Lancashire to be safe for all citizens 

 A Local Plan that supports quality growth and infrastructure in the Borough 

 To provide quality and genuinely affordable homes 

 We will: 

Identify strategic regeneration areas and investment plans – COMPLETE 
 
Continue to drive forward the community safety agenda 

Page 1619



 
Review WLBC/public estate land holdings 
 
Develop homes to rent/buy/for shared ownership through Tawd Valley Development Company 
 
Identify strategic regeneration areas and investment plans  
 
Increase the supply of homes to bring cheaper private rents... 
 
Get the right mix of properties… 
 
Review our Housing Strategy 
 
Lead estate regeneration creating attractive places where people want to live 
 
Deliver high quality street cleansing services based on demand 
 
Invest resources within services to achieve an improvement to the local environmental quality 
 
Develop environment ward reports for members 

  

 Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe and resilient  

 We want:  

 To help businesses in West Lancashire to thrive, grow and connect 

 An engaged and motivated Council workforce 

 To design services that help people stay healthy and independent 

 To invest in sports and leisure services and facilities 

 To protect, invest and continue to develop our green leisure spaces 

We will:  

Deliver our people strategy with Council staff that results in a continuously improving culture 
 
Deliver our financial inclusion strategy and action plan 
 
Deliver our food poverty strategy and action plan 
 
Deliver our fuel poverty strategy and action plan  
 
Deliver our health and wellbeing strategy embedding school initiatives 
 
Work with partners to focus on prevention and reducing health inequalities 
 
Develop a quality range of health, wellbeing and leisure facilities and services  
 
Bring in additional money/services to support our most deprived areas 

  

Everyone to be proud of their Council 

 

Page 1620



 

 
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:  
24 February 2022 
CABINET: 8 March 2022 
 

 
Report of: Corporate Director of Transformation & Resources  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Y Gagen                
 
Contact for further information: Name Sharon Lewis (Extn. 5027)  
    (E-mail: sharon.lewis@westlancs.gov.uk)  
 

 
SUBJECT:  EQUALITY, DIVERSITY & INCLUSION STRATEGY AND EQUALITY 
OBJECTIVES 2022-2026 
 

 

 
Wards affected: Borough wide 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To present the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy and the Equality 

Objectives for the period 2022 to 2026. 
 
2.0a RECOMMENDATIONS TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 
2.1a That the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy for the Council and the Equality 

Objectives 2022-2026 be considered and agreed comments before forwarded to 
Cabinet for consideration. 

 
2.0b    RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET 
 
2.1b   That, having regard to the agreed comments of the Executive Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet approve the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 
for the Council and the Equality Objectives 2022-2026. 

 
2.2b That the Equality Objectives form part of the relevant Head of Service, Service 

Action Plan targets. 
 
 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 As a Public Sector organisation the Council has a public sector equality duty 

(PSED) in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. This 

Page 1621

Agenda Item 13

mailto:jacky.denning@westlancs.gov.uk


means the Council must, in the exercise of all our functions, have due regard to 
these three aims: 

 
 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act. 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not. 
 
3.2 The Equality Act 2010 explains that the second aim (advancing equality of 

opportunity) involves, in particular: 
 

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics. Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people. 

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

  
 
4.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 To assist the Council in fulfilling its Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) it is 

required to have Equality Objectives as a public sector organisation.  The last set 
of equality objectives in place for the Council were developed to complement the 
key priorities adopted by the Council in the Council Plan 2015-2018. 

 
4.2 Equality Objectives should be refreshed at least every four years. A refreshed 

 set of  equality objectives, which align to the current Council's vision and 
priorities,  has been developed and incorporated into an Equality, Diversity & 
Inclusion Strategy which summaries the Councils legal responsibilities as set out 
in the  Equality Act 2010 in relation to the protected characteristics of sex, 
gender  reassignment, disability, race, age, marriage and civil 
partnership, religion  or belief, pregnancy and maternity and sexual 
orientation. 

 
4.3 Consequently a new Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy has been developed 

which incorporates a set of revised Equality Objectives and is attached at 
Appendix 1. These refreshed objectives align with some of the key priorities for 
the Council and establish key actions to be taken to achieve those objectives. 
The Heads of Service responsible for each particular objective have been 
identified as the lead officer in each case. 

 
4.4 The Strategy document and Objectives have been brought together following 

consultation with each service within the Council, who have put forward 
representatives to an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Working Group. 

 
4.5 It is proposed that the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy and Objectives are 

approved for adoption by the Council. Once adopted, the Equality Objectives will 
then form part of the Service Action Plans for the relevant Head of Service to be 
monitored and delivered. 

 

Page 1622



4.6 More detailed action plans for achieving the objectives will be developed locally 
to demonstrate how the objectives are being met. 

4.7 Progress against the objectives will be reported to CMT and Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis. 

  
 
5.0      SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The information set out in this report aims to help the Council improve is 
 commitment to fulfilling its Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). There are no 
 significant sustainability impacts associated with this report.  
 
6.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no significant financial or resource implications arising from this report. 
 
7.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 The actions referred to in this report are covered by the scheme of delegation to 

officers and any necessary changes will be made in the relevant risk registers. 
 
8.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1  The proposal will provide measurable equality objectives for the Council to work 

towards achieving. It is anticipated that the successful achievement of these 
objectives will maximise positive and minimise negative impacts in the following 
areas: 
 
• Promote good health and wellbeing and enable people to flourish 
• Empower people in vulnerable, deprived and disadvantaged communities to 

realise their full health potential 
• Encourage and enable all people to take a role in identifying and addressing 

barriers to improve health and wellbeing 
• Increase people's independence throughout their life course and ability to 

lead full active lives 
 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is a direct impact on members of the public, employees, elected members and / 
or stakeholders, therefore an Equality Impact Assessment is required.  A formal equality 
impact assessment is attached as an Appendix to this report, the results of which have 
been taken into account in the Recommendations contained within this report 
 
Exempt Information (To be included only on those reports covered by Schedule 12A 
i.e. Exempt Information) 

Page 1623



 

In all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
under Schedule 12A, outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Appendices 
 

1. Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy and Equality Objectives 2022-2026 and 
appendices 

 
2. Equality Impact Assessment    

 
 

Page 1624



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

EQUALITY, DIVERSITY & INCLUSION STRATEGY 2022 - 2026 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1625



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 

WEST LANCASHIRE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

EQUALITY, DIVERSITY & INCLUSION (EDI) STRATEGY 2022 – 2026 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
West Lancashire is one of 12 districts in Lancashire and has a diverse community. 
In 2020, the district had a population of 114,496 and is made up of several small 
towns, villages, and rural farmland.  
 
We recognise that people who provide and use our services come from varied 
backgrounds and have different experiences.  We value this diversity and the ways 
in which it contributes to the richness of life and the character of the community we 
serve. 

The Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, sets out our 
commitments and objectives for the next 4 years and will build upon what we have 
already accomplished and details our renewed commitment to achieve even more. 
 
This EDI Strategy is aligned to our corporate objectives and ambitions and our vision 
for a fully embedded, diverse, and inclusive culture within West Lancashire. 
 

2. OUR COMMITMENT 
 
Our priority is to develop, commission and deliver services that will help to overcome 
discrimination and disadvantage and remove barriers to access and opportunities in 
the Borough.   

We will use our position and influence to promote equality in all aspects of 
community life and equality and diversity underpins our overall council strategy, our 
policies and procedures and our corporate vision and values.  

We want to create an inclusive workplace that reflects the communities we serve, 
where everyone feels valued and respected because of their differences. 

This strategy applies to all our functions and activities including employment, service 
delivery, budget setting, procurement, and regulatory functions. 

 
3. OUR EQUALITY STATEMENT 

 
 We want every resident and visitor to West Lancashire to be treated fairly and with 
 dignity regardless of age, sex, disability, race, belief, and sexual orientation and with 
 respect to their marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or gender 
 reassignment status. We also acknowledge that in December 2016, the UK 
 Government formally adopted the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance 
 working definition of anti-Semitism. 
 

We will use our position and influence to promote equality in all aspects of 
community life. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1626



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

Everyone that works or has a role at West Lancashire Borough Council will: 
 

 Promote and maintain an atmosphere in which people of all backgrounds feel 
welcome, valued, and respected 

 Understand that equality is not about treating everyone the same but about 
recognising and addressing the specific needs, experience, and background of 
individuals 

 Treat each person as an individual and find out what their needs are rather than 
making assumptions 

 Be prepared to take a flexible approach, ensuring all service users can access our 
services 

 Be aware of the behaviours and barriers that can form discrimination and understand 
the negative impact these can have on service users, visitors, and staff 

 Speak out and report if they witness, become aware of or are a victim of any form of 
discrimination, bullying, unfair treatment or harassment 

 Not victimise, or attempt to victimise, anyone who has made complaints on 
discrimination or provided information on discrimination 

 Be aware of and take account of the Council’s policies 
 
We will regularly monitor and report on the progress we make in addressing 
discrimination and disadvantage in our Borough and this progress will be evaluated 
regularly by our senior managers and elected members. 
 

4. OUR VISION 

'West Lancashire together; the place of choice to live, work, visit and invest'.  

4.1  Our Priorities are: 

 Create empowered, engaged, and inclusive communities  

 Support businesses to adapt and prosper 

 Become a Greener West Lancashire 

 Be a financially sustainable Council by 2023 

 A clean safe environment with affordable homes to buy or rent for everyone in West 

Lancashire 

 Everyone to be healthy, happy, safe, and resilient  

 Everyone to be proud of their Council  

4.2 We have a set of Employee Core behavioural standards for everyone that works or 
has a role at West Lancashire Borough Council  

 Putting Customers first - Understanding customers and putting customers at the 
heart of everything we do  

 We will Do what we say we will do when we say we will do it 

 Being Positive and Adaptable - Responding positively to change, being optimistic in 
finding solutions to challenges and operating with honesty and integrity  

 Taking Responsibility and Achieving Results - The ability and willingness to focus on 
achieving individual and organisational goals  

 Working Together - Working together across teams, services and with partners to 
achieve the objectives of the Council 

 
4.3 Everyone that works or has a role at West Lancashire Borough Council is expected 

to: 

Page 1627



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 Promote and maintain an atmosphere in which people of all backgrounds feel 
welcome, valued, and respected 

 Understand that equality is not about treating everyone the same but about 
recognising and addressing the specific needs, experience, and background of 
individuals 

 Treat each person as an individual and find out what their needs are rather than 
making assumptions 

 Be prepared to take a flexible approach, ensuring all service users can access our 
services 

 Be aware of the behaviours and barriers that can form discrimination and understand 
the negative impact these can have on service users, visitors, and staff 

 Speak out and report if they witness, become aware of or are a victim of any form of 
discrimination, bullying, unfair treatment or harassment 

 Not victimise, or attempt to victimise, anyone who has made complaints on 
discrimination or provided information on discrimination 

 Be aware of and take account of the Council’s policies 
 

5. OUR PRINCIPLES 

5.1 Equality 

Equality is about ensuring a fairer society where individuals or groups of people are 

not treated less favourably, and where everyone can participate and have the same 

opportunity to fulfil their potential. 

5.2 Diversity  

Diversity is about recognising the value of difference.  It means considering and 

appreciating all the unique characteristics that make people who they are. This 

includes, but not limited to, national origins, language, race, colour, disability, 

ethnicity, gender, age, religion, sexual orientation, gender identity, socioeconomic 

status, and family structure. Diversity also encompasses diversity of thought and life 

experiences.  

5.3 Inclusion 

Inclusion is about creating and maintaining a culture where people feel welcomed 
and valued for who they are as an individual or group. 

Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion are tangible and are critical to our success as a 
Council. They are outcomes and they are measurable. The combination of the three 
give greater impact and change that can be established on our EDI journey.  

6. LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT 

As a public body, West Lancashire Borough Council is subject to the requirements of 

the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). 

6.1 The Equality Act  
 

Under the Equality Act 2010 we have certain duties which we must have regard for 
when going about our business to advance equality: 

 

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics 

Page 1628



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 
different from the needs of other people 

 Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low  

 
The 9 Protected characteristics identified within the Act are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation.  Further information on the protected Characteristics 
and the current statistics for West Lancashire are detailed in Appendix 1. 

 
6.2 The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)  
 

States we must, in the exercise of all our functions, have due regard to the following 
three aims: 
 
1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act 
2. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not 
3. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not 
 

Under the duty we must publish: 
 

 Equality objectives at least every 4 years that are specific and measurable 

 Information on an annual basis to showing how our employees and citizens who 
share a protected characteristic are affected by our services and functions 

 
The Council also publishes information regarding the equality profile of its workforce 
annually which can be found on the Intranet via the link : What our duties are - West 
Lancashire Borough Council (westlancs.gov.uk) 
 

7. OTHER INEQUALITIES 
 

Whilst not protected characteristics under the Equality Act, the Council considers the 
following as important issues to address equality, diversity and inclusion and further 
information is available in Appendix 2. 
 

 Modern Day Slavery Act  

 Socio-economic inequality 

 Antisemitism 

 Islamophobia 

 Neurodiversity 

 Human Rights  

 Hate Crimes and Incidents 

 Menopause 

 Carers 
 

8. OUR ACHIEVEMENTS TO DATE 
 
7.1 Groups  

 

Page 1629

https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/what-our-duties-are.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/what-our-duties-are.aspx


West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

We have a Cabinet Member with responsibility for equality within the Transformation and 
Resources portfolio. 
 
We have established our EDI Working Group from representatives from each service area. 
The main duties and responsibilities of the working group members are: 

 To design and develop Equality, Diversity, and Inclusivity Objectives, linked the 
to the Corporate Priorities for the Council 

 To recommend these objectives to CMT and Cabinet for adoption by the 
Council 

 To promote, facilitate and monitor the delivery of the Council’s equality 
objectives and report progress to CMT and Cabinet on a quarterly basis 

  To design and develop a Corporate Equality, Diversity, and Inclusivity Strategy, 
linked the to the Corporate priorities and the EDI objectives for the Council 

 To recommend the Corporate Strategy to CMT and Cabinet for adoption by the 

Council 

 To promote, facilitate and monitor the delivery of the Council’s equality, diversity 

and inclusivity strategy and report progress to CMT and Cabinet on a quarterly 

basis 

 To review local and corporate policies and procedures about Equality, Diversity & 

Inclusivity as necessary 

 To support local services to undertake Equality Impact Assessments for all policies 

changes and decision making   

 To support local services to deliver the actions required as part of the Equality, 

Diversity & Inclusivity Objectives and Strategy. 

 To update local service management teams on corporate equality activities 

 To support the Council in meeting its Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

 To promote awareness of Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity in local service DMT’s 

and Team meetings 

 To encourage the take up and assist in the delivery of training, support and 

guidance on Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity within their own service area 

 To assist and advise on effective communication with staff and stakeholders 

both corporately and locally on progress made on EDI objectives and actions 

 To undertake regular training and receive updates 

 To produce reports to CMT and cabinet on a quarterly basis on the working groups 

activities, including recommending and requesting approval for actions 

 
7.2 Benchmarking  
 

 We are a Disability Confident Employer, level 1 Committed, and we will use this tool 
to make improvements and learn from our submitting partners. 

 
7.3 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)  
 

 We use EIAs as a policy and service improvement tool to help us to identify what we 
need to do to better meet our community's needs and provides us with an opportunity 
to consider how we can further promote equality, diversity, inclusion in everything 
that we do.  
 

 The Council’s approach to Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) has been integrated 
into the organisation’s decision-making process with all proposals requiring one. 

 
 

Page 1630



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 
 
7.4 Learning  
 

 Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion is covered during induction and is embedded in all 
training 

 We have a series of Equality Training modules available online for all staff including a 
guide to reasonable adjustments, unconscious bias, and communication with deaf 
and hearing-impaired customers. The full suite of Equality Training available on our 
E-learning system is detailed in Appendix 2  

 Equality training is an essential mandatory training provision, and an understanding 
of equality and diversity matters is addressed annually during the staff development 
Appraisal process  

 We provide specific Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity online training for Councillors with 
links to support documentation 

 
7.5 Management Information and monitoring 
 

 We have employee data on equality and diversity, that enables us to look at trends 
and report progress 

 We recognise that equality monitoring is central to its principle of operating fairly and 
equitably in terms of both employment practices and service design and delivery. We 
need information about the characteristics of our community, staff, and service users, 
if we are to understand people’s needs and to monitor whether we are meeting them  

 Quarterly reports will be considered by CMT and Cabinet that show where we are in 
relation to progress against our equality objectives 

 
9. OBJECTIVES & HOW WE WILL ACHIEVE THESE 

 

The following outlines our key EDI objectives that are aligned to our Corporate 
Priorities.  A separate EDI action plan will be developed to outline the specific 
actions, who is responsible for each activity, the deadline for completion and the 
measurement of success. See Appendix 3 for Equality Objectives. 
 
The Equality Objectives in summary are: 
 

 To support the delivery of an improved leisure facilities, offer within the 
Borough, in collaboration with partner organisations, that is open and 
accessible to all. 

 To encourage all citizens within the Borough, to live active and healthy 
lifestyles, that improves the life chances of residents and have a positive 
impact on West Lancashire by promoting Health and Wellbeing in the 
community. 

 To support the continued development of the digital inclusion, offer to improve 
access to the Council's services across all sectors of the borough's residents, 
to improve the overall wellbeing of citizens of the Council 

 To support the continued development of Service particularly with the 
Community Connector team, to improve the health and wellbeing of citizens 
of the Council 

 To encourage a diverse range of applicants for recruitment into our workforce, 
that reflects the population of West Lancashire 

 
 

Page 1631



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 

10. HOW WILL WE MEASURE SUCCESS? 

Data  

 We will use our employee diversity data to measure our progress on increased 
recruitment, retention, and staff development of those from underrepresented groups  

 We will work together with Services to monitor and improve the use of equality data 
already collected and encourage the increase in obtaining quality data that can help 
with better decision making  

 We will compare our data to external sources to evidence how reflective we are of 
the communities we serve  

Feedback  

 Our employee surveys will include EDI indicators which will give a baseline 
measurement and better understanding of employee experiences; allowing us to 
identify if we are making progress  

 Our customer surveys will include EDI indicators which will give a baseline 
measurement and better understanding of their experiences; allowing us to find out if 
people feel that we are making progress 
 

External Standards  

 We will build on our Disability Confident Employer status from level 1 to level 2  
 
 

11. WHERE ARE WE NOW? 
 

We recognise that we are on a journey, and we have established a 4-step evaluation 
process to assess how successful we are with our EDI implementation:  

 
11.1 Level 1 

As required by the Equalities Act 2010.  Reporting of statistics and Equality 
documentation and policies and procedures publicly available. 
 
Achieved 
 

11.2 Level 2 - Awareness and understanding  
Leadership and management recognise and are committed to the benefits of EDI to 
our overall success.  Data readily available and Equality Impact Assessments 
undertaken. 
 
Achieved 

 
11.3 Level 3 Integrated EDI  

Implementation of EDI strategies and actions across all activities to promote and 
support positive and inclusive behaviours in the delivery of functions and services  
 
Working towards  
 
 
 

Page 1632



West Lancashire Borough Council 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy 2022-2026 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 
11.4 Level 4 Sustained EDI 

EDI forming part of our overall Council strategy and will impact on our success, with 
role models being visible at all levels of the organisation.   
 
Ambition to achieve. 
 

12. LINKS TO OTHER DOCUMENTS 
This strategy supports and influences other key documents such as the Equality 

pages on the external website, Equality in employment statement, People Strategy, 

Access to information, Access to translation services and on the internal intranet 

such as Dignity at work policy, HIV and AIDs policy, Equality Impact Assessment 

Guide, Working Practices on religion and belief in the workplace, gender identity and 

gender reassignment,  People Strategy, Access to information, Access to translation 

services and employee behavioural standards.  Further details and links are listed in 

Appendix 4. 

 

13.      EVALUATION & REPORTING 

We will monitor and report on the progress we make in addressing discrimination and 
disadvantage in West Lancashire in relation to the equality objectives and this 
progress will be evaluated regularly by our senior managers and Elected Members.  
These quarterly updates will include equality data, as well as providing a general 
account of our progress in relation to our objectives.  

This is a working document that will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis to 
make sure it meets the needs of our customers, colleagues, and partners. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 1633





 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 
THE PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS AND WEST LANCASHIRE STATISTICS 
 
Age 
 
People of all ages are protected.  Older people, particularly in rural areas, can face social 
isolation and can feel cut off from the wider community. Young people can often feel socially 
excluded and marginalised within their communities. We try to engage with people of all 
ages to empower them to participate in their local communities.  
 
In 2020, the age profile of the Borough compared to the Northwest and English Authorities 
was: 

Age Percentage of 
the population 

North West  UK authorities 

Under 18 19.4% 21.3% 21.4% 

18 to 64 58.3% 59.9% 60.1% 

65+ 22.3% 18.8% 18.5% 

 

The borough is home to Edge Hill University which has more than 13,000 students most of 
whom live in the area.  West Lancashire has a generally ageing population and 2.8% are 
aged over 80 and has on average more of the population of pensionable age than for the 
Northwest or England Authorities. 

Disability 
 
A person is disabled if they have a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial 
and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day to day activities, when 
carrying out our functions, we will try to: 
 

 promote positive attitudes towards people with disabilities 

 encourage participation by people with disabilities in public life 

 promote equality of opportunity between people with or without disabilities 

 eliminate disability-related harassment 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination; and 

 take steps to meet the needs of people with disabilities, even if this requires treatment 
that is more favourable 

 
The 2011 Census showed that more than 20% of West Lancashire residents consider that 
their day-to-day activities are limited to some extent by a long-term health problem or 
disability, which is significantly higher than the national average.  
 
Almost 12,000 residents have a hearing impairment and just short of 2,000 adults have a 
visual impairment. More than 2,000 resident adults have a learning disability. 12% of the 
population (12,682) are found to have a common mental health disorder including 
depression and anxiety. 
 

Page 1635



 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

 

Gender reassignment  
 
Gender Reassignment includes anyone who is proposing to undergo, is undergoing or 
completed a process (or part of process) to reassign their sex. The Equality and Human 
Rights Commission notes that the preferred umbrella term is “trans” which encompasses 
different forms of gender identity, such as people who identify as non-binary.  We 
understand and respect that there can be differences between assigned sex and gender 
identity and expression, and we value all our staff and customers, including individuals who 
identify outside of the gender binary.  
 
At the present time we do not have any data for the population that are transgender but, 
based on a national estimate of 20 per 100,000 head of population, we might expect to have 
around 20 residents who had a different gender at birth.  We hope that when future Census 
data is available this will inform our practices and decision making. 
 
We do have a working practice statement on Gender Identity and Gender Reassignment 
available on out intranet.  
 
Marriage and civil partnership 
 
People who are married or in civil partnerships are protected from discrimination. However, 
single people are not protected. 
 
Within West Lancashire 46.6% of people are married (Census 2011), 34.6% single, 0.2% 
same sex civil partnership, 2.7% separated, 9% divorced and 6.9% widowed. 
 
Pregnancy and maternity 
 
There are specific provisions of the Equality Act relating to employment rights for women 
who are pregnant or have recently given birth.  
 
Pregnancy and maternity-related discrimination can also occur outside of the workplace if a 
woman is treated unfavourably because of her pregnancy or because she has given birth 
(within the past 26 weeks) and because she is breastfeeding. 
 
Data on the numbers are not available to us but, we report annually on the staff numbers 
relating to this characteristic. 
 
Race  

 

In the Equality Act, race can mean someone’s colour, or their nationality (including 

citizenship). It can also mean their ethnic or national origins, which may not be the same as 

their current nationality. For example, a person may have Chinese national origins and be 

living in Britain with a British passport. Race also covers ethnic and racial groups. This 

means a group of people who all share the same protected characteristic of ethnicity or race. 

 
Public authorities must promote race equality and ensure that employment and services 
(including services provided through other organisations on their behalf) are fair and 
accessible for everyone. 
 
Both institutional and individual racism “can be seen or detected in processes, attitudes and 

Page 1636



 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

behaviour which amounts to discrimination through unwitting prejudice, ignorance, 
thoughtlessness, and racist stereotyping which disadvantages ethnic minority people.” We 
recognise that institutional racism can exist, and that no organisation is immune. 
 
In the 2011 census, the following were the recorded backgrounds of the population, and 
these are compared to the averages in the North West Region and English Authorities: 
 

Race Percentage of 
the population 

North West  UK Authorities 

White 98.1% 90.2% 85.4% 

Asian/Asian 
British 

0.8% 6.2% 7.8% 

Black/Black 
Asian 

0.2% 1.4% 3.5% 

Mixed Race 0.8% 1.6% 2.3% 

Other 0.1% 0.6% 1% 

 
 
Religion or belief 
 
This characteristic covers any religion or any religious or philosophical belief, including a lack 
of religion or belief.  Faith groups have a positive impact on our local communities. They 
bring opportunities to create face-to-face dialogue, which supports a greater understanding 
of shared values, appreciation of distinctiveness and for side-by-side collaborative social 
action. Employees and job seekers are protected if they have a faith or if they have no faith.  
 
The religious make up at the last census was Christian 76.2%, Buddhist 0.1%, Hindu 0.2%, 
Jewish 0.1%, Muslim 0.2%, Sikh 0.1%, Other 0.2%, No religion 17.2% and Religion not 
stated 5.7%. 
 
We have a working practice statement on our intranet, working practice statement 100 
Religion and Belief in the Workplace. 
 
Sex  
 
In the Equality Act, sex can mean either male or female, or a group of people like men or 
boys, or women or girls and you should not be discriminated against because: 

 you are (or are not) a particular sex 

 someone thinks you are the opposite sex (this is known as discrimination by 
perception) 

 you are connected to someone of a particular sex (this is known as discrimination by 
association) 

We report on our gender pay gap for our employees annually in line with legal requirements. 
We will take any actions we decide are appropriate should the pay gap information highlights 
any concerns. 
 

Page 1637



 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

The gender of the borough is relatively balanced overall with 52% of the population 
identifying as female.  

 
Sexual orientation 
 
The Equality Act 2010 says you must not be discriminated against because: 

You are heterosexual, gay, lesbian, or bisexual 

 someone thinks you have a particular sexual orientation (this is known as 
discrimination by perception) 

 you are connected to someone who has a particular sexual orientation (this is known 
as discrimination by association) 

In the Equality Act, sexual orientation includes how you choose to express your sexual 
orientation, such as through your appearance or the places you visit.  

Data on the sexual orientation of the residents of West Lancashire is not available. 
Estimates at a national level vary from 1.5% to 5% which would mean between 1,700 and 
5,600 residents of our borough are lesbian, gay, or bisexual. 

Data Sources:  

Office for National Statistics - Census 2011  

Office for National Statistics - Mid-Year Population Estimates:  

Components of Change Office for National Statistics - Mid-year estimate 

Page 1638



 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

Appendix 2 
 
OTHER INEQUALITIES 
 
Whilst not protected characteristics under the Equality Act, the Council considers the 
following as important issues to address equality and diversity. 
 
Modern Day Slavery Act 2015 
 
Legislation requires us to prepare a slavery and human trafficking statement each financial 
year and to publish on our website and to tackle slavery wherever we find it. We recognise 
the responsibility to understand any potential modern slavery risks related to our services, 
and to explore what steps we can take to ensure there is no slavery or human trafficking in 
our business or supply chains. 
 
Socio-economic inequality 
 
By socio-economic disadvantage we mean the state of being disadvantaged in life. This 
applies in terms of getting on, getting educated, getting a job. It is influenced by one or more 
of a range of external factors. Poverty is one such factor, but it can also be about the 
complex interplay of factors such as health, housing, education, and family background, and 
the resulting lack of ambitions and expectations, that so often combine to keep people in 
poverty, and limit their chances of upward social mobility. 
 
Antisemitism 
 
The Council has adopted the International Holocaust Memorial Alliance (IHRA) definition of 
antisemitism and its examples1. The definition states: “Antisemitism is a certain perception 
of Jews, which may be expressed as hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical 
manifestations of antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or 
their property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities”. 
 
Islamophobia 
 
Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of 
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness. 
 
Neurodiversity 
 
Being neurodivergent means that an individual may think and learn in a different way to 
others.  Neurodiversity has a wide spectrum that covers a range of hidden neurological 
conditions, such as but not limited to Autism Spectrum, Dyslexia, Dyspraxia, Tourette’s, and 
social anxiety. 
 
It is estimated that around 1 in 7 people (more than 15% of people in the UK) have 
neurodevelopmental differences.  This means that many organisations and businesses 
already have a neurodiverse workforce. We will assist neurodivergent people within the 
workplace and in the community to create an inclusive and neurodivergent friendly 
community. 
 
 
Human Rights  
 
Human Rights are about our basic needs as human beings - the core rights we are all 
entitled to so that we can develop our potential and live our lives with fairness dignity and 

Page 1639



 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 

respect. The Council has legal duties as a public authority to act compatibly with UK law in 
the Human Rights Act, along with the related duties in relation to equality and anti-
discrimination laws. 
 
 
Hate Crimes and Incidents 
 
A hate incident is any incident which the victim, or anyone else, thinks is based on 
someone’s prejudice towards them because of their race or perceived race; religion or 
perceived religion; sexual orientation or perceived sexual orientation; disability or perceived 
disability; or motivated by hostility or prejudice against a person who is transgender or 
perceived to be transgender. Hate incidents cause alarm, distress, or harassment. Not all 
hate incidents will amount to criminal offences, but those that do become hate crimes.  The 
Council has a Hate Crime and Incident Procedure (see link to the Intranet - 
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/more/community-safety/hate-crime.aspx), which  
 outlines how the Council will respond to report of hate crimes or incidents.  
 
Menopause 

There is currently no standalone jurisdiction under which an individual may claim 

discrimination or other detriment on the grounds of the menopause.  ACAS however state 

that Menopause discrimination is predominantly covered under three protected 

characteristics of age, disability, and sex. The Council a has a Menopause Policy for its staff.  

Carers 

Carers UK defines carers as people who provide unpaid care by looking after someone who 

is older, disabled or seriously ill.  A carer is anyone, including children and adults who looks 

after a family member, partner or friend who needs help because of their illness, frailty, 

disability, a mental health problem or an addiction and cannot cope without their support. 

There is no standalone jurisdiction under which an individual may claim discrimination or 

other detriment on the grounds of being a Carer.  Any discrimination would be covered under 

the protected characteristics and by association. 

Page 1640

https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/more/community-safety/hate-crime.aspx


 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 
 

Appendix 3 - Equality Objectives 2022/26 

Council Priority and Key activity Equality Objective What we will do  Lead Officer 

Everyone to be heathy Happy 

safe and resilient  

We will: 

Develop a quality range of health, 

wellbeing and leisure facilities and 

services 

 

 

To support the delivery of an 

improved leisure facilities offer 

within the Borough, in 

collaboration with partner 

organisations, that is open 

and accessible to all, to 

encourage all citizens within 

the Borough, to live active and 

healthy lifestyles, that 

improves the life chances of 

residents and have a positive 

impact on the West 

Lancashire by promoting 

Health and wellbeing in the 

community. 

 Replace leisure facilities in 
Skelmersdale and Ormskirk ensuring 
that are fully accessible to all. 

 Collaborating with a wide range of 
partners around options for 
incorporating health services into the 
facilities will, in the longer term, provide 
a wider range of opportunities for 
further promoting health and wellbeing 
across the whole community. 

 Community consultation on progression 
to all phases of design and 
procurement, ensuring appropriate 
representation of people with protected 
characteristics in any consultation 
processes. 

 Aim to include facilities that can 
encourage all parts of the community to 
engage with the health and wellbeing 
activities offered across the Borough by 
working with the leisure management 
contractor to ensure appropriate 
programme of activities in place. 

 To monitor the use of the facilities by 
people with protected characteristics, 
with a view to evaluate and improve 
access. 

Head of Wellbeing and 

Leisure 

P
age 1641



 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 
 

Create empowered, engaged, 

and inclusive communities 

 

We want: 

Our citizens to access the benefits 
of being digitally engaged 

To support the continued 

development of the digital 

inclusion offer to improve 

access to the Council's 

services across all sectors of 

the borough's residents, to 

improve the overall wellbeing 

of citizens of the Council. 

 Continue to develop services to include 
digital access to meet both efficiency 
and public expectations.  

 To encourage the use of digital 
technology with all members of 
community, but those who are less 
confident in this area and from people 
with protected characteristics. 

 Aim to increase the basic online skills 
necessary for life and work, access to 
the internet and therefore the uptake of 
West Lancashire Borough Council’s 
digital services.  

 Hold local events and initiatives aimed 
at encouraging digital take up across all 
groups with protected characteristics, 
include working with partner agencies 
and attending local events to promote 
digital training opportunities and 
showcase the Council's online services 
which will help promote self-service. 

 Provide assistance to support direct 

uptake of online Universal Credit claims 

with special focus on people with 

protected characteristics. 

 Promote the Council's online services 

across the whole community. 

 To monitor the take up and use of 

Head of Corporate and 

Customer Services 

P
age 1642



 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 
 

digital access by people with protected 

characteristics, with a view to evaluate 

and improve access. 

Everyone to be healthy, happy, 

safe, and resilient 

  

We want: 

 

To design services that help people 

stay healthy and independent 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To support the continued 

development of Service with 

the Community Connector 

team, to improve the health 

and wellbeing of Citizens of 

the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 To encourage a sharing of expertise, 
interest, and skills, from people with 
protected characteristics to help 
determine how best to make consistent 
improvements to the quality of life for 
West Lancashire residents.  

 Deliver internal and external initiatives 
to improve health and wellbeing in the 
Borough and try to improve health 
inequalities.  

 Establish a mechanism through the 
development of an Integrated 
Community Partnership (ICP) to work 
alongside key partners to align health 
and care services in the Borough, with 
a focus on people with protected 
characteristics.  

 Work with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and GP Federation, through the 
ICP, to focus on the needs of our 
community and develop a person-
centered health and social care.  

 To monitor the access of people with 
protected characteristics to health and 
wellbeing initiatives, with a view to 
improving access where applicable. 

Head of Wellbeing and 

Leisure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 1643



 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 
 

 

 

Create empowered, engaged, 

and inclusive communities 

   

We want: 

Everyone to have the same 

opportunities  

 

Everyone to be Healthy, happy, 

safe, and resilient 

 

We want: 

An engaged and motivated Council 

Workforce 

 

 

 

 

To encourage a diverse range 

of applicants for recruitment 

into our workforce, that 

reflects the population of West 

Lancashire   

 Monitor the workforce profiles of the 
Council and publish this information 
annually in line with the PSED 
requirements. 

 Review the current monitoring data 
available and encourage all aspects of 
it to be completed by the workforce to 
remove any gaps in completion. 

 Explore options to encourage a more 
diverse range of applicants for jobs that 
are advertise, through creative and 
appropriate targeting. 

 Review and enhance Equality and 
Diversity Training available for the 
workforce and ensure it is mandatory 
and refreshed regularly 

 Promote the knowledge and awareness 
of the Dignity at Work Policy, to ensure 
any equality concerns are addressed 
appropriately.  

 Annually report on the gender pay gap 
for the Council and take any action 
necessary as a result. 

 Continue to administer and maintain 
ethe integrity of the Job Evaluation 
Schemes used by the Council and 

Head of Corporate and 

Customer Services 

P
age 1644



 
 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: February 2022 
 

conduct period Equal Pay Audits, to 
ensure fairness and equity in grade 
application and distribution across the 
structure. 

 Review equality policies across the 
Council through the Equality, Diversity 
& Inclusivity Working Group to ensure 
they are still fit for purpose.  

 Promote and enhance flexible working 
opportunities for the workforce being 
mindful of any protected characteristics. 

 Work towards level 2 on the Disability 
Confident Employer Scheme  

 

 

P
age 1645





 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: January 2022 

Appendix 4 – Links to other documents 
 
Councils' website 

 Our equality statement: Our equality statement - West Lancashire Borough 

Council (westlancs.gov.uk) 

 What our duties are: What our duties are - West Lancashire Borough Council 

(westlancs.gov.uk) 

 How we are performing: How we are performing - West Lancashire Borough 

Council (westlancs.gov.uk) 

 How to get involved : https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-

council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-to-get-involved.aspx 

 

 Equality in Employment: https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-

the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx 

 

Information for staff can be found on the link : https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-

the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information.aspx 

relating to the following: 

 community engagement protocol 

 list of equality groups (CSV 6kb) 

 Cultural awareness - guidance for WLBC staff 

 Demographic breakdown of West Lancs 

 National data sources 
 

Councils' Intranet  

 Equality In Employment: https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-

the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx 

The following can be found here: http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/rules-and-

regulations/equality.aspx 

 Dignity at work policy (pdf 256kb) 

 HIV and AIDS policy (pdf 99kb) 

 Equality Impact Assessment guidance and form (word 93kb) 

 Working practice statement 10 - religion and belief in the workplace (pdf 355kb) 

 Working practice statement 11 - gender identity and gender reassignment (pdf 

207kb) 

 Our approach to helping customers access our services is set out on the 

website: 

o visit how would you like to access information (wlbc web) 

o How to Access Translation Services (pdf 93.2kb) guidance 

 Equality information about employees  

Page 1647

http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-statement.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-statement.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/our-equality-statement.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/what-our-duties-are.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/what-our-duties-are.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/what-our-duties-are.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-we-are-performing.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-we-are-performing.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-we-are-performing.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-to-get-involved.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-to-get-involved.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/how-to-get-involved.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/79420/wlbc-community-engagement-guidance-for-staff-final-.pdf
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/media/119266/equality-groups-jan-2014.csv
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information/cultural-awareness-guidance-for-wlbc-staff.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information/demographic-breakdown-of-west-lancs.aspx
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/find-more-information/national-data-sources.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx
https://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/equality-and-diversity/equality-in-employment.aspx
http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/rules-and-regulations/equality.aspx
http://intranet.westlancsdc.local/rules-and-regulations/equality.aspx
http://wlintranet/media/28900/dignity-at-work-policy-.pdf
http://wlintranet/media/28903/hiv-and-aids-policy.pdf
http://wlintranet/media/28906/eia-guidance-and-form.docx
http://wlintranet/media/28961/wps-10-religion-and-belief.pdf
http://wlintranet/media/28964/wps-11-gender-identity-and-gender-reassignment.pdf
http://wlintranet/media/28964/wps-11-gender-identity-and-gender-reassignment.pdf
http://www.westlancs.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us/how-would-you-like-to-access-information.aspx
http://wlintranet/media/72115/20170515-language-line-guidance.pdf


 

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 to 2026, Version 3, Dated: January 2022 

 Behavioural standards 

 Internal online Equality training offer: Emerge training modules 
o WLBC – the Uncomfortable Truth 
o WLBC – Unconscious Bias 
o Equality Series - Equality Act 2010 Part 1 and 2 
o Equality Series - Communicating with deaf and hearing-impaired 

customers 
o Equality Series - A guide to reasonable adjustments 
o Equality Series - Learning Disability Awareness 
o Equality Series – Disability Discrimination 
o Equality Series – Equality Impact Assessments 
o Equality & Diversity for Councillors 

 
 

Page 1648



Appendix (2) 

Equality Impact Assessment Form  

Directorate of Transformation and 
Resources 

Service: Human Resources 

Completed by: S Lewis Date: 23 December 2021 

Subject Title: Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy and Equality Objectives 
2022/2026 

1. DESCRIPTION 

Is a policy or strategy being produced or 
revised? 

*delete as appropriate 
Yes 

Is a service being designed, redesigned or 
cutback? 

 
No 

Is a commissioning plan or contract 
specification being developed? 

 
No 

Is a budget being set or funding allocated? No 

Is a programme or project being planned? No 

Are recommendations being presented to 
senior managers and/or Councillors? 

 
Yes 

Does the activity contribute to meeting our 
duties under the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty (eliminating unlawful 
discrimination/harassment, advancing 
equality of opportunity, fostering good 
relations)? 

 
 
Yes 

Details of the matter under consideration:  The Equality, Diversity & Inclusivity Strategy  
details the Council's approach. Equality  
Objectives are required by the Council to  
ensure that they are compliant in relation to 
their Public Sector Equality Duty.  

If you answered Yes to any of the above go straight to Section 3  
If you answered No to all the above, please complete Section 2  

2. RELEVANCE 

Does the work being carried out impact on 
service users, staff or Councillors 
(stakeholders): 

 *delete as appropriate 
Yes  

If yes, provide details of how this impacts on 
service users, staff or Councillors 
(stakeholders): 
If you answered Yes go to Section 3 

The Equality Objectives are linked to the 
way in which the Council works towards its 
business objectives, as detailed in the 
Council Vision and Priorities.  
Consequently, staff and Councillors are 
required to consider the Equality Objectives 
as they deliver services to the citizens of 
the Borough. 

If you answered No to both Sections 1and 2  

Page 1649



provide details of why there is no impact on 
these three groups: 
You do not need to complete the rest of this 
form. 

 
 
 

3. EVIDENCE COLLECTION 

Who does the work being carried out impact on, 
i.e., who is/are the stakeholder(s)? 

The Equality Objectives particularly impacts 
on all the borough's citizens in relation to 
how they engage with our leisure facilities, 
access our services via digital means, 
engage with our Health and Wellbeing 
initiatives or work for us as employees or 
apply for jobs through our recruitment 
processes. 
 
The objectives have an impact on a wide 
variety of individuals, and as such, the 
proposals have an impact on all protected 
characteristics.  

If the work being carried out, relates to a 
universal service, who needs or uses it most? 
(Is there any particular group affected more 
than others)?  

See above 
 
 

Which of the protected characteristics are most 
relevant to the work being carried out? 

 

 
*delete as appropriate 

Age Yes 
Gender Yes 
Disability Yes 
Race and Culture Yes 
Sexual Orientation Yes 
Religion or Belief Yes 
Gender Reassignment Yes 

Marriage and Civil Partnership Yes 
Pregnancy and Maternity Yes 

 
 

4. DATA ANALYSIS 

In relation to the work being carried out, and the 
service/function in question, who is actually or 
currently using the service and why? 

It is considered that this impacts on the 
whole borough's citizens and workforce, 
with no particular protected characteristic 
being more affected than any other.  

What will the impact of the work being carried 
out be on usage/the stakeholders? 

The changes made to the objectives link to 
our priorities.  There will be no adverse 
effect on any particular protected 
characteristic as a consequence of this 
change. 

What are people’s views about the services?  
Are some customers more satisfied than others, 

The Council consults with the local Trade  
Unions on the Councils citizens in regular  

Page 1650



and if so, what are the reasons?  Can these be 
affected by the proposals? 

consultation exercises. 
The objectives link to the Business plan and  
the business plan has been subject to 

citizen  
Consultation. 
 

What sources of data, including consultation 
results, have you used to analyse the impact of 
the work being carried out on 
users/stakeholders with protected 
characteristics? 

Census Data 
Profile information available on the 
Council’s website  
Workforce Profile  
Equality Policies within the Council 
Equal Pay Audit  
Trade Union Consultation 

If any further data/consultation is needed and is 
to be gathered, please specify:  

N/A 
 

5. IMPACT OF DECISIONS 

In what way will the changes impact on people 
with particular protected characteristics (either 
positively or negatively or in terms of 
disproportionate impact)? 
 
 

The decision to revise the Equality  
Objectives will impact positively on the  
stakeholders and not have any adverse  
impact on any particular Protected  
Characteristic. 

6. CONSIDERING THE IMPACT 

If there is a negative impact, what action can be 
taken to mitigate it? (If it is not possible or 
desirable to take actions to reduce the impact, 
explain why this is the case (e.g. legislative or 
financial drivers etc.). 

See above in 5.  

What actions do you plan to take to address 
any other issues above?  

No further actions on equality impact need 
to be taken.  
 

7. MONITORING AND REVIEWING 

When will this assessment be reviewed and 
who will review it? 

The Equality Objectives will be reviewed  
Annually. At that stage, the EIA will also be  
reviewed to ensure there has been no  
change to the assessed impact on any  
protected characteristic group. 

 

Page 1651





 

 
 

 
 

 EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 24th FEBRUARY 2022 

 CABINET 8th MARCH 2022 

 
Report of:  Head of Wellbeing and Leisure  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder: Councillor Yvonne Gagen  
 
Contact for further information:    Simon Kirby (Extn 3456) 
                                                          (simon.kirby@westlancs.gov.uk) 
 
 

 
SUBJECT:  QUEEN'S PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS  
 

Wards affected: Borough wide interest – events in Ormskirk and Beacon Country Park  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To consider proposals for an event in Coronation Park Ormskirk and Beacon on 

2nd June to celebrate Her Majesty's Platinum Jubilee with additional related 
activities Borough wide. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION TO EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE  
 
2.1 That the Committee consider the report and that the agreed comments of the 

Executive Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the Queen's Platinum Jubilee 
Celebrations Report be passed to Cabinet for their consideration.  

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION TO CABINET  
 
3.1 That having regard to the agreed comments of Executive Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee, Cabinet consider the report and advise on any preferences to the 
approach. 

 
3.2 That in order to make all necessary arrangements for the event being held on 2nd 

June 2022 that the sum of up to £15,000 be identified from Reserves and 
balances to meet costs associated with the event. 

 

 
 
4.0 BACKGROUND 
 

Page 1653

Agenda Item 14

mailto:simon.kirby@westlancs.gov.uk


4.1 This year's Accession Day - on 6th February 2022 – marks 70 years since 
The Queen acceded to the throne on the death of her father King George VI. 
Her Majesty has gone on to reign longer than any other British Monarch in 
history. 

 
4.2 To celebrate this unprecedented anniversary, events and initiatives will take 

place throughout the year, culminating in a four day UK bank holiday 
weekend from Thursday 2nd to Sunday 5th June. The bank holiday will 
provide an opportunity for communities and people throughout the United 
Kingdom to come together to celebrate the historic milestone. 

 
4.3 The Council recognises the importance of celebrating the Platinum Jubilee and 

acknowledges there will be expectations from many of our residents to stage 
events within the Borough, and that there is a role for officers in providing a level 
of support for our communities. 

 
5.0 CURRENT POSITION 
 
5.1 A cross Service team of officers has been formed to commence the planning of 

potential events in Coronation Park and the Beacon on Thursday 2nd June 2022, 
the first day of a four day holiday period across the UK. 

 
5.2 Appendix one to this report sets out the initial costs the officer group has 

identified and the group is continuing to refine these estimates as progress with 
event planning is made. 

 
5.3 The detail is very much in the early days of development and there is real 

opportunity for Officers to engage further with our communities to help influence 
the programme and ensure involvement is strong to help provide a real sense of 
ownership from residents and the event is seen as a true 'community event' and 
not a 'Council' organised occasion. 

 
5.4 Interest has already been received from some partner organisations such as the 

Chapel Gallery in Ormskirk who are keen to integrate with the event and offer 
supporting activities such as a tea dance. Activities such as this would assist with 
catering for a wide demographic, provide some wet weather contingency and 
bring attendees into the town centre to support the local economy. 

 
5.5 Sample of activities currently being considered for the event in Coronation Park 

include children's fancy dress competition, climbing wall, live music, community 
stalls, dog display team, local radio and food & beverage. Officers have circulated 
invitations to schools and dance schools for representation and have received 
swift responses confirming a desire to participate. The Beacon events in the 
evening currently include live music and food and beverages with the possibility 
of a large outdoor screen showing relevant footage relating to the Jubilee.  

 
5.6  Officers are mindful of the need to encourage good practices from participants 

and public with regard to sustainability and environmentally friendly practices and 
requirements, and support will be provided wherever possible. 

 
5.7 There will be a strong emphasis on health and wellbeing and early discussions 

with Serco (Leisure Management Contractor) and internally within the Wellbeing 

Page 1654



and Leisure team will ensure that opportunities to promote healthy lifestyles will 
be strongly represented. 

 
5.8 The intention is to provide for activities or at least some form of recognition 

Borough wide and examples of this currently include planting a tree with Jubilee 
recognition plaque in Burscough, Skelmersdale, Ormskirk and Banks. This will 
form part of the Council's approach to delivering on the 'Queen's Green Canopy' 
agenda. The new play area in Skelmersdale is scheduled to be completed by 16th 
March 2022 and presents an opportunity to agree a formal name of this facility 
linked to the Jubilee. It is anticipated there will be Civic and community 
involvement opportunities at all such events. 

 
5.9 The team of officers has considerable event management experience and will 

follow event safety guidance as advised by the Health and Safety Executive as 
well as additional event management measures that are recognised as good 
practice. An event management plan will be produced setting out clear roles and 
responsibilities for all staff and volunteers and covering subjects such as car 
parking, first aid, lost/found children, emergency services, crowd flow and 
management, welfare facilities, site communications, signposting, pre event 
comms, weather contingencies, etc (list not exhaustive and to provide an 
indication of depth of planning). 

 
5.10 A table-top pre event planning exercise will take place, inviting other agencies 

where possible to run through a number of scenarios to further develop the event 
management plan and assist with building confidence of officers with regard to 
making decisions on the day. 

 
6.0 Funding Opportunities 
 
6.1 The National Lottery Community Fund’s Platinum Jubilee Fund will provide grants 

of up to £50,000 to 70 impactful community projects across the UK. In addition, 
grants of up to £10,000 from The National Lottery Awards For All programme will 
be available for community-led events throughout 2022. 

 
6.2 Arts Council England’s Let’s Create Jubilee Fund will support voluntary and 

community organisations in England to develop creative and cultural activities as 
part of Platinum Jubilee celebrations with grants of up to £10,000. 

 
6.3 The Arts Council has also announced £175,000 to help libraries celebrate. The 

funding will be distributed by Libraries Connected, and will provide £1,000 for 
each library service. 

 
6.4 Throughout the year community organisations will also be able to apply for grants 

from the Arts Council’s National Lottery Project Grants programme, which has 
been refreshed with new guidance to better support a broader range of ambitious 
cultural projects. 

 
6.5 Officers will be exploring options available for funding to support events and 

reduce any associated costs to the Council. Similarly, officers will work with 
communities to help identify appropriate funding opportunities and support in the 
bid process wherever possible. 

 
7.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

Page 1655

https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/funding/programmes/the-platinum-jubilee-fund
https://www.tnlcommunityfund.org.uk/funding/programmes/national-lottery-awards-for-all-england
https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/our-open-funds/let%E2%80%99s-create-jubilee-fund
https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/our-open-funds/let%E2%80%99s-create-jubilee-fund
https://www.librariesconnected.org.uk/
https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/projectgrants


 
7.1 The events will support developing relations with communities, voluntary and 

business sectors and help deliver a sense of pride in place across the Borough. 
 
8.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There will be some financial and resource implications.  Appendix one sets out 

within the estimated summary costs. Initial considerations by officers is that £15k 
of funding is required to deliver safe and enjoyable events including further 
related activities throughout the Borough. This figure may reduce depending on 
success of funding bids and any further efficiencies officers can implement in the 
planning stages. 

 
9.0 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
9.1 The events will each have an event safety management plan that will be 

submitted and discussed at the Event Safety Advisory Group meeting prior to the 
event date. 

 
10.0 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1  The events will contribute to the wellbeing of residents by providing opportunities 

for people to enjoy themselves at a well organised event with a diverse range of 
activities for people of all abilities. 

 

 
Background Documents 
 
There are no background documents (as defined in Section 100D(5) of the Local 
Government Act 1972) to this Report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 
There is no evidence from an initial assessment of an adverse impact on equality in 
relation to the equality target groups. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix One – summary of estimated costs. 

Page 1656



Queens Platinum Jubiliee Celebrations 

Event Summary and Costings 

Family Festival @ Coronation Park. 

Thursday 2nd June 12pm-4pm 

An afternoon of live music and fun for all the family. There will be a plethora of community displays 

with art competitions involving local schools and youth groups. 

 

Outdoor Dining @ Beacon Country Park 

Thursday 2nd June 7pm-10pm 

A relaxing evening of outdoor dining and live music with a big screen showing highlights of Queen 

Elizabeths reign. Including a Beacon lighting ceremony at 9pm. 

 

Additional celebrations. 

- Memorial trees will be planted in different communities around the Borough will 

commemorative plaques celebrating her majesties years of service. 

- The new play facilities at Tawd Valley Park will be named in the Queens honour. 

 

Event Costings 

Category Income Expediture    

Coronation Park 
  

Entertainment and Displays        
(live music and family activities) 

£450.00 £4,100.00 

Food and Services £1,000.00 £3,100.00 

Small stalls/traders £500.00 £0.00    

Beacon Country Park 
  

Entertainment and Displays             
(live music and cinema screen) 

£0.00 £1,660.00 

Food and Services £500.00 £2,000.00 

Small stalls/traders £500.00 £0.00    

Additional Costs 
  

Memorial Trees £0.00 £1,350.00 

Publicity and Promotion £0.00 £2,840.00    

Contingency   £2,950  

   

Total projected costs £2,950.00 £18,000 

 

Page 1657




	Agenda
	4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	6 MINUTES
	7 PUBLIC SPEAKING
	PUBLIC SPEAKING FORM LATEST

	8 RELEVANT MINUTES OF CABINET
	9 Local Development Scheme Update
	LDS 2022-03_Final (Appendix A to 2022-03 Cabinet report)

	10 Review of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule
	11 Risk Management Framework & Key Risk Register
	Appendix A - Risk Management Annual Report 2021
	Appendix B - Risk Management Policy & Strategy 2022
	Appendix C -  Risk Management Tool Kit 2022
	Appendix D -  Key Risk Report

	12 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORTING 2022/23
	Cplan_Perf_AppendixA_draftSuite_22-23
	CPlan_Perf_AppendixB_Council Plan

	13 Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy and Equality Objectives 2022-2026
	EDI Strategy 2022 to 2026  Version3
	EDI Strategy Appendix 1 Version 3
	EDI Strategy Appendix 2 Version 3
	EDI Strategy Appendix 3 Version 3
	EDI Strategy Appendix 4 Version 3
	EIA 2022 Version 3

	14 QUEEN'S PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS
	Appendix 1 - Queens Platinum Jublilee Summary and Costings




